Amedisys Recognizes Top Employees of the Year

From Left to Right: Top Row: Karen Temples, Eric Lim, Leslie Odinet;
Row Two: Michael Allison, Jewell McSpadden,Tad Gaspard;
Row Three: Emma Brogan, Margaret Caldera, Elizabeth Smith
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Revenue Up 68% * EPS Up 25% * Amedisys Doubles Number of Locations
Forbes Magazine Ranks Amedisys as #12 in Top 200 Growth Companies
Amedisys Leads in Disease Management Outcomes



Financiar HicHLIGHTS—Amedisys 2005

YEaR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005 2004 2003

Net Service Revenue $ 381,558 $ 227,089 $142,473
Operating Income $ 50,102 $ 33,378 $ 14,338
Net Income $ 30,102 $ 20,504 $ 8,407
Net Income per Diluted Common Share $ 188 $ 151 $ 083
Weighted Average Common Shares Outstanding — Diluted 15,970 13,543 10,074
Stockholders’ Equity $192,599 $ 148,473 $ 51,399

DEeAR FELLOW SHAREHOLDERS:

As Chief Executive Officer, I am pleased to
share the Amedisys vision and spirit with our
investors, and report the progress Amedisys
has made over the past year in achieving the
goals we set for ourselves several years ago.

As a reminder, our key objectives are
as follows:
* To grow into the leading Medicare home
nursing company
+ Utilize technology in order to achieve
operational efficiencies
+ Emphasize outcome driven patient care
* Build disease management capabilities

I am pleased to report that our extraordinary
growth rate continued throughout 2005. Our
revenues were at $382 million, 68 percent higher
than the previous year. Our net income of $30
million was up 47 percent versus 2004, and
earnings per diluted share grew by 25 percent
OVer 2004.

As has been the case historically, our
substantial growth was largely driven by our
internal growth in Medicare admissions, which
exceeded 18 percent. It is important to note
that, based on a market growing at least seven
to nine percent annually, we are confident in
our long-term ability to deliver at least 15
percent growth in Medicare admissions. We
expect that the 26 start-up locations that
Amedisys opened in 2005 to contribute to our
internal growth rate in 2006 and beyond. For
20006, the Company anticipates opening
approximately 45 new offices, helping to
further fuel our long-term growth objectives.

While we continue to adhere to our internal
growth strategy, we have, and will continue to
execute on external growth opportunities that
exist in our industry. In 2005, we completed
eight acquisitions, and nearly doubled our total
number of physical locations, which increased
from 112 offices in December 31, 2004 to a total
of 221 at the end of 2005. As of April 7, 2006,
through acquisitions and start-ups, Amedisys’
total number of locations stands at 244.

The challenge that lies ahead in 2006 is the task
of making the locations acquired in 2005 fully
operational — ensuring they perform to the level
of our existing locations. We believe this process
will take until mid-2006.

Like other businesses in the southern United
States, the Company was also directly impacted
by Hurricane Katrina, which severely affected
many of our staff in South Louisiana and
Mississippi. There were 19 Amedisys locations
initially impacted by Hurricane Katrina. Six of
the 19 locations experienced a significant impact.
However, only one agency located in Chalmette,
Louisiana, has yet to re-open. Our hearts go out
to those who lost much, as well as in later
hurricanes, Rita and Wilma. I am proud of the
way our Company and employees responded,
with an enormous effort to assist their fellow
employees and our patients who were suffering
at that time.

Our business fundamentals continue to be
very strong, and we are confident that our
shareholders will reap the expected benefits
from the 2005 acquisitions and start-ups as
we move forward in 2006.

In the past, we have discussed the benefits

of disease management, and it is becoming
increasingly apparent that Medicare is
continuing its gradual move in this direction.
Amedisys is, and will continue to respond in a
similar manner — building our capabilities for
care coordination and improved outcomes by
providing aftercare follow-up as a component
of our satisfaction survey process. Our call
center, “Encore,” has begun operation in Baton
Rouge, and during the course of 2006, will
expand its coverage to all of our agencies.

The call center’s mission is to monitor patients
after discharge to ensure that care needs are
being met, and make certain that patients and
their families are satisfied with the care
provided by Amedisys.

As we continue to focus on disease
management, I would like to take a moment

(Amounts in thousands, except Per Share Data)

to review with you the progress we have made
on outcomes. As you know, we are a home

health care organization with a distinct
southeastern footprint. The demographics of

the patient population serviced in our area is
more chronic in nature and, due to the expansive
characteristics of our disease management
platform, we actually service a higher acuity
patient population within the region. Despite
this fact, if you compare our outcomes to

all other providers in the 16 states we service,
Amedisys leads in each of the 10 publicly
reported categories, and we take great pride in
this achievement. Our hospitalization rate,
emergent care rate, and all other outcomes
exceed all providers in our footprint in the aggregate.

Specific to national outcome scores, Amedisys
meets or exceeds in six of the 10 publicly reported
categories. We will continue to hone, develop,
and refine our clinical disease management
systems. Our clinical goal is to exceed all
national standards in the southeastern region,
as well as the United States, as the industry
migrates to a future pay for performance (P4P)
model. We are confident that this is achievable.

As I have said before, the enthusiasm and
commitment of our employees is by far our
greatest strategic strength, ensuring a
competitive advantage in the markets we
serve. With that said, I would like to extend
my heartfelt thanks to all of our Amedisys
staff whose dedicated efforts have helped us
every day to carry out our mission. In
addition, I am appreciative for the continued
support displayed by our shareholders and
look forward to apprising you of our
continued successes in the year ahead.

Sincerely,

William F. Borne
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
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PART I

Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This report contains forward-looking statements, which are statements about future business strategy,
operations and capabilities, financial projections, plans and objectives of management, expected actions of third
parties and other matters. Forward-looking statements often include words like “believes”, “belief”, “expects”,
“plans”, “anticipates”, “intends”, “projects”, “estimates”, “may”, “might”, “would” or similar words. Forward-
looking statements speak only as of the date of this report. They involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties
and other factors that may cause actual results to be materially different. In addition to the risk factors described
elsewhere, specific factors that might cause such a difference include, but are not limited to: general economic
and business conditions, changes in or failure to comply with existing regulations or the inability to comply with
new government regulations on a timely basis, changes in Medicare and other medical reimbursement levels,
ability to meet debt service requirements, adverse changes in federal and state laws relating to the health care
industry, demographic changes, availability and terms of capital, ability to attract and retain qualified personnel,
successful integration of acquisitions, ongoing development and success of new start-ups, changes in estimates
and judgments associated with critical accounting policies and business disruption due to natural disasters or acts
of terrorism.

You should not rely too heavily on any forward-looking statement. We cannot assure you that our forward-
looking statements will prove to be correct. We have no obligation to update or revise publicly any forward-
looking statement based on new information, future events or otherwise. For a discussion of some of the factors
discussed above as well as additional factors, see “RISK FACTORS” contained in this document.

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
General

Amedisys, Inc. (“Amedisys”, “We”, “Our”, or “the Company”), a Delaware corporation, is a multi-state
provider of home health care and hospice services. As of December 31, 2005, we operated 208 Medicare-
certified home health agencies and 13 Medicare-certified hospice agencies in 16 states primarily located in the
southern and southeastern United States.

We are highly dependent on Medicare reimbursement and a material portion of our business is subject to the
government regulation of Medicare.

Description of the Business
Home Health Care Agencies

Our home health care agencies provide a variety of skilled nursing care, as well as other services, in the
home of the patient. Our home health staff provides and helps coordinate the care and/or therapy as ordered by a
physician. Along with the physician, our home health staff creates a plan of care, which is a written detailed plan
of services for the care of the patient. The goal of our home health care employees is to provide treatment for an
injury or an illness in order to assist in the patient’s recovery to regain independence and to become as self-
sufficient as possible. In other instances, such as care for chronically ill or disabled patients, our long-term goal is
to maintain the highest level of ability or health and to assist the patient learning to live with an illness or
disability.

Through our home health agencies, we provide a wide variety of health care services including:

e Registered nurses that provide specialty services such as skilled monitoring, assessments and patient
education.



e Licensed practical (vocational) nurses who perform technical procedures, administer medications and
change surgical and medical dressings.

e Physical and occupational therapists who work to strengthen muscles, restore range of motion and help
patients perform the activities of daily living.

e Speech pathologists/therapists who work to restore communication and oral skills.
e Social workers who help families address the problems associated with acute and chronic illnesses.

e Home health aides who perform personal care such as bathing or assistance in walking.

Hospice Services

Hospice, which became a covered benefit under the Medicare program in 1983, is a special way of caring
for people who are terminally ill and for their families. This care includes physical care and counseling. It is for
all age groups, including children, adults, and the elderly during their final stages of life. The goal of hospice is to
care for the patients and their families, not to cure their illnesses.

At the center of hospice care is an interdisciplinary team that provides comprehensive management of the
healthcare services and products needed by hospice patients and their families. An interdisciplinary team is
typically comprised of a physician, a patient care manager, registered nurses, certified home health aides, social
workers, a chaplain, a homemaker and specially trained volunteers.

We assign each of our hospice patients to an interdisciplinary team, which assesses the clinical,
psychosocial and spiritual needs of the patient and their family, develops a plan of care, and delivers, monitors
and coordinates that plan with the goal of providing appropriate care for the patient and their family. This
interdisciplinary team approach offers significant benefits to hospice patients, their families and payors.

Recent Developments

We added, after giving consideration to the merger of existing locations, a net total of 75 home health care
agencies and 9 hospice offices through a series of acquisitions in 2005. We also opened 25 new home health care
agencies and 2 new hospice offices. We refer to the opening of new locations as start-ups. We funded our
acquisitions through the issuance of a $75.0 million senior credit facility that includes a $50.0 million term loan
and a $25.0 million revolving loan, promissory notes and cash provided by our operating activities.

For a complete discussion of our recent developments including our acquisitions, internal growth and
financing arrangements, refer to Recent Developments in Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operation that is a part of this filing.

On January 5, 2006, we acquired certain assets of seven home health agencies in central Oklahoma for a
total purchase price of $2.7 million that included $2.1 million in cash and a three-year promissory note of $0.6
million. On January 5, 2006, we also acquired an Oklahoma based therapy staffing agency for a total purchase
price of $2.5 million that included $1.75 million in cash and a three-year promissory note of $0.75 million. These
agencies are not included in the results of our 2005 operations or in the number of acquisitions that we made in
2005.

Strategy

Our business objective is to enhance our market position as a leading provider of high quality, low cost
home health nursing and hospice services through internal growth and acquisition. We target our marketing
activities toward Medicare eligible patients. Approximately 93% of our net service revenue was derived from
Medicare for the year ended December 31, 2005.



Internal Growth Strategy

Focus on Our Employees. Because we are engaged in a service business, the essence of our company is our
people. Our emphasis on communication, education, empowerment and competitive benefits allows us to attract
and retain highly skilled and experienced people in our markets.

Manage Costs Through Disease Management. Payors are focusing on the management of patients who
suffer from chronic diseases, which correlate with substantial long-term costs. We offer disease management
programs for wound care, cardiac and diabetes as well as pulmonary/respiratory, pneumonia, cardiovascular and
cancer. Our disease management programs include patient and family education and empowerment, frequent
monitoring and coordinated care with other medical professionals involved in the care of the patient.

Manage Costs Through Technology. We use an internally developed software system that reduces our
operating costs and integrates a number of clinical, financial and operating functions into a single entry system.
The software has been enhanced extensively, particularly with respect to clinical management and has been
supplemented by other externally sourced software. By enhancing our operations through the use of information
technology and expanded computer applications, we are positioned to not only operate more efficiently but also
to compete in an environment increasingly influenced by cost containment.

Expand Our Service Base. We expand our service base both by increasing market share in existing service
areas as well as expanding into contiguous markets and states. In existing service areas, we increase market share
through the development and marketing of niche programs designed to meet the needs of our referral sources and
differentiate ourselves from our competitors, such as our various disease management programs. We expand into
contiguous markets through our start-ups of new agencies.

Expand Our Referral Base. We have invested considerably in our business development model, through
selective hiring and both initial and on-going training for our marketing staff, augmented by a marketing
department that provides informative and attractive marketing collateral and other marketing support. This model
is focused on increasing admissions as well as expanding our referral base, so that we are not fully dependent on
a relatively few physician groups for patient referrals in any given market.

External Growth Strategy
Our acquisition strategy includes the following key elements:

* Extend our service area in contiguous markets, including new contiguous states as well as further
penetrating into Certificate of Need (“CON”) states where internal growth opportunities are limited. We
further discuss Certificates of Need in our Government Regulation section.

e Acquire home health care agencies with a strong base of physician referrals.
e Enhance market share within existing markets.

e Generate economies of scale through the elimination of duplicate overhead functions.

Our primary targets for acquisition include:

Hospital Systems with Internal Home Health Agencies

Prospective Payment Systems (“PPS”), which was implemented in October 2000, affected the manner in
which hospitals recovered home health care costs under Medicare. As a result, many hospitals made the decision
to sell, or are considering, selling their agencies or alternatively, partnering with a reputable company to provide
these services. This not only provides us with the opportunity to acquire quality agencies but also to acquire
agencies with a strong base of physician referrals.



Large, Multi-Site Agencies

By acquiring multi-site agencies and eliminating their corporate structure, we gain economies of scale, more
rapidly deploy our business model and enhance market share or expand coverage to markets that are contiguous
to existing markets.

Local Agencies

By acquiring smaller local agencies, we can target specific desirable geographic locations to augment our
existing service area. Additionally, our more sophisticated business model with respect to disease management,
business development, and the utilization of information technology often results in improved operating results,
better outcomes and more satisfied referral sources as compared to previous owners’ operations.

Billing and Reimbursement

Revenue generated from our home health care services are paid by Medicare, Medicaid, private insurance
carriers, managed care organizations, other local health insurance programs and private payors. Medicare is a
federally funded program available to persons with certain disabilities and persons 65 years of age or older. We
submit all home health Medicare claims to one of two federal government fiscal intermediaries, dependent on the
geographical location of our agencies. Medicaid, a program jointly funded by federal, state, and local
governmental health care programs, is designed to pay for certain health care and medical services provided to
low income individuals without regard to age. We have several contracts for negotiated fees with insurers and
managed care organizations. Less than one per cent of our revenue is generated from private payors.

We are highly dependent on Medicare reimbursement and a material portion of our business is subject to the
government regulation of Medicare. We derived approximately 93% of our net service revenue from the
Medicare system for each of the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 and the remaining 7% from Medicaid,
private insurance companies and private payors.

For a more detailed discussion on Medicare reimbursement, refer to our Critical Accounting Policy on
Medicare Revenue Recognition in Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operation.

Information Technology

We manage our home health care billing and collections through proprietary software. We have extensively
enhanced this software, utilizing employed development staff. This billing and collection software is combined
with both internally developed clinical management software and other externally sourced software and is used
throughout our operations. We intend to continue this development process in order to improve the efficiency
and compliance controls of our operations. In January 2005, we successfully modified our software by
implementing a Sequel database, which we believe allows more system capacity and therefore, ensures system
capacity for growth opportunities.

Furthermore, we plan to commence making certain modules of our clinical software available on laptop
computers in 2006 and to provide such laptop computers to an increasing proportion of our clinical staff. We
believe that a successful implementation of this application will further enhance our compliance controls by
having more accurate clinical notes arising from edits that ensure notes are completed in their entirety prior to
submission. We believe that this methodology will improve the quality of our medical records.

Industry Overview

The home health care business revolves around agencies that provide nursing care, drug therapy,
rehabilitation and selected other services to about 3.5 million regular patients according to industry reports. As
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national health care spending continues to outpace the rate of inflation and the population of older Americans
increases at a faster rate, we believe that alternatives to costly hospital stays will be in even greater demand.
Managed care, Medicare, Medicaid and other payor pressures continue to drive patients through the continuum of
care until they reach a setting where the appropriate level of care can be provided most cost effectively. Over the
past several years, home health care has evolved as an acceptable and often preferred alternative in this
continuum. In addition to patient comfort and convenience, substantial cost savings can usually be realized
through treatment at home as an alternative to traditional institutional settings. The continuing economic
pressures within the health care industry and the Medicare payment system have forced providers of home health
care services to closely examine and often modify the manner in which they provide patient care and services.
Those companies that successfully operate with effective business models can provide quality patient care and
manage costs under the current reimbursement system.

Traditionally, the home health care industry has been highly fragmented, comprised primarily of smaller
local home health agencies offering limited services. These local providers often do not have the necessary
capital to expand their operations or services and are often not able to achieve the efficiencies necessary to
compete effectively. With the implementation of Medicare PPS on October 1, 2000, and other legislation, the
home health care industry experienced major consolidation for the first time in its history, with industry reports
suggesting a reduction from approximately 11,000 agencies in 1997 to approximately 7,000 agencies in 2005.

Competition

The home health services industry in which we operate is highly competitive and fragmented. Home
healthcare providers range from facility-based (hospital, nursing home, rehabilitation facility, government
agency) agencies to independent companies to visiting nurse associations. They can be not-for-profit
organizations or for-profit organizations. In addition, there are relatively few barriers to entry in some of the
home health services markets in which we operate. Home health care providers compete for referrals based
primarily on scope and quality of services, geographic coverage, and pricing and outcomes data. The impact of
competitors is best determined on a market-by-market basis. Our primary competitors for our home healthcare
business are hospital-based home health agencies, local home health agencies and visiting nurse associations. We
compete with other home healthcare providers on the basis of availability of personnel, quality and expertise of
services and the value and price of services. We believe that we have a favorable competitive position,
attributable mainly to our reputation for over a decade of consistent, high quality care, our comprehensive range
of services, our state-of-the-art information management and technology systems, and our widespread service
network.

We expect that industry forces will impact us and our competitors. Our competitors will likely strive to
improve their service offerings and price competitiveness. We also expect our competitors to develop new
strategic relationships with providers, referral sources and payers, which could result in increased competition.
The introduction of new and enhanced services, acquisitions and industry consolidation and the development of
strategic relationships by our competitors could cause a decline in revenue or loss of market acceptance of our
services or price competition or make our services less attractive.

Seasonality

We did not experience a seasonal fluctuation in our home health care or hospice services in 2005 although
we have experienced a slightly lower demand for those same services from April to September in prior years.

Legislation

The home health care business is regulated by federal, state and local authorities. Regulations and policies
frequently change, and we monitor changes through trade and governmental publications and associations. Our
home health care subsidiaries are certified by Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (“CMS”) and are
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therefore eligible to receive reimbursement for services through the Medicare system. As a provider under the
Medicare and Medicaid systems, we are subject to the various state and federal anti-fraud and abuse laws, each
of which contains various sanctions, including but not limited to exclusion from further participation in
government health care programs.

Various federal and state laws impose criminal and civil penalties for submitting false or fraudulent claims
for Medicare, Medicaid or other health care reimbursements. Given the breadth of applicable statutes,
government enforcement actions for the submission of false and fraudulent claims may be predicated on any
number of alleged schemes. Violations of the anti-fraud and abuse laws can result in the imposition of substantial
civil and criminal penalties and, potentially, exclusion from furnishing services under any federal health care
programs. We believe that we bill for our services under all state and federal health care programs accurately,
although the conditions of participation and associated rules governing coverage of, and reimbursements for, our
services are complex. There can be no assurance that these rules will be interpreted in a manner consistent with
our billing practices.

In addition, we are also subject to several major laws related to marketing and business development
activities, specifically federal and state anti-kickback statutes and the Stark self-referral law, each of which is
described below.

The federal anti-kickback laws prohibit any offer, payment, solicitation or receipt of any form of
remuneration to induce the referral of business reimbursable under a federal health care program or in return for
the purchase, lease, order, arranging for, or recommendation of items or services covered by any federal health
care programs or any health care plans or programs that are funded, in whole or in part, by the United States
government. A related law forbids the offer or transfer of any item or service for less than fair market value, or
certain waivers of co-payment obligations, to a beneficiary of Medicare or a state health care program that is
likely to influence the beneficiary’s selection of health care providers. In addition, the states in which we operate
generally have similar anti-kickback laws and related statutes that prohibit certain direct or indirect payments or
fee-splitting arrangements between health care providers where they are designed to obtain the referral of
patients to a particular provider. As with violations of anti-fraud and abuse laws, violations of these anti-kickback
laws can result in the imposition of substantial civil and criminal penalties and, potentially, exclusion from
furnishing services under any federal health care programs.

Furthermore, as a provider of home health services, we are subject to the “Stark Law” which prohibits self-
referral arrangements. Congress initially adopted legislation in 1989, known as the “Stark Law”, to generally
prohibit a physician from ordering clinical laboratory services for a Medicare beneficiary where the entity
providing that service has a financial relationship (including direct or indirect ownership or compensation
relationships) with the physician (or a member of his/her immediate family), and prohibits such entity from
billing for or receiving reimbursement for such services, unless a specified exception is available. Additional
legislation became effective as of January 1, 1993, known as “Stark II,” that extends the Stark law prohibitions to
services under state Medicaid programs, and beyond clinical laboratory services to all “designated health
services,” including but not limited to home health services, although it should be noted that hospice is not
deemed a “designated health service”. Violations of the Stark Law may also trigger civil monetary penalties and
program exclusion. Pursuant to Stark II, physicians who are compensated by us will be prohibited from seeking
reimbursement for designated health services rendered to such patients unless an exception applies. Several of
the states in which we conduct business have also enacted statutes similar in scope and purpose to the federal
fraud and abuse laws and the Stark laws.

Lastly, the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (“HIPAA”) was enacted on August 21, 1996
to assure health insurance portability, reduce health care fraud and abuse, guarantee security and privacy of
health information and enforce standards for health information. Covered entities are required to be in
compliance with HIPAA provisions relating to security and privacy and may be subject to significant fines and
penalties if found not to be compliant with the provisions outlined in the regulations. Regulations issued pursuant
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to HIPAA impose ongoing obligations relative to security practices, including electronic records and
transactions, and management has implemented processes and procedures to ensure continued compliance with
these regulations.

Home health care offices have licenses granted by the health authorities of their respective states.
Additionally, some state health authorities require a Certificate of Need (“CON”) or Permit of Approval (“POA”)
to establish and operate a home health care agency. Tennessee, Georgia, Alabama, North Carolina, South
Carolina, Mississippi, Maryland, and Kentucky require CONs, while Arkansas requires a POA. Louisiana,
Oklahoma, Virginia, Texas and Florida currently do not have such requirements. However, Louisiana remains
subject to a legislative moratorium on the award of new home health licenses that has been in place for several
years, and will continue for the foreseeable future. In every state, each location license and/or CON or POA
issued by the state health authority determines the service areas for the home health care agency.

In 1999, we discovered questionable conduct involving the former owner of one of our agencies, which
occurred between 1994 and 1997. We voluntarily disclosed the irregularities to the Department of Health and
Human Services’ Office of the Inspector General (“OIG”) and on August 8, 2003, we signed both a Settlement
Agreement and a Corporate Integrity Agreement with the OIG and Department of Justice, providing for payment
of a financial settlement $1.2 million. The agreement is binding for a three-year period, requires that we maintain
our existing Compliance Program and provides for enhanced training requirements, annual claims audits of the
subject agency by an independent reviewer, and regular reporting to the OIG. It provides for stipulated penalties
in the event of our non-compliance, including the possibility of exclusion from the Medicare program. We
believe that these obligations will not materially affect our operations, or financial performance, over the period
of the agreement, although no assurances can be provided that the ultimate cost will not be materially different.
Management believes we were in compliance with the Corporate Integrity Agreement at December 31, 2005.

Employees

As of December 31, 2005, we had 4,281 full-time employees, and 1,925 part-time employees, including
part-time field nurses and other professionals in the field. Our labor force is not unionized or subject to any
collective bargaining agreements. We believe our employee relations are good.

Insurance

We are obligated for certain costs under various insurance programs, including employee health and
welfare, workers’ compensation and professional liability, and while we maintain various insurance programs to
cover these risks, we are self-insured for a substantial portion of our potential claims. We recognize our
obligations associated with these costs in the period in which a claim is incurred, including with respect to both
reported claims, and claims incurred but not reported, up to specified deductible limits. These costs have
generally been estimated based on independent actuarial analysis and historical data of our claims experience.
Such estimates, and the resulting reserves, are reviewed and updated on a quarterly basis.

Risk Factors

Investing in our common stock involves a degree of risk. You should consider carefully the following risks,
as well as other information in this filing and the incorporated documents before investing in our common stock.

Risks Related to Our Industry

Our profitability depends principally on the level of government-mandated payment rates. Reductions in rates
or rate increases that do not cover cost increases may adversely affect our business.

We generally receive fixed payments from Medicare for our services based on the level of care that we
provide patients. Consequently, our profitability largely depends upon our ability to manage the cost of providing
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services. Although current Medicare legislation provides for an annual adjustment of the various payment rates
based on the increase or decrease of the medical care expenditure category of the Consumer Price Index, these
Medicare payment rate increases may be less than actual inflation or could be eliminated or reduced in any given
year. For example, in February 2006, the President of the United States signed into law a bill freezing home
health payment rates for 2006. The freeze will be effective for one year. Consequently, if our cost of providing
services, which consists primarily of labor costs, is greater than the current Medicare payment rate, our
profitability would be negatively impacted.

Specifically regarding our hospice operations, overall payments made by Medicare to us for hospice
services are subject to two payment limitations (hospice caps) calculated by the Medicare fiscal intermediary at
the end of the hospice cap period, which runs from November 15t of each year though October 315t of the
following year. Under the first limitation, total Medicare payments to us per provider number are compared to a
cap amount that is calculated by multiplying the number of Medicare beneficiaries under that provider number
electing hospice care for the first time during the cap period by a statutory amount that is indexed for inflation.
The cap amount for the twelve-month period ending October 31, 2005 was $19,777.51. We must return any
payments in excess of the cap amount to Medicare. Our total payment per provider number may be further
reduced if any our Medicare beneficiaries electing hospice care for the first time are subsequently admitted to
another hospice service provider. The second limitation, which is also calculated on a per provider number basis,
provides that reimbursement for any in-patient days that exceed 20% of the total in-service days for the particular
provider number shall be reimbursed at a lower rate. Our ability to avoid these limitations depends on a number
of factors, each determined on a provider-number basis, including the average length of stay and mix in level of
care. Our revenue and profitability associated with our hospice operations may be materially reduced if we are
unable to avoid triggering these and other Medicare payment limitations. As we expand our hospice operations,
we cannot assure that we will not exceed the cap amounts in the future. Thus, we cannot assure you that these
limitations will not negatively affect our profitability on a company-wide basis in the future.

Further, for our hospice patients receiving nursing home care under certain state Medicaid programs who
elect hospice care under Medicare or Medicaid, the state must pay us, in addition to the applicable Medicare or
Medicaid hospice per diem rate, an amount equal to at least 95% of the Medicaid per diem nursing home rate for
“room and board” furnished to the patient by the nursing home. We contract with various nursing homes for the
nursing homes’ provision of certain “room and board” services that the nursing homes would otherwise provide
Medicaid nursing home patients. We bill and collect from the applicable state Medicaid program an amount
equal to at least 95% of the amount that would otherwise have been paid directly to the nursing home under the
state’s Medicaid plan. Under our standard nursing home contracts, we pay the nursing home for these “room and
board” services at 100% of the Medicaid per diem nursing home rate. Over 70% of our hospice patients reside in
nursing homes. Consequently, the reduction or elimination of Medicare payments for hospice patients residing in
nursing homes or any change in our ability to provide service to such patients would significantly reduce the net
patient service revenue and profitability related to our hospice operations.

If any of our agencies fail to comply with the conditions of participation in the Medicare program, that agency
could be terminated from the Medicare program, which would adversely affect our net patient service revenue
and profitability.

Each of our home care and hospice agencies must comply with the extensive conditions of participation in
the Medicare program. If any of our agencies fail to meet any of the Medicare conditions of participation, that
agency may receive a notice of deficiency from the applicable state surveyor. If that agency then fails to institute
a plan of correction to correct the deficiency within the correction period provided by the state surveyor, that
agency could be terminated from the Medicare program. Any termination of one or more of our home care
agencies from the Medicare program for failure to satisfy the program’s conditions of participation could
adversely affect our net service revenue and profitability. CMS has recently announced that it is currently
revising the Medicare conditions of participation for home health, with publication expected no earlier than
Spring 2006. We do not know at this time what effect the revisions will have on our operations, and there can be
no assurances that the revisions will not negatively affect our profitability.
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We are subject to extensive government regulation. Any changes to the laws and regulations governing our
business, or the interpretation and enforcement of those laws or regulations, could cause us to modify our
operations and could negatively impact our operating resulls.

The federal government and the states in which we operate regulate our industry extensively. The laws and
regulations governing our operations, along with the terms of participation in various government programs,
regulate how we do business, the services we offer, and our interactions with patients and the public. These laws
and regulations, and their interpretations, are subject to frequent change. Changes in existing laws and
regulations, or their interpretations, or the enactment of new laws or regulations could reduce our profitability by:

e increasing our liability;

e increasing our administrative and other costs;

e increasing or decreasing mandated services;

e forcing us to restructure our relationships with referral sources and providers; or

e requiring us to implement additional or different programs and systems.

For example, Congress enacted the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996
(“HIPAA”), which mandates that provider organizations enhance privacy protections for patient health
information. This requires companies like us to develop, maintain and monitor administrative, information, and
security systems to prevent inappropriate release of protected health information. Compliance with this law has
added, and will continue to add, costs that affect our profitability. Failure to comply with HIPAA could result in
fines and penalties, as well as our exclusion from Medicare and Medicaid programs.

In addition, we are subject to various routine and non-routine governmental reviews, audits, and
investigations. Violation of the laws governing our operations, or changes in interpretations of those laws, could
result in the imposition of fines, civil or criminal penalties, the termination of our rights to participate in federal
and state-sponsored programs, and the suspension or revocation of our licenses. If we become subject to material
fines or if other sanctions or other corrective actions are imposed on us, we might suffer a substantial reduction in
profitability.

If we are unable to maintain relationships with existing patient referral sources or to establish new referral
sources, our growth and profitability could be adversely affected.

Our success depends significantly on referrals from physicians, hospitals, and other patient referral sources
in the communities that our home care agencies serve, as well as on our ability to maintain good relationships
with these referral sources. Our referral sources are not contractually obligated to refer home care or hospice
patients to us and may refer their patients to other providers. Our growth and profitability depend on our ability
to establish and maintain close working relationships with these patient referral sources and to increase
awareness and acceptance of the benefits of home care and hospice care by our referral sources and their patients.
We cannot assure you that we will be able to maintain our existing referral source relationships or that we will be
able to develop and maintain new relationships in existing or new markets. Our loss of, or failure to maintain,
existing relationships or our failure to develop new relationships could adversely affect our ability to expand our
operations and operate profitably.

We are subject to federal and state laws that govern our financial relationships with physicians and other
healthcare providers, including potential or current referral sources.

We are required to comply with federal and state laws, generally referred to as “anti-kickback laws,” that
prohibit certain direct and indirect payments or fee-splitting arrangements between healthcare providers that are
designed to encourage the referral of patients to a particular provider for medical services. In addition to enacting
anti-kickback laws, some of the states in which we operate have enacted laws prohibiting certain business
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relationships between physicians and other providers of healthcare services. We currently have contractual
relationships with certain physicians who provide consulting services to our company. Many of these physicians
are current or potential referral sources. Although we believe our physician consultant arrangements currently
comply with state and federal anti-kickback laws and state laws regulating relationships between healthcare
providers, we cannot assure you that courts or regulatory agencies will not interpret these laws in ways that will
implicate our physician consultant arrangements. Violations of anti-kickback and similar laws could lead to fines
or sanctions that may have a material adverse effect on our operations.

We may be subject to substantial malpractice or other similar claims.

The services we offer involve an inherent risk of professional liability and related substantial damage
awards. On any given day, we have several hundred nurses and other direct care personnel driving to and from
patients” homes where they deliver medical and other care. Due to the nature of our business, we and the
caregivers who provide services on our behalf may be the subject of medical malpractice claims. These
caregivers could be considered our agents, and, as a result, we could be held liable for their medical negligence.
We cannot predict the effect that any claims of this nature, regardless of their ultimate outcome, could have on
our business or reputation or on our ability to attract and retain patients and employees. We maintain malpractice
liability insurance and are responsible for amounts in excess of the limits of our coverage.

Delays in reimbursement may cause liquidity problems.

Our business is characterized by delays in reimbursement from the time we provide services to the time we
receive reimbursement or payment for these services. If we have information system problems or issues that arise
with Medicare, we may encounter delays in our payment cycle. Such a timing delay may cause working capital
shortages. Working capital management, including prompt and diligent billing and collection, is an important
factor in our results of operations and liquidity. We cannot assure you that system problems, Medicare issues or
industry trends will not extend our collection period, adversely impact our working capital, or that our working
capital management procedures will successfully negate this risk. Further, our hospice operations bill various
state Medicaid programs for “room and board” associated with hospice patients residing in nursing homes. There
are often timing delays when attempting to collect funds from Medicaid programs. We cannot assure you that
delays in receiving reimbursement or payments from these programs will not adversely impact our working
capital.

Our industry is highly competitive.

Our home health care agencies compete with local and regional home health care companies, hospitals,
nursing homes, and other businesses that provide home nursing services, some of which are large established
companies that have significantly greater resources than we do. Our primary competition comes from local
companies in each of our markets, and these privately-owned or hospital-owned health care providers vary by
region and market. We compete based on the availability of personnel; the quality, expertise, and value of our
services; and in select instances, on the price of our services. Increased competition in the future from existing
competitors or new entrants may limit our ability to maintain or increase our market share. We cannot assure you
that we will be able to compete successfully against current or future competitors or that competitive pressures
will not have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition, or results of operations.

Some of our existing and potential new competitors may enjoy greater name recognition and greater
financial, technical, and marketing resources than we do. This may permit our competitors to devote greater
resources than we can to the development and promotion of services. These competitors may undertake more
far-reaching and effective marketing campaigns and may offer more attractive opportunities to existing and
potential employees and services to referral sources.

We expect our competitors to develop new strategic relationships with providers, referral sources, and
payors, which could result in increased competition. The introduction of new and enhanced service offerings, in
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combination with industry consolidation and the development of strategic relationships by our competitors, could
cause a decline in revenue or loss of market acceptance of our services or make our services less attractive.
Additionally, we compete with a number of non-profit organizations that can finance acquisitions and capital
expenditures on a tax-exempt basis or receive charitable contributions that are unavailable to us.

We expect that industry forces will continue to have an impact on our business and that of our competitors.
In recent years, the health care industry has undergone significant changes driven by efforts to reduce costs, and
we expect these cost containment measures to continue in the future. Frequent regulatory changes in our industry,
including reductions in reimbursement rates and changes in services covered, have increased competition among
home health care providers. If we are unable to react competitively to new developments, our operating results
may suffer.

A shortage of qualified registered nursing staff and other caregivers could adversely affect our ability to
attract, train and retain qualified personnel and could increase operating costs.

We rely significantly on our ability to attract and retain caregivers who possess the skills, experience, and
licenses necessary to meet the requirements of our patients. We compete for personnel with other providers of
home nursing and hospice services. Our ability to attract and retain caregivers depends on several factors,
including our ability to provide these caregivers with attractive assignments and competitive benefits and
salaries. We cannot assure you that we will succeed in any of these areas. In addition, there are occasional
shortages of qualified healthcare personnel in some of the markets in which we operate. As a result, we may face
higher costs of attracting caregivers and providing them with attractive benefit packages than we originally
anticipated, and, if that occurs, our profitability could decline. Finally, although this is currently not a significant
factor in our existing markets, if we expand our operations into geographic areas where healthcare providers have
historically unionized, we cannot assure you that the negotiation of collective bargaining agreements will not
have a negative effect on our ability to timely and successfully recruit qualified personnel. Generally, if we are
unable to attract and retain caregivers, the quality of our services may decline, and we could lose patients and
referral sources.

Risks Related to Our Business
We depend on Medicare for substantially all of our revenues.

For the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, we received 93%, 93%, and 91%, respectively, of
our revenue from Medicare. Reductions in Medicare reimbursement could have an adverse impact on our
profitability. Such reductions in payments to us could be caused by:

e administrative or legislative changes to the base episode rate;
¢ the elimination or reduction of annual rate increases based on medical inflation;

e the imposition by Medicare of co-payments or other mechanisms shifting responsibility for a portion of
payment to beneficiaries;

e adjustments to the relative components of the wage index;
e changes to our case mix or therapy thresholds; or

e other adverse changes to the way we are paid for delivering our services.

The Medicare Payment Advisory Commission (MedPAC), an independent federal body established to
advise Congress on issues affecting the Medicare Program, has recently recommended implementation of
pay-for-performance initiatives for home care providers. If implemented, Medicare will differentiate
reimbursement rates for Medicare home health service providers based on quality measures. While we believe
that we provide high quality services to our patients, there can be no assurances that a pay-for-performance
reimbursement system will not adversely affect our Medicare reimbursement rates and, consequently, our results
of operations.
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Our non-Medicare revenues and profitability also are affected by the continuing efforts of third-party payors
to contain or reduce the costs of health care by lowering reimbursement rates, narrowing the scope of covered
services, increasing case management review of services, and negotiating reduced contract pricing. Any changes
in reimbursement levels from these third-party payor sources and any changes in applicable government
regulations could have a material adverse effect on our revenues and profitability. We can provide no assurance
that we will continue to maintain the current payor or revenue mix.

Migration of our Medicare beneficiary patients to Medicare managed care providers could negatively impact
our operating resullts.

Historically, we have generated the majority of our revenue from the Medicare fee-for-service market.
Under the Medicare Prescription Drug Improvement and Modernization Act of December 2003 (“MMA”),
however, the United States Congress allocated significant additional funds and other incentives to Medicare
managed care providers in order to promote greater participation in those plans by Medicare beneficiaries. If
these increased funding levels have the intended result, the size of the potential Medicare fee-for-service market
could decline, thereby reducing the size of our potential patient population, which could cause our operating
results to suffer.

We are operating under a Corporate Integrity Agreement. Violations to that agreement could result in
penalties or exclusion from participation in the Medicare program.

In 1999 we uncovered certain improprieties stemming from the unauthorized conduct of an agency director
in our Monroe, Louisiana location, an agency we had acquired previously. We disclosed these improprieties to
the Office of the Inspector General (“OIG”). Following an extensive series of audits, we and the OIG reached a
settlement in August 2003, whereby we agreed to repay approximately $1.2 million to the government in three
annual payments, the last of which we made in August 2005. As part of the settlement, we also executed a three-
year Corporate Integrity Agreement (“CIA”), which requires that we:

* maintain our current compliance program;
» specify additional training requirements;
* conduct annual, independent audits of the agency; and

* make timely disclosure of, and repay, overpayments resulting from any potential fraud or abuse of
which we become aware.

There are stipulated penalties for violations of the CIA. Egregious violations of the CIA could result in our
exclusion from further participation in government-funded health programs. We have designated a Chief
Compliance Officer to ensure ongoing compliance with the terms and conditions of the CIA as well as
compliance with all other applicable laws, rules, and regulations. Any acquired businesses are subject to the
provisions of the CIA.

We believe that we are in compliance with all state and federal fraud and abuse provisions and all other
applicable government laws and regulations. Our compliance with these laws and regulations may be subject to
future government review and interpretation and possible regulatory actions currently unknown or unasserted. If
we are found to be in violation of any of these provisions, it could have a material adverse effect on our business.

We operate our agencies under licenses issued and regulated by the respective states in which they are
located. Each agency is subject to periodic surveys and complaint-based surveys. If a survey identifies violations
of state standards, the agency typically is afforded a grace period in which to comply or otherwise lose its license
to operate. We use a Clinical Operations Department, staffed by regional personnel, to prepare each agency for
these surveys and respond when those surveys identify potential problems or when plans-of-correction are
required to bring the agency back into compliance. If we are found to be in violation of any of these state
standards, it could have a material adverse effect on our business.
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Our growth strategy depends on our ability to manage growing and changing operations.

Our business has grown significantly in size and complexity in recent years. Our internal growth rate for
Medicare patient admissions was 8% for 2003, 28% for 2004, and 18% for 2005. This growth has placed, and
will continue to place, significant demands on our management systems, internal controls, and financial and
professional resources. In addition, we will need to further develop our financial controls and reporting systems
to accommodate future growth. This could require us to incur expenses for hiring additional qualified personnel,
retaining professionals to assist in developing the appropriate control systems, and expanding our information
technology infrastructure. Our inability to manage growth effectively could have a material adverse effect on our
financial results.

Our growth strategy depends on our ability to develop and to acquire additional agencies on favorable terms
and to integrate and operate these agencies effectively. If we are unable to do so, our future growth and
operating results could be negatively impacted.

Developments. We expect to continue to open agencies in our existing and new markets. Our new agency
growth, however, will depend on several factors, including our ability to:

e obtain locations for agencies in markets where need exists;

e identify and hire a sufficient number of appropriately trained home care and other health care
professionals;

e obtain adequate financing to fund growth; and

e operate successfully under applicable government regulations.

Acquisitions. We are focusing significant time and resources on the acquisition of home healthcare
providers, or of certain of their assets, in targeted markets. We may be unable to identify, negotiate, and complete
suitable acquisition opportunities on reasonable terms. We may incur future liabilities related to acquisitions.

Should any of the following problems, or others, occur as a result of our acquisition strategy, the impact could be
material:

e difficulties integrating personnel from acquired entities and other corporate cultures into our business;
e difficulties integrating information systems;

* the potential loss of key employees or referral sources of acquired companies or a reduction in patient
referrals by hospitals from which we have acquired home health care agencies;

e the assumption of liabilities and exposure to undisclosed liabilities of acquired companies;
e the acquisition of an agency with undisclosed compliance problems;
e the diversion of management attention from existing operations;

e difficulties in recouping partial episode payments and other types of misdirected payments for services
from the previous owners; or

e an unsuccessful claim for indemnification rights from previous owners for acts or omissions arising
prior to the date of acquisition.

Our acquisitions may impose strains on our existing resources.

As aresult of our past and current acquisition strategy, we have grown significantly over the last two years.
As we continue to add acquisition-related revenue and expand our markets, our growth could strain our
resources, including management, information systems, regulatory compliance, logistics, and other controls. We
cannot assure you that our resources will keep pace with our anticipated growth. If we do not manage our
expected growth effectively, our future results could be adversely affected.
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We may face increasing competition for acquisition candidates.

We intend to grow significantly through the continued acquisition of additional home nursing agencies. We
face competition for acquisition candidates, which may limit the number of acquisition opportunities available to
us and may lead to higher acquisition prices. Recently, we have observed an increase in acquisition prices for
mid-sized and larger regional home health care companies. We cannot assure you that we will be able to identify
suitable acquisitions in the future or that any such opportunities, if identified, will be consummated on favorable
terms, if at all. In the absence of completing successful acquisitions, our future growth rate could decline. In
addition, we cannot assure you that any future acquisitions, if consummated, will result in further growth.

We may require additional capital to pursue our acquisition strategy.

At December 31, 2005, we had cash and cash equivalents of approximately $17.2 million. Based on our
current plan of operations, including acquisitions, we cannot assure you that this amount will be sufficient to
support our current growth strategies. We cannot readily predict the timing, size, and success of our acquisition
efforts and the associated capital commitments. If we do not have sufficient cash resources, our growth could be
limited unless we obtain additional equity or debt financing. Effective as of July 11, 2005, we entered into a $75
million senior secured credit facility with Wachovia Bank, N.A. The facility includes a $50 million Term Loan
and up to $25 million in a three-year Revolver, of which $47.5 million was outstanding as of December 31, 2005.

Our business depends on our information systems. Our inability to effectively integrate, manage, and keep
secure our information systems could disrupt our operations.

Our business depends on effective and secure information systems that assist us in, among other things,
monitoring utilization and other cost factors, processing claims, reporting financial results, measuring outcomes
and quality of care, managing regulatory compliance controls, and maintaining operational efficiencies. These
systems include software developed in-house and systems provided by external contractors and other service
providers. To the extent that these external contractors or other service providers become insolvent or fail to
support the software or systems, our operations could be negatively affected. Our agencies also depend upon our
information systems for accounting, billing, collections, risk management, quality assurance, payroll, and other
information. If we experience a reduction in the performance, reliability, or availability of our information
systems, our operations and ability to produce timely and accurate reports could be adversely affected.

Our information systems and applications require continual maintenance, upgrading, and enhancement to
meet our operational needs. Our acquisition activity requires transitions and integration of various information
systems. We regularly upgrade and expand our information systems’ capabilities. If we experience difficulties
with the transition and integration of information systems or are unable to implement, maintain, or expand our
systems properly, we could suffer from, among other things, operational disruptions, regulatory problems, and
increases in administrative expenses.

Our business requires the secure transmission of confidential information over public networks. Advances in
computer capabilities, new discoveries in the field of cryptography or other events or developments could result
in compromises or breaches of our security systems and patient data stored in our information systems. Anyone
who circumvents our security measures could misappropriate our confidential information or cause interruptions
in our services or operations. The Internet is a public network, and data is sent over this network from many
sources. In the past, computer viruses or software programs that disable or impair computers have been
distributed and have rapidly spread over the Internet. Computer viruses could be introduced into our systems, or
those of our providers or regulators, which could disrupt our operations or make our systems inaccessible to our
providers or regulators. We may be required to expend significant capital and other resources to protect against
the threat of security breaches or to alleviate problems caused by breaches. Our security measures may be
inadequate to prevent security breaches, and our business operations would be negatively impacted by
cancellation of contracts and loss of patients if security breaches are not prevented.
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Further, our information systems are vulnerable to damage or interruption from fire, flood, power loss,
telecommunications failure, break-ins and similar events. A failure to restore our information systems after the
occurrence of any of these events could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations. Because of the confidential health information we store and transmit, loss of electronically-
stored information for any reason could expose us to a risk of regulatory action, litigation, possible liability and loss.

Our clinical software system has been developed in-house. Failure of, or problems with, our system could
harm our business and operating results.

We have developed and utilize a proprietary Windows-based clinical software system to collect assessment
data, schedule and log patient visits, generate medical orders, and monitor treatments and outcomes in
accordance with established medical standards. The system integrates billing and collections functionality as well
as accounting, human resource, payroll, and employee benefits programs provided by third parties. Problems
with, or the failure of, our technology and systems could negatively impact data capture, billing, collections, and
management and reporting capabilities. Any such problems or failures could adversely affect our operations and
reputation, result in significant costs to us, and impair our ability to provide our services in the future. The costs
incurred in correcting any errors or problems may be substantial and could adversely affect our profitability.

We depend on outside software providers.

We depend on the proper functioning and availability of our information systems in operating our business,
some of which are provided by outside software providers. These information systems and applications require
continual maintenance, upgrading, and enhancement to meet our operational needs. If our providers are unable to
maintain or expand our information systems properly, we could suffer from operational disruptions and an
increase in administrative expenses, among other things.

Our insurance liability coverage may not be sufficient for our business needs.

We maintain professional liability insurance for Amedisys and our subsidiaries. However, we cannot assure
you that claims will not be made in the future in excess of the limits of such insurance, if any, nor can we assure
you that any such claims, if successful and in excess of such limits, will not have a material adverse effect on our
ability to conduct business or on our assets. Our insurance coverage also includes fire, property damage, and
general liability with varying limits. Although we maintain insurance consistent with industry practice, we cannot
assure you that the insurance we maintain will satisfy claims made against us. In addition, as a result of operating
in the home healthcare industry, our business entails an inherent risk of claims, losses and potential lawsuits
alleging employee accidents that are likely to occur in a patient’s home. Finally, we cannot assure you that
insurance coverage will continue to be available to us at commercially reasonable rates, in adequate amounts or
on satisfactory terms.

Any claims made against us, regardless of their merit or eventual outcome, could damage our reputation and
business. From December 31, 1998 to November 9, 2000, we were insured for risks associated with professional
and general liability by an insurance company that currently is in liquidation under federal bankruptcy laws and
may not be able to pay or defend claims incurred by us during this period, and our current insurance does not
cover any such claims. We do not, however, believe that the ultimate resolution of current claims will be
materially different from reserves established for them or that any material claims will be made in the future
based on occurrences during that period.

We have established reserves for Medicare liabilities that may be payable by us in the future. These liabilities
may be subject to audit or further review, and we may owe additional amounts beyond what we expect and
have reserved for.

As of December 31, 2005, we have estimated an aggregate payable to Medicare of $10.5 million, all of
which is reflected as a current liability in our financial statements. The $10.5 million liability has two
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components: a cost report adjustments reserve ($9.5 million), and a Medicare Prospective Payment System
(“PPS”) payment adjustments reserve ($1.0 million). If actual amounts exceed our reserves, we may incur
additional costs that may adversely affect our results of operations. We describe these adjustments below.

Cost Report Adjustments Reserve. Prior to the implementation of PPS on October 1, 2000, we recorded
Medicare revenue at the lower of: (1) actual costs, (2) the per-visit cost limit, or (3) a per-beneficiary cost limit
on an individual provider basis. We determined ultimate reimbursement upon review of annual cost reports.

The recorded $9.5 million includes a $3.1 million obligation of a wholly owned subsidiary that is currently
in bankruptcy, and it is not clear whether we will have any responsibility for that amount if the debt of the
subsidiary is discharged in bankruptcy.

Also included in the balance is $6.4 million that reflects our estimate of amounts likely to be assessed by
Medicare as overpayments in respect of prior years when Medicare audits of our cost reports through October
2000 are completed. At the time when these audits are completed and final assessments are issued, we may apply
to Medicare for repayment, if appropriate, over a thirty-six month period, although there is no assurance that such
applications will be agreed to, if sought. These amounts relate to the Medicare payment system in effect until
October 2000, under which Medicare provided periodic interim payments to us, subject to audit of cost reports
submitted by us and repayment of any overpayments by Medicare to us. The fiscal intermediary, acting on behalf
of Medicare, has not yet issued finalized audits with respect to 1999 and 2000 and is entitled to reopen settled
cost reports for up to three years after issuing final assessments.

The remaining balance of $1.0 million is related to notice from CMS that it intended to make certain
recoveries of amounts overpaid to providers for the periods dating from the implementation of PPS on October 1,
2000 through particular dates in 2003 and 2004. The first of these amounts related to partial episode payments
(“PEPs”) whereby a patient was readmitted to home health care prior to the expiry of 60 days from the previous
admission date at another home health agency. In such instances, reimbursement for the first agency is reduced.
CMS advised the industry that CMS had implemented changes to its computer system such that these instances
would be adjusted at the time of claim submission on an ongoing basis, and that recovery for prior overpayments
would commence in the summer of 2003 and extend over a two-year period. Medicare completed its recoveries
of PEPs on September 30, 2005. We increased our Medicare revenue in the fourth quarter of 2005 in the amount
of $0.4 million for reserves in excess of monies recouped by Medicare. Secondly, CMS advised the industry that
it would seek recovery of overpayments that were made for patients who had, within 14 days of such admission,
been discharged from inpatient facilities, including hospitals, rehabilitation and skilled nursing units. We
continue to evaluate this liability and estimated a reserve in the amount of approximately $1.0 million was
appropriate as of December 31, 2005.

We depend on the services of our executive officers and other key employees.

Our success depends upon the continued employment of certain members of our senior management team,
including our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, William F. Borne, our President and Chief Operating
Officer, Larry R. Graham, our Chief Financial Officer, Gregory H. Browne, and our Chief Information Officer,
Alice A. Schwartz. We also depend upon the continued employment of the Senior Vice Presidents that manage
several of our key functional areas, including operations, business development, accounting, finance, human
resources, marketing, information systems, contracting and compliance.

We maintain key employee life insurance of $4.5 million on Mr. Borne’s life and have entered into
employment agreements with each of Mr. Borne, Mr. Graham and Mr. Browne. The departure of any member of
our senior management team may materially adversely affect our operations. In this context, Mr. Browne has
announced his intention to resign from the Company at some future unspecified date, depending on the
Company’s ability to find a suitable replacement.

Our operations could be affected by natural disasters.

A substantial number of our agencies are located in the Southeastern United States and the Gulf Coast
Region, increasing our exposure to hurricanes and other natural disasters. The occurrence of natural disasters in
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the markets in which we operate could not only affect the day-to-day operations of our agencies, but also could
also disrupt our relationships with patients, employees and referral sources located in the affected areas. In
addition, any episode of care that is not completed due to the impact of a natural disaster will generally result in
lower revenue for the episode. For example, in late August and early September 2005, Hurricanes Katrina and
Rita impacted our agencies, employees and patients located in Southern Louisiana and Southern Mississippi. To
date, only one of our agencies affected by Hurricanes Katrina and Rita, located in Chalmette, Louisiana, has not
reopened. Other of our agencies located in the Louisiana Gulf Coast Region, however, have been operating at
lower capacities. We cannot assure you that hurricanes or other natural disasters will not have a material adverse
impact on our business, financial condition or results of operations in the future.

We are defending class action lawsuits that may require us to pay substantial damage awards.

On August 23 and October 4, 2001, two class action lawsuits were filed, which have since been
consolidated, on behalf of all purchasers of our common stock between November 15, 2000 and June 13, 2001,
against us and three of our executive officers, in the United States District Court for the Middle District of
Louisiana. In May of 2003, the trial court certified the class, and we appealed that decision. On February 17,
2005, the United States Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit vacated the trial court’s certification order and
remanded the case for further proceedings relative to class certification. The parties have agreed to a stay of all
depositions and other discovery (subject to certain limited exceptions) pending a ruling on class certification.

The suits seek damages based on the decline in our stock price following an announced restatement of
earnings for the fourth quarter of 2000 and first quarter of 2001, alleging that our management knew or were
reckless in not knowing the facts giving rise to the restatement. We are vigorously defending these lawsuits. We
have directors and officers insurance coverage for an amount in excess of $100,000 up to $4 million, in respect of
this period. We are not able to estimate at this time the potential amounts that could be awarded to the plaintiffs
in this matter. Although management believes our insurance coverage is sufficient in respect to any amounts that
may be awarded, we cannot assure you that the final resolution will fall within our insurance coverage amounts.
We have met our deductible with the legal fees that have been incurred to date. Additional legal fees will be paid
by the insurer up to our policy limits.

There is a risk that we will be held responsible for some or all of the $4.2 million liability of a bankrupt
subsidiary.

We consolidate the net liabilities of Alliance, a bankrupt subsidiary that is no longer in operation, in our
consolidated financial statements. It is possible that we could be held responsible for some or all of this amount,
and, depending upon the outcome of the bankruptcy proceedings, potentially a larger amount.

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock
The price of our common stock may be volatile and this may adversely affect our stockholders.

The price at which our common stock trades may be volatile. The stock market has from time to time
experienced significant price and volume fluctuations that have affected the market prices of securities,
particularly securities of health care companies. The market price of our common stock may be influenced by
many factors, including:

e our operating and financial performance;

e variances in our quarterly financial results compared to research analyst expectations;
e the depth and liquidity of the market for our common stock;

e future sales of common stock or the perception that sales could occur;

e investor perception of our business and our prospects;
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e developments relating to litigation or governmental investigations;

e changes or proposed changes in health care laws or regulations or enforcement of these laws and
regulations, or announcements relating to these matters; or

e general economic and stock market conditions.

In addition, the stock market in general, and the Nasdaq National Market in particular, has experienced price
and volume fluctuations that have often been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of health
care provider companies. These broad market and industry factors may materially reduce the market price of our
common stock, regardless of our operating performance. In the past, securities class-action litigation has often
been brought against companies following periods of volatility in the market price of their respective securities.
We may become involved in this type of litigation in the future. Litigation of this type is often expensive to
defend and may divert our management team’s attention as well as resources from the operation of our business.

Sales of substantial amounts of our common stock, or the availability of those shares for future sale, could
adversely affect our stock price and limit our ability to raise capital.

At December 31, 2005, 15,877,524 shares of our common stock were outstanding. There are 120,183 shares
of our common stock that may be issued under our 1998 employee stock purchase plan. As of December 31,
2005, 1,048,275 shares of our common stock were issuable upon the exercise of stock options which were
outstanding but not exercisable, 723,093 shares of our common stock were issuable upon the exercise of stock
options which were outstanding and exercisable, and 38,000 shares of our common stock were issuable upon the
exercise of outstanding warrants. The market price of our common stock could decline as a result of sales of
substantial amounts of our common stock in the public or the perception that substantial sales could occur. These
sales also may make it more difficult for us to sell common stock in the future to raise capital.

We do not anticipate paying dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future, and you should not
expect to receive dividends on shares of our common stock.

We do not pay dividends and intend to retain all future earnings to finance the continued growth and
development of our business. In addition, we do not anticipate paying cash dividends on our common stock in the
foreseeable future. Any future payment of cash dividends will depend upon our financial condition, capital
requirements, earnings, and other factors deemed relevant by our board of directors. Under the terms of our credit
facility, we are restricted from paying cash dividends and making other cash distributions to our stockholders.

Our Board of Directors may use anti-takeover provisions or issue stock to discourage control contests.

Our Certificate of Incorporation authorizes us to issue up to 30.0 million shares of common stock and 5.0
million shares of undesignated Preferred Stock. Our Board of Directors may cause us to issue additional stock to
discourage an attempt to obtain control of the Company. For example, shares of stock could be sold to purchasers
who might support the Board of Directors in a control contest or to dilute the voting or other rights of a person
seeking to obtain control. In addition, the Board of Directors could cause us to issue Preferred Stock entitling
holders to:

e vote separately on any proposed transaction;

e convert preferred stock into common stock;

e demand redemption at a specified price in connection with a change in control; or
e exercise other rights designed to impede a takeover.

In addition, the issuance of additional shares may, among other things, dilute the earnings and equity per
share of our common stock and the voting rights of common stockholders.
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We have implemented other anti-takeover provisions or provisions that could have an anti-takeover effect,
including (1) advance notice requirements for director nominations and stockholder proposals and (2) a
stockholder rights plan, also known as a “poison pill.” These provisions, and others that the Board of Directors
may adopt hereafter, may discourage offers to acquire us and may permit our Board of Directors to choose not to
entertain offers to purchase us, even if such offers include a substantial premium to the market price of our stock.
Therefore, our stockholders may be deprived of opportunities to profit from a sale of control.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

The Company received a comment letter from the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) on
December 5, 2005 related to Amedisys, Inc. Form 10-K for the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2004 and
Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2005. The Company and the SEC have one unresolved staff
comment and the Company is continuing to work with the SEC to provide additional information on this sole
remaining issue which has no impact on the Company’s previously reported current assets, net income, total net
cash flows, or changes in stockholders’ equity for any period presented.

In its 2004 Form 10-K filing, the Company recorded in its 2003 and 2002 Consolidated Statements of Cash
Flows approximately $6.3 million and $3.4 million, respectively, in repayments to Medicare in Cash Flows from
Financing Activities. The SEC has questioned whether these transactions should have been reflected as Cash
Flows from Operating Activities.

Should the Company be unsuccessful in providing sufficient information to the SEC regarding this
unresolved staff comment, the Company may be required to amend its 2005 and 2004 Form 10-K’s to restate its
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for 2003 and 2002.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

We own land and a building in Baton Rouge, Louisiana where we are constructing a corporate office and
anticipate that the property will be ready for occupancy in late 2006.

We lease the property for our 208 home care offices, 13 hospice offices and our current corporate offices.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time, we are defendants in lawsuits arising in the ordinary course of our business. Based on
current knowledge, we believe that the resolution of these matters will not have a material adverse effect on our
financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

Alliance Home Health, Inc. (“Alliance”), a wholly owned subsidiary (which was acquired in 1998 and
ceased operations in 1999), filed for Chapter 7 Federal bankruptcy protection with the United States Bankruptcy
Court in the Northern District of Oklahoma in September 2000. A trustee was appointed for Alliance in 2001.
The accompanying consolidated financial statements continue to include the net liabilities of Alliance of $4.2
million until the contingencies associated with the liabilities are resolved.

In 1999, we discovered questionable conduct involving the former owner of one of our agencies, which
occurred between 1994 and 1997. We voluntarily disclosed the irregularities to the Department of Health and
Human Services’ Office of the Inspector General (“OIG”) and on August 8, 2003, we signed both a Settlement
Agreement and a Corporate Integrity Agreement with the OIG and Department of Justice, providing for payment
of a financial settlement $1.2 million. The agreement is binding for a three-year period, requires that we maintain
our existing Compliance Program and provides for enhanced training requirements, annual claims audits of the
subject agency by an independent reviewer, and regular reporting to the OIG. It provides for stipulated penalties
in the event of our non-compliance, including the possibility of exclusion from the Medicare program. We
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believe that these obligations will not materially affect our operations, or financial performance, over the period
of the agreement, although no assurances can be provided that the ultimate cost will not be materially different.
Management believes we were in compliance with the Corporate Integrity Agreement at December 31, 2005.

In November 2002, we elected to terminate our asset financing facility with NPF VI. The decision to
terminate the facility was made in response to the failure of NPF VI to honor our request to remit $3.3 million in
funds being held on our behalf in accordance with the terms of the facility. At that date, we determined that an
amount of approximately $7.1 million was being held on behalf of us by NPF VI and, in response, engaged in
correspondence with representatives of NPF VI in an effort to have these funds returned. On November 2, 2002,
NPF VI declared bankruptcy and accordingly, we elected to reserve the amount of $7.1 million in the fourth
quarter of fiscal 2002. We are taking legal and other action to recover the funds that have not been released to us.
As of December 31, 2005, we had incurred total legal fees related to this matter of approximately $2.3 million,
and we may incur substantial additional legal expenses in the future in connection with this matter. There can be
no assurance that we will ultimately be successful in our efforts.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

No matters were submitted to a vote of our stockholders in the fourth quarter of 2005.
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PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information. Our common stock has been traded on the NASDAQ National Market (“NASDAQ”)
since April 2002. The following table sets forth the range of high and low sales prices for our common stock for
the periods indicated as reported on NASDAQ:

Price Range of
Common Stock

High Low

Year Ended December 31, 2005:

First Quarter ... ........ .ot $34.13  $27.58
Second QUarter .. ........... i 36.78 28.93
Third Quarter . .. ..ot 43.55 36.45
Fourth Quarter . ......... ... ... . e 46.69 33.46
Year Ended December 31, 2004:

First Quarter ... ...... ...ttt $24.95  $13.47
Second QUarter .. ........... i 33.57 23.01
Third Quarter . . . ... 33.06 23.07
Fourth Quarter . ......... ... ... . e 36.80 28.57

Holders. As of February 15, 2006, there were approximately 724 holders of record of our common stock.

Dividends. We have not declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock or any other of our
securities and do not expect to pay cash dividends for the foreseeable future. We currently intend to retain our
future earnings, if any, to fund the development and growth of our business. Our future decisions concerning the
payment of dividends will depend upon our results of operations, financial condition and capital expenditure
plans, as well as such other factors as the board of directors, in its sole discretion, may consider relevant. In
addition, our existing indebtedness restricts, and we anticipate our future indebtedness may restrict, our ability to
pay dividends.

Equity Compensation Plan Information:

(©)

(a) Number of securities
Number of securities to be (b) remaining available for future
issued upon exercise of Weighted average exercise issuance under equity
outstanding options, price of outstanding options, compensation plans (excluding
Plan Category warrants, and rights warrants and rights securities reflected in column (a))
Equity compensation plans
approved by security
stockholders .. ........... 1,086,274 $21.32 411,612

We do no maintain any equity compensation plans that were not approved by our shareholders.

23



ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The selected consolidated financial data presented below is derived from audited financial statements for
each of the years ended December 31, 2001 through December 31, 2005. It should be read in conjunction with
the consolidated financial statements and related notes attached hereto, the information set forth under
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation” and other financial
information that is included as a part of this filing.

2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
(Dollar amounts in thousands, except per share data)

Statement of Operations Data:

Net SEIVICE TEVENUE . .. v v v et e e e e $381,558 $227,089 $142,473 $129,424 $110,174
Cost of service revenue (excluding amortization and

depreciation) .. ......... ... i, 163,032 96,078 58,554 58,244 49,046
GroSs Margin . ............oeueueeninenennen... 218,526 131,011 83,919 71,180 61,128
General and administrative expenses . ............. 168,424 97,633 69,581 64,700 53,665
Operating inCome . . ... ...vovtennenenennenen .. 50,102 33,378 14,338 6,480 7,463
Other expense, Net .. ...........oeuineneenen .. (1,362) (19) (711) (9,013) 2,167)
Income tax (expense) benefit .................... (18,638) (12,855) (5,220) 3,285 (220)
Income from continuing operations ............... $ 30,102 $ 20,504 $ 8407 $ 752 $ 5,076
Income from continuing operations per diluted

share ........ ... $ 18 $ 151 $ 083 $ 008 $ 0.68

2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
(In thousands)

Balance Sheet Data:
Total CUrrent assets . . .. oo v v e e $ 92,340 $118,890 $ 49,596 §$ 23,223 $ 28,263
Total assets . ... vv i 339,997 199,733 92,473 58,959 60,854
Total current liabilities .. ....................... 99,955 41,976 34,018 31,755 46,623
Total long-term obligations ..................... 47,443 9,284 7,056 10,241 10,856
Total stockholders’ equity ...................... 192,599 148,473 51,399 16,963 3,309
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements
and the related notes included elsewhere in this Report and with the Risk Factors. The discussion contains
forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. For a detailed discussion on this topic, refer to
our opening comments at the beginning of this Form 10-K.

Critical Accounting Policies

Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based upon our
consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments
that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and related disclosures of contingent
assets and liabilities. On an on-going basis, we evaluate our estimates, including those related to revenue
recognition, collectibility of accounts receivable, reserves related to insurance and litigation, intangible assets and
contingencies. We base our estimates on our historical experience and various other assumptions that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments
about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results
may vary from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

We believe the following critical accounting policies affect our significant judgments and estimates used in
the preparation of our consolidated financial statements.

Principles of Consolidation

The Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of Amedisys, Inc. and our wholly owned
subsidiaries. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in these consolidated
financial statements. Business combinations accounted for as purchases are included in the Consolidated
Financial Statements from the respective dates of acquisition.

Revenues

We earn revenues through our home health care and hospice agencies by providing a variety of services in
the homes of our patients. We are dependent on reimbursement from Medicare for a significant portion of our
revenues. We derived approximately 93% of our net service revenue from the Medicare system and the
remaining 7% from Medicaid, private insurance companies and private payors for each of the years ended
December 31, 2005 and 2004.
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Medicare Revenue Recognition

On October 1, 2000, Medicare began paying providers of home health care at fixed, predetermined rates for
services and supplies bundled into 60-day episodes of home health care. An episode of home health care spans a
60-day period, starting with the first day a billable visit is furnished to a Medicare beneficiary and ending 60 days
later. If a patient is still in treatment on the 60th day a new episode begins on the 61st day regardless of whether a
billable visit is rendered on that day and ends 60 days later. The first day of a consecutive episode, therefore, is
not necessarily the new episode’s first billable visit. A base episode payment is established by the Medicare
Program through federal legislation for all episodes of care ended on or after the applicable time periods detailed
below:

Base episode

Period payment (1)
October 1, 2002 through September 30,2003 .. ....... ... ... .. ... .. .... $2.159
October 1, 2003 through March 31,2004 .. ..... ... ... .. . . .. 2,231
April 1, 2004 through December 31,2004 . ...... ... ... ... .. ... .. ... 2,213
January 1, 2005 through December 31,2006 ............ ... .. ... ...... 2,264

(1) The actual episode payment rates, as presented in the table vary, depending on the home health resource
groups (“HHRGs”) to which Medicare patients are assigned and the per episode payment is typically
reduced or increased by such factors as the patient’s clinical, functional, and services utilization
characteristics.

Under the Prospective Payment System (“PPS”) for Medicare reimbursement, net revenues are recorded
based on a reimbursement rate that varies based on the severity of the patient’s condition, service needs and other
factors. Net revenues are recorded as services are rendered to patients over the 60-day episode period. At the end
of each month, a portion of our revenue is estimated for episodes in progress.

Medicare reimbursement, on an episodic basis, is subject to adjustment if there are significant changes in the
patient’s condition during the treatment period or if the patient is discharged but readmitted to another agency
within the same 60-day episodic period. Revenue recognition under the Medicare reimbursement program is
based on certain variables including, but not limited, to: (i) changes in the base episode payments established by
the Medicare Program; (ii) adjustments to the base episode payments for partial episodes and for other factors,
such as case mix, geographic wages, low utilization and intervening events; and, (iii) recoveries of
overpayments. Adjustments to revenue result from differences between estimated and actual reimbursement
amounts, an inability to obtain appropriate billing documentation or authorizations acceptable to the payor and
other reasons unrelated to credit risk.

Revenue recognition for episodes in progress is estimated based upon historical trends. We continuously
compare the estimated Medicare reimbursement amounts recorded to the actual Medicare reimbursement
received. Historically, any difference between estimated amounts recorded and actual amounts received from
Medicare has been immaterial. Management believes based on information available and our judgment that
changes to one or more of the factors that impact the accounting estimate, which are reasonably likely to occur
from period to period, will not materially impact either our reported financial results, our liquidity or our future
financial results.

The main impact would be current legislation impacting our reimbursement rates. We are currently unaware
of any such proposals.

Deferred revenue of approximately $26.9 million and $14.9 million relating to the Medicare PPS program
was included as a reduction to our accounts receivable in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,
2005 and December 31, 2004, respectively, since only a nominal amount of deferred revenue represents cash
collected in advance of providing services.
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Hospice Revenue Recognition

Hospice is generally billed to Medicare weekly for discharged patients and monthly for ongoing care. Each
hospice provider is subject to payment caps for inpatient services, and the cap is based on inpatient days which
cannot exceed 20% of all Medicare hospice days.

Overall Medicare reimbursement is also subject to a cap amount calculated by the Medicare fiscal
intermediary at the end of each hospice cap period. On a monthly and quarterly basis, we estimate our potential
cap exposure using information available for both inpatient day limits as well as per beneficiary cap amounts.
The total cap amount for each provider is calculated by multiplying the number of beneficiaries electing hospice
care during the period by a statutory amount that is indexed for inflation. The per beneficiary cap amount was
$19,778 and $19,636 for the twelve month periods ending October 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Any
amounts received in excess of the per beneficiary cap must be refunded to Medicare within fifteen days.

We have settled all years through October 31, 2004 without exceeding any of the cap limits and we believe
that, based upon our calculations and historical experience, we have not exceeded any of the cap limits and will
have no amounts due the fiscal intermediary for the cap period ending October 31, 2005, which is expected to be
settled in the second quarter of 2006.

Management believes that changes to one or more of the factors that impact the accounting estimate for
hospice revenue, which are reasonably likely to occur from period to period, will not materially impact either our
reported financial results, our liquidity or our future financial results.

Medicaid Revenue Recognition

Medicaid, a program jointly funded by federal, state, and local governmental health care programs, is
designed to pay for certain health care and medical services provided to low income individuals without regard to
age. Revenue is recognized ratably over the period in which services are provided.

Private Insurance Companies and Private Payor Revenue Recognition

We have entered into agreements with third party payors that provide payments for services rendered at
amounts different from established rates. Gross revenue is recorded on an accrual basis based upon the date of
service at amounts equal to our established rates or estimated reimbursement rates, as applicable. Allowances and
contractual adjustments are recorded for the difference between the established rates and the amounts estimated
to be payable by third parties and are deducted from gross revenue to determine net service revenue. Net service
revenue is the estimated net amounts realizable from patients, third party payors and others for services rendered,
including estimated retroactive adjustments under reimbursement agreements. Revenue is recorded as services
are rendered and is based upon discounts from established rates. We receive less than one percent of our net
revenues from private payors and self-pay patients.

Collectibility of Accounts Receivable

In the year ended December 31, 2005, our accounts receivable increased, net of the allowance for doubtful
accounts, to $68.1 million from $24.5 million at December 31, 2004. This increase, which also resulted in an
increase to our days revenue outstanding, was due to the increases in net service revenue primarily as a result of
both internal growth and acquisitions and to delays in billing associated with our acquisitions, particularly with
respect to our hospice acquisitions.

As a result of the significant acquisitions in the latter half of 2005, our net revenues increased to $231.1
million from $122.8 million for the period July 1 to December 31 for the years ended 2005 and 2004,
respectively, which also accounts for the accounts receivable growth.

We have experienced an increase in days revenue outstanding that primarily related to conversion issues
surrounding our Housecall acquisition including conforming billing processes and procedures. In addition, we
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experienced delays in having the change of ownership from our Spectracare acquisition recognized by Medicare
which has resulted in delays of our ability to receive reimbursement for services provided. Finally, our hospice
reimbursement, which is now a larger portion of our outstanding accounts receivable, is generally subject to
slower cash realization in comparison to our home health agencies.

The following schedule details our accounts receivable by payor class (dollars in thousands):

Current 31-60 61-90 91-120  Over 120 Total

December 31, 2005

Medicare (1) . ... $10,112 $17,894 $11,541 $5,581 $11,608 $ 56,736
Medicaid . ............ i 1,528 1,467 1,468 746 2,433 7,642
Private ........... ... ... . .. ... 3,537 1,284 1,222 1,090 9,015 16,148
Total ... $15,177 $20,645 $14,231 $7.417 $23,056 80,526
Allowance for doubtful accounts ............ (12,387)
Net accounts receivable ................... $ 68,139
Days revenue outstanding (2) .............. 62.3 Days
December 31, 2004

Medicare (1) . ... $ 940 $ 7,317 $ 7456 $3219 $ 2,578 $ 21,510
Medicaid .. .......... . 345 166 152 177 722 1,562
Private ......... .. ... . ... .. 1,243 700 543 320 2,351 5,157
Total ... $ 2,528 $ 8,183 $ 8,151 $3,716 $ 5,651 28,229
Allowance for doubtful accounts ............ 3,751)
Net accounts receivable . .................. $ 24478
Days revenue outstanding (2) . ............. 40.3 Days

(1) There was $5.1 million and $2.5 million pending approval of the Change of Ownership by the Center for
Medicare Services (“CMS”) as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. We believe all amounts to be
collectible.

(2) Due to our significant acquisitions and our internal growth, our calculation for days revenue outstanding is
derived by dividing the ending gross accounts receivables at December 31, 2005 and 2004 by the average
daily net patient revenues for the three-month periods ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

The process for estimating the ultimate collectibility of accounts receivable involves judgment, with the
greatest subjectivity relating to non-Medicare accounts receivable. We currently record an allowance for
uncollectible accounts on a percentage of earned revenue basis unless a specific issue is noted, at which time an
adjustment to the allowance may be recorded. The percentage of revenue that we reserve is significantly higher
for Medicaid, private insurance and self-pay patients than for Medicare and is based upon historical collection
experience.

Our collection process begins with a concerted effort to ensure that our billing is accurate. We derived
approximately 93% of our net service revenue from the Medicare system for each of the years ended
December 31, 2005 and 2004 with a 99% cash collection realization on Medicare receivables. Our pre-billing
process includes an electronic Medicare claim review referred to as a scrubber to improve the quality of filed
claims data in an effort to reduce the volume of collection effort on these accounts. Non-Medicare accounts are
billed based upon payor requirements and include multiple third party payors. We routinely perform pre-billing
reviews to improve the quality of filed claims and have installed multiple checkpoints when claims are not
processed timely. For 2005, our self-pay revenue represented less than 2% of our non-Medicare revenue and
approximately .01% of our total revenue and is considered immaterial. For non-Medicare third party payors and
for self-pay, if payment has not been received within prescribed periods, collection personnel contact payors to

28



determine why payment has not been made and claims are resubmitted if necessary. Collections personnel also
bill patients for any co-payments and make a good faith effort to collect these amounts. There are a very small
number of contracts that require a patient co-payment. If a claim has been denied, an appeal is filed with the
payor. If, through individual review of accounts, it is determined that all efforts have been exhausted a write-off
is generated. We have historically elected not to litigate uncollected self-pay amounts but may do so in the future.
We have authorizations required to initiate and post these write offs to our system. Accounts are written off
against the allowance only when all collection efforts have been exhausted and such determination may take up
to 48 months.

Insurance

We are obligated for certain costs under various insurance programs, including workers’ compensation,
employee health and welfare and professional liability, and while we maintain various insurance programs to
cover these risks, we are self-insured for a substantial portion of our potential claims. We recognize our
obligations associated with these costs in the period in which a claim is incurred, including with respect to both
reported claims and claims incurred but not reported, up to specified deductible limits. We have engaged an
independent actuarial firm to assist us in the quantification of losses associated with our incurred but not reported
claims. Such estimates, and the resulting reserves, are reviewed and updated on a quarterly basis.

Our worker compensation plan has a $250,000 deductible per claim, and we have elected to either fund our
carrier with a letter of credit or a deposit for the purpose of guaranteeing the payment of claims. Our deposits
may be depleting or non-depleting. A depleting deposit allows the carrier to draw upon the funds in order to pay
the claims. Where we have provided a non-depleting deposit, the carrier invoices us each month for
reimbursement of claims that they have paid. For carriers funded by a letter of credit and carriers where our
deposit is deemed not sufficient to satisfy our total estimated obligation, we record an accrued liability for the
portion of the estimated obligation that exceeds the amount of cash held by the carrier. For the years ended
December 31, 2005 and 2004, deposits on hand at the carriers net of claims already paid was $9.0 million and
$3.4 million respectively and outstanding letters of credit that totaled $0.1 million and $0.2 million, respectively.
In addition, for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, our accrual for estimated liabilities was $8.4
million and $2.7 million, respectively. The increases were primarily the result of our acquisitions.

We are self-insured for health claims up to contractual policy limits. Claims in excess of $125,000 per
incident are insured by third party reinsurers. We had accrued a liability of approximately $2.5 million and $1.9
million at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively, for both outstanding and incurred but not reported claims
based on historical experience.

We maintain professional liability insurance coverage for medical malpractice with aggregate annual limits
of $3.0 million and a deductible of $100,000 per occurrence. Effective August 2005, we increased the limits on
our excess liability policy, which has a $50,000 deductible, to $10.0 million from $5.0 million.

We maintain directors’ and officers’ insurance and effective July 2005, increased our annual aggregate
limits to $15.0 million from $10.0 million.

In the case of potential liability with respect to professional liability, employment and other matters where
litigation may be involved, or where no insurance coverage is available, our policy is to use advice from both
internal and external counsel as to the likelihood and amount of any potential cost. Such estimates, and the
resulting reserves, are reviewed and updated on a quarterly basis. We maintained reserves for all legal claims
including an amount for professional liability claims incurred but not yet reported of $1.5 million and $1.8
million at December 31, 2005 and December 31, 2004, respectively.

While we believe that our present insurance coverage and reserves are sufficient to cover currently
estimated exposures, there can be no assurance that we will not incur liabilities in excess of recorded reserves or
in excess of our insurance limits.
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Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

We perform impairment tests of goodwill and indefinite lived assets as required by Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. The impairment analysis
requires numerous subjective assumptions and estimates to determine fair value of the respective reporting units
as required by SFAS No. 142. As of December 31, 2005, we completed our quarterly impairment review and
determined that no impairment charge was required. Depending on level of sales, our liquidity and other factors,
we may be required to recognize impairment charges in the future.

Income Taxes

We use the asset and liability approach to measuring deferred tax assets and liabilities based on temporary
differences existing at each balance sheet date using currently enacted tax rates in accordance with SFAS 109,
Accounting for Income Taxes. Our deferred tax calculation requires us to make certain estimates about future
operations. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance when, in our opinion, it is more likely than
not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The effect of a change in tax rate is
recognized as income or expense in the period that includes the enactment date.

Medicare Settlement Issues

Prior to October 1, 2000, reimbursement of Medicare home care nursing services was based on reasonable,
allowable costs incurred in providing services to eligible beneficiaries subject to both per visit and per
beneficiary limits in accordance with the Interim Payment System established through the Balanced Budget Act
of 1997. These costs were reported in annual cost reports that were filed with the CMS and were subject to audit
by the fiscal intermediary engaged by CMS. The fiscal intermediary has not finalized its audit of the fiscal 2000
cost reports. Furthermore, settled cost reports relating to certain years prior to fiscal 2000 could be subject to
reopening of the audit process by the fiscal intermediary. Included in our reserves is an obligation of a wholly
owned subsidiary that is currently in bankruptcy, and it is not clear whether we will have any responsibility for
that amount if the debt of the subsidiary is discharged in bankruptcy. Although we believe that established
reserves are sufficient, it is possible that adjustments resulting from such audits and the final resolution of our
potential obligation related to the bankruptcy could result in adjustments to our consolidated financial statements
that are different from our established reserves.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued FASB Statement No. 123
(revised 2004) (“SFAS 123R”), Share-Based Payment, which is a revision of FASB Statement No. 123,
Accounting for Stock Based Compensation. SFAS 123R supersedes Accounting Principles Bulletin (“APB”)
No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees and amends FASB Statement No. 95, Statement of Cash
Flows. The Company is required to adopt Statement 123R on January 1, 2006 using the modified prospective
method. Upon adoption, two transition methods are available. Under the modified-prospective method,
companies will be required to apply the provisions of SFAS 123R to all share-based payments that are granted,
modified or settled after the date of adoption. Under the modified-retrospective transition method, companies
may restate prior periods by recognizing compensation cost in the amounts previously reported in the pro-forma
footnote disclosures required by SFAS 123. New awards and unvested awards would be accounted for in the
same manner as the modified-prospective method. The Company plans to reflect the adoption of SFAS 123R in
the interim consolidated financial statements for the first quarter of 2006 using the modified prospective method
of application. Based upon our initial analysis, we do not believe that the adoption of this pronouncement will
have a material impact on our future operating results.

Overview

We are a multi-state provider of home health care and hospice services. As of December 31, 2005, we
operated 208 Medicare-certified home health agencies and 13 Medicare-certified hospice agencies in 16 states
primarily located in the southern and southeastern United States. We are highly dependent on our relationship
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with Medicare and a material portion of our business is subject to the government regulation of Medicare. We
derived approximately 93% of our net service revenue from the Medicare system and the remaining 7% from
Medicaid, private insurance companies and private payors for each of the years ended December 31, 2005 and
2004.

Recent Developments

We added, after giving consideration to the merger of existing locations, a net total of 75 home health care
agencies and 9 hospice offices through a series of acquisitions in 2005. We also opened 25 new home health care
agencies and 2 new hospice offices. We refer to the opening of new locations as start-ups. We funded our
acquisitions through the issuance of a $75.0 million senior credit facility comprised of a $50.0 million five year
term loan and a $25.0 million revolver loan (“revolver”), $4.1 million in promissory notes and working capital
generated by our operating activities. As of December 31, 2005, we had full availability of our revolver, owed
$47.5 million on our term loan and were in compliance with all of the covenants of our senior credit facility.

On January 5, 2006, we acquired certain assets of seven home health agencies in central Oklahoma for a
total purchase price of $2.7 million that included $2.1 million in cash and a three-year promissory note of $0.6
million. On January 5, 2006, we also acquired an Oklahoma based therapy staffing agency for a total purchase
price of $2.5 million that included $1.75 million in cash and a three-year promissory note of $0.75 million. These
agencies are not included in the results of our 2005 operations or in the number of acquisitions that we acquired
in 2005.

Each of the following acquisitions was completed in order to pursue our strategy of achieving market
prominence in the southern and southeastern United States by expanding our service base and enhancing our
position in certain geographic areas as a leading provider of home health nursing services. The purchase price of
each acquisition was determined based on our analysis of comparable acquisitions and expected cash flows.
Goodwill generated from the acquisitions was recognized given the expected contributions of each acquisition to
the overall corporate strategy and is fully tax deductible. Each of the acquisitions completed was accounted for as
a purchase and are included in our financial statements from the respective acquisition date.

Summary of 2005 Acquisitions

In November 2005, we acquired certain assets and certain liabilities of a single home health agency in
Lexington, North Carolina for $2.2 million in cash. In connection with the acquisition, we recorded substantially
the entire purchase price as goodwill ($1.9 million) and other intangibles ($0.3 million) in the fourth quarter of
2005.

In August 2005, we acquired certain assets and certain liabilities of SpectraCare, a home health provider
with nine agencies in Ohio, Indiana and the CON states of Kentucky and Tennessee, for $13 million in cash. As a
part of the purchase agreement, $2.0 million of the total purchase price was placed in escrow for a period up to
two years and $750,000 of the total purchase price was contingent upon the achievement of certain milestones.
As of December 31, 2005, we had asserted no claims against the escrow and none of the milestones had been
achieved. We recorded substantially all of the purchase price as goodwill ($12.0 million) and other intangibles
($1.5 million).

In August 2005, we acquired certain assets and certain liabilities of NCARE, Inc., a home health provider
with two agencies in Newport News and Chesapeake, Virginia, for $1.5 million in cash and the issuance of a $0.7
million note payable to the seller. We recorded substantially all of the purchase price as goodwill ($2 million)
and other intangibles ($0.2 million) in the third quarter of 2005.

In July 2005, we acquired the stock of HMR Acquisition, Inc., the parent holding company of Housecall
Medical Resources, Inc. (“Housecall”), a privately-held provider of home care services with 57 home health
agencies and nine hospice agencies in the states of Tennessee, Florida, Kentucky, Indiana and Virginia for a total
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purchase price of approximately $106.8 million, of which $11.0 million was placed in escrow. We have notified
the previous owners of approximately $1.1 million in claims related to potential Medicare liabilities that we may
pursue against escrowed funds, but no definitive settlement has been reached. The acquisition was completed on
July 11, 2005, and we incurred approximately $1.8 million in closing costs associated with the acquisition. The
aggregate purchase price was allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based upon a preliminary
estimate of their fair values as determined by a valuation performed by an independent national firm. We
anticipate that the valuation will be finalized during the first quarter of 2006. The excess of the purchase price
over the fair value of the net identifiable tangible and intangible assets was allocated to goodwill. Our goodwill
as recognized is the excess of purchase price over the fair value of the identifiable net tangible and intangible
assets acquired at the date of acquisition. We believe that the acquisition provides a market presence
complementary to existing geographic markets for our home health business as well as establishing a meaningful
entry into the hospice business with an assembled work force which is included as a component of goodwill. The
following table summarizes the estimated fair values of the Housecall assets acquired and liabilities assumed in
July 2005. The allocation of the purchase price is subject to refinement based upon finalization of the valuation.

Accounts receivable, et .. ... ... $ 14,137
Property and equipment . ......... .. ... .. 1,674
GoodWill . ..o 96,579
Intangible asSets . .. ... ..ottt 3,526
Deferred taxes .. ...t 10,139
Other ASSEES . ot vttt 6,455
Current Habilities .. ... ..o i (19,742)
Long-term obligations .. ....... ... .ttt (4,209)
$108,559

The following table contains pro forma consolidated income statement information as if the Housecall
transaction occurred January 1, 2004 (Dollar amounts in thousands except per share data):

2005 2004
NEL SEIVICE TEVENUE . . . v v v e et e e e e e e e e e e e $435,164  $330,431
Operating iNCoOME . . . .« ottt ettt et e e e e e 53,125 34,841
NEtINCOME ...ttt e e e 28,584 12,493
Basic earnings pershare ......... ... ... ... . i 1.83 0.96
Diluted earnings pershare . ............. .. .. i 1.79 0.92

The pro forma information presented above is presented for illustrative purposes only and may not be
indicative of the results of operations that would have actually occurred if the transaction described had occurred
as presented. In addition, future results may vary significantly from the results reflected in such information.

In June 2005, we acquired certain assets and certain liabilities of two Tennessee-based home health agencies
from Saint Thomas Health Services for $3.0 million in cash and the issuance of a $0.5 million note payable to the
seller. We recorded substantially the entire purchase price as goodwill ($2.8 million) and other intangibles ($0.6
million) in the second quarter of 2005.

In May 2005, we entered into an agreement to purchase certain assets and certain liabilities of a single home
health agency in Collins, Mississippi from Covington County Hospital for $1.0 million in cash. We recorded
substantially all of the purchase price as goodwill ($0.8 million) and other intangible assets ($0.2 million) in the
second quarter of 2005.

In March 2005, we acquired certain assets and certain liabilities of a single home health agency from the
North Arundel Hospital Association in Maryland for $3.0 million in cash and the issuance of a $0.9 million note
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payable to the seller. In connection with the acquisition, we recorded substantially all of the purchase price as
goodwill ($3.5 million) and other intangibles ($0.4 million) in the first quarter of 2005.

In February 2005, we purchased certain assets and certain liabilities of 10 home health agencies from
several affiliated companies operating as Winyah Health Care Group in South Carolina for $13.0 million in cash,
50,744 shares of Amedisys restricted stock valued at $1.5 million, and the issuance of a $2.0 million note payable
to the seller. In connection with the acquisition, we recorded substantially all of the purchase price as goodwill
($14.0 million) and other intangibles ($2.2 million) in the first quarter of 2005.

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, certain items included in our Consolidated Income
Statement as a percentage of our net service revenue:

2005 2004 2003

(In percentages)

NEt SEIVICE TEVEIUEC . . . o\ vttt ettt e e et e et e e e e e e e 100.00 100.00 100.00
Cost of service revenue (excluding amortization and depreciation) ............... 4273 4231  41.10
GroSS MArZIN . ..ottt et et e et e e e e e 57.27 57.69  58.90
General and administrative expenses:

Salaries and benefits .. ........ ... . . L 2450 25.06  28.95
Other ... 19.64 17.93 19.88
Total general and administrative Xpenses . .............c.ouveuineneenenen... 44.14 4299 48.83
OPerating iNCOIME . . .« . vt vttt et ettt et e et et e e e e e 13.13 1470 10.07
Other eXPense, NEL . . ... .v ittt et et e e e e e e e (0.36) — (0.50)
Income before income taX EXPense ... .......c.ouuuminenenneneneneenenen... 12.77  14.70 9.57
INCOME tAX EXPEISE . o . vt vttt et ettt e e e e e et e e 4.88 5.67 3.66
NEtInCOmME .. ... o 7.89 9.03 591

Years Ended December 31, 2005 and 2004
Net Service Revenue

We derived approximately 92.8% of our net service revenue for the year ended December 31, 2005 from
Medicare as compared to 92.6% for the year ended December 31, 2004 which is considered comparable.

Net service revenue increased $154.5 million, or 68.0% for the twelve months ended December 31, 20053, as
compared to the same period in 2004. This increase is due to a 68.3% increase in Medicare revenue of $143.4
million, and a 64.4% increase in revenue from non-Medicare payors of $10.8 million. Of the 68.3% increase in
Medicare revenue, $16.1 million is attributable to the hospice business. Of the remaining $127.3 million balance
of this increase, $60.1 million is attributable to acquisitions completed after January 1, 2005 with the exception
of the hospice revenue mentioned above The remaining $67.2 million reflects increases in Medicare patient
admissions.

Total patient admissions for the year ended December 31, 2005 totaled 99,642 and increased from the prior
year admissions by 61.5%. Medicare patient admissions increased to 80,708, representing an increase of
approximately 57.1% over the twelve months ended December 31, 2004.

The 57.1% increase in Medicare admissions for the most recent yearly comparative period is comprised of
internal growth in admissions of 18.5% with acquisitions contributing growth of approximately 38.6%. In 2005,

we defined internal growth to include growth from operating locations owned by us for more than twelve
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months, any start up locations initiated and from those acquisitions where the monthly Medicare admissions at
the acquired locations did not exceed 30 of our total admissions in the month of acquisition. Internal growth of
18.5%, including growth from new locations, arises from a combination of enhanced effectiveness of the sales
force, increased size of the sales force, the introduction of additional disease management programs, and ongoing
referral source education efforts. Admissions from non-Medicare payors increased by 83.4% to 18,972 in the
twelve months ended December 31, 2005 from 10,344 in the same period in 2004, primarily as a result of
acquisitions.

Cost of Service Revenue

Cost of service revenue for the twelve months ended December 31, 2005 increased by $67.0 million, or
69.7%, as compared to the same period in 2004. Of this increase, $8.7 million is attributable to the hospice
business. The balance of the increase, $58.3 million, is attributable to an increase of approximately 0.8 million
home health care visits in 2005 to a total of approximately 1.5 million, representing a 55.9% increase over the
prior year and by a 4.3% increase in the cost per visit. The number of visits increased by 55.9% as a result of a
65.0% increase in visits for non-Medicare patients and a 54.8% increase in the number of visits to Medicare
patients. This increase in the number of visits to Medicare patients is due to an increase in the average number of
patients on service at month end during the most recent year of approximately 17,357 when compared with
approximately 10,876 in the comparable period of 2004. The 4.3% increase in the cost per visit is attributable to
higher rates of pay and benefits for visiting staff, including those at the acquired locations. Typically, our
acquisitions take up to 12 months to reach the labor efficiencies of existing operations.

Excluding the hospice business, cost of service revenue as a percent of net service revenue, increased
approximately 0.1%, in large part due to the increased cost per visit as described above.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses increased by $70.8 million, or 72.5%, in the year ended December 31,
2005, as compared to 2004. This increase is primarily attributable to $35.6 million of general and administrative
expenses incurred by our acquisitions finalized since January 1, 2005. The remaining balance of $35.2 million
includes: increased personnel costs of $14.9 million related to additional operational and corporate staff
necessitated by our internal growth and acquisitions; other increases of $7.8 million, including increases with
respect to supplies, rent, and professional fees; a $2.4 million increase in depreciation and amortization, primarily
as a result of higher amortization associated with intangible assets attributable to the acquisitions; and an increase
in travel and related costs of $5.5 million, particularly with respect to operational and corporate training meetings
and new employee orientation sessions undertaken for all employees.

As a percentage of net service revenue, general and administrative expenses increased 1% to 44% in 2005
from 43% in 2004.

Operating Income

We had operating income of $50.1 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2005, as compared
with $33.4 million in the same period of 2004. This increase is attributable to internal growth, acquisitions and
the operational efficiencies.

Other Income and Expense, Net

Net other expense increased to $1.4 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2005 as compared to
$19,000 in 2004. This increase in net other income and expense is primarily attributable to a $2.4 million current
year increase in interest expense due to increased levels of debt offset by a $0.9 million increase in interest
income from increased levels of cash and cash equivalents and a $0.1 increase in miscellaneous expense.

34



Income Tax Expense

Income tax expense of $18.6 million and $12.9 million was recorded for the twelve months ended
December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. An effective income tax rate of approximately 38.24% and 38.5%
was recorded for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Years Ended December 31, 2004 and 2003
Net Service Revenue

Approximately 93% of our net service revenue for the year ended December 31, 2004 was derived from
Medicare, compared to 91% for the previous year. Included in the net service revenue is $4.0 million, or 2% of
total net service revenue, for services provided by our hospice business acquired in the second quarter of 2004
from Tenet Healthcare.

With respect to the home health nursing operations, we are paid by Medicare based on completed episodes
of care. An episode of care may arise from either a new admission, or by a physician ordering additional episodes
of care for an existing patient. For each episode of care, we receive the applicable amount for each patient’s
diagnoses, location and severity of illness, we are generally paid on a per visit basis for each patient admission.

Net service revenue increased $84.6 million, or 59%, for the twelve months ended December 31, 2004, as
compared to the same period in 2003. This increase is due to a 62% increase in Medicare revenue of $80.3
million, and a 34% increase in revenue from non-Medicare payors of $4.3 million. Of the 62% increase in
Medicare revenue, $3.0 million is attributable to the hospice business. Of the remaining $77.3 million balance of
this increase, $31.5 million is attributable to acquisitions completed after January 1, 2003 with the exception of
the hospice revenue mentioned above. The remaining $45.8 million reflects increases in Medicare patient
admissions and a 4% improvement in revenue per episode. Substantially all of the 4% improvement in revenue
per episode is due to internal improvements and analysis of episodes of care. In the fourth quarter of 2004, we
determined that amounts previously reserved against revenue in 2001 and 2003 ($0.6 million and $0.5 million,
respectively) were no longer necessary as a consequence of consistent application of our revenue recognition
policy, the conversion of all Metro locations, acquired in August 2003, to our systems, and the commencement of
appropriate billing procedures for our hospice acquisitions. The reversal of these reserves increased net service
revenues by $1.1 million in the fourth quarter of 2004.

Total patient admissions for the year ended December 31, 2004 totaled 61,700 and increased from the prior
year admissions by 43%. Medicare patient admissions increased to 51,400, representing an increase of
approximately 48% over the twelve months ended December 31, 2003.

The 48% increase in Medicare admissions for the most recent yearly comparative period is comprised of
internal growth in admissions of 28% with acquisitions contributing growth of approximately 20%. We define
internal growth to include growth from operating locations owned by us for more than twelve months, any start
up locations initiated and from those acquisitions where the monthly Medicare admissions at the acquired
locations does not exceed 1% of our total admissions in the month of acquisition. Internal growth of 28%,
including growth from new locations, arises from a combination of enhanced effectiveness of the sales force,
increased size of the sales force, the introduction of additional disease management programs, and ongoing
referral source education efforts. Admissions from non-Medicare payors increased by 25% from 8,300 in the
twelve months ended December 31, 2003 to 10,300 in the same period in 2004, primarily as a result of
acquisitions.

Cost of Service Revenue

Cost of service revenue for the twelve months ended December 31, 2004 increased by $37.5 million, or
64%, as compared to the same period in 2003. Of this increase, $3.1 million is attributable to the hospice
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business. The balance of the increase, $34.4 million, is attributable to a 44% increase in the total number of home
health visits performed to 1,514,000 visits, and by a 10% increase in the cost per visit. The number of visits
increased by 44% as a result of a 19% increase in visits for non-Medicare patients and a 48% increase in the
number of visits to Medicare patients. This increase in the number of visits to Medicare patients is due to an
increase in the average number of patients on service at month end during the most recent year of approximately
10,876 when compared with approximately 7,129 in the comparable period of 2003. The 10% increase in the cost
per visit is attributable to higher rates of pay and benefits for visiting staff, including those at the acquired
locations, and an increase of approximately 6% in the rate of reimbursement per visit for mileage. Typically, our
acquisitions take up to 12 months to reach the labor efficiencies of existing operations.

Excluding the hospice business, cost of service revenue as a percent of net service revenue, increased 0.6%,
in large part due to the increased cost per visit as described above.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses increased by $28.1 million, or 40%, in the year ended December 31,
2004, as compared to 2003. This increase is primarily attributable to $14.2 million of general and administrative
expenses incurred by our acquisitions finalized since January 1, 2004. The remaining balance of $13.9 million
includes: increased personnel costs of $5.7 million related to additional operational and corporate staff
necessitated by our internal growth and acquisitions; other increases of $1.9 million, including increases with
respect to supplies, rent, and professional fees; a $0.8 million increase in depreciation and amortization, primarily
as a result of higher amortization associated with intangible assets attributable to the acquisitions; and an increase
in travel and related costs of $3.0 million, particularly with respect to operational and corporate training meetings
and new employee orientation sessions undertaken for all employees. In addition, severance costs of $0.5 million
pursuant to agreements reached with certain employees were accrued in the fourth quarter of 2004.

As a percentage of net service revenue, general and administrative expenses decreased 6% to 43% in 2004
from 49% in 2003.

Operating Income

We had operating income of $33.4 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2004, as compared
with $14.3 million in the same period of 2003. This increase is attributable to internal growth, acquisitions and
the operational efficiencies discussed above.

Other Income and Expense, net

Net other income and expense decreased to $19,000 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2004 as
compared to $711,000 in 2003. This decrease in net other income and expense is primarily attributable to a $0.8
million current year decrease in interest expense due to lower debt levels and a $0.5 million increase in interest
income from increased levels of cash and cash equivalents resulting from the current year third quarter equity
offering.

Income Tax Expense

Income tax expense of $12.9 million and $5.2 million was recorded for the twelve months ended
December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. An effective income tax rate of approximately 38.5% and 38.0% was
recorded for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

36



Liquidity and Capital Resources
Cash Flows

Operating Activities. Cash provided by operating activities was $43.5 million in 2005. This primarily
consisted of a net income of $30.1 million that was increased by $7.0 million in depreciation and amortization,
$5.1 million in bad debts, $7.4 million in deferred income taxes, $1.1 million in inventory write offs and $3.3
million in tax benefits related to stock options and partially offset by a decrease of $10.1 million in working
capital. A significant portion of our changes in working capital was acquisition related. Cash provided by
operations was $29.7 million and $22.1 million for 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Investing Activities. Cash used in investing activities was $132.7 million for 2005. This primarily consisted
of $144.5 million related to our acquisitions including Housecall and Spectracare and $20.4 million in the
purchase of capital assets. Cash used in investing activities was $67.0 million and $8.3 million for 2004 and
2003, respectively.

Financing Activities. Cash provided by financing activities was $48.7 million and primarily related to the
issuance of a five-year term loan under our senior credit facility that was used to finance a portion of our
acquisitions. Cash provided by financing activities was $65.7 million and $11.5 million for 2004 and 2003,
respectively.

Liquidity
As of December 31, 2005, we had $17.2 million in cash and cash equivalents and $53.2 million in
indebtedness related to our senior credit facility and promissory notes that we incurred primarily as a result of our

acquisitions, as discussed in Recent Developments. We have full availability of our $25.0 million revolver loan
and are in compliance with all of the covenants of our senior credit facility at December 31, 2005.

As of December 31, 2005, we had $0.1 million in outstanding letters of credit, related to our workers’
compensation insurance. In February 2006, we issued a letter of credit amounting to $2.5 million related to our
2006 workers’ compensation policy year.

In January, 2006, we acquired, in two separate transactions, seven home health agencies and a therapy
staffing agency for a total of $5.2 million that included a $0.5 million deposit paid in November 2005, $3.35
million in cash and $1.35 million in three-year promissory notes.

In July 2005, we completed the acquisition of Housecall and financed a portion of the purchase price through
the issuance of a $75 million senior credit facility, consisting of a $50 million five-year term loan and availability of
up to $25 million in a three-year revolver. We fully utilized our term loan along with $20 million of the revolver to
fund the Housecall acquisition and to pay in full and terminate an existing $15 million credit facility. Subsequently,
through working capital, we fully satisfied our outstanding $20 million obligation under our revolver. As of
December 31, 2005, we owed $47.5 million under our term loan, had availability under our revolver of $25 million
and were in compliance with all of our covenants under the credit facility. In February 2006, we amended our credit
facility to allow for $5.0 million in letters of credit in addition to our $25.0 million revolver.

In 2005, we purchased land and a building in Baton Rouge, Louisiana for $5.3 million that will be used to
consolidate our corporate offices. The estimated cost in 2006 for the refurbishment is $15 million with a
November 2006 anticipated completion date. Including the land and building, we incurred $20.4 million in
capital expenditures in 2005 as compared to $5.2 million in 2004.

As a result of Hurricanes Katrina, Rita and Wilma, the United States Congress passed two tax acts during
2005 intended to provide relief to those businesses affected by the hurricanes. Included is a provision that
provides for the deferral of all federal income and payroll tax filings and the extension of payment deadlines until
February 28, 2006. As of December 31, 2005, we owed approximately $1.2 million in state income taxes and
$18.8 million in payroll taxes that we have elected to defer until such time as it was due on February 28, 2006
and have reflected this amount as a current liability in our Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2005.
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Based on operating forecasts, we believe that we will have sufficient cash to fund our operations, debt
service and capital requirements over the next twelve months. However, our liquidity is dependent upon a
number of factors influencing forecasts of earnings and operating cash flows. These factors include patient
growth, attaining expected results from acquisitions, certain assumptions of our reimbursement by Medicare and
our ability to manage our operations based upon certain staffing formulas. Further we have certain other
contingencies and reserves, including litigation reserves, recorded as liabilities in our accompanying
Consolidated Balance Sheets that we may not be required to liquidate in cash during 2006. However, in the event
that all liabilities become due within twelve months, we may be required to limit our acquisition activities, utilize
our revolving credit facility, seek additional financing and/or sell operations on terms unfavorable to us.

Contractual Obligations and Medicare Liabilities

Our future contractual obligations related to long-term debt, capital lease obligations, and non-cancelable
operating leases at December 31, 2005 were as follows:

Payments due by period
Less than 1-3 4-5 After 5
Total 1 Year Years Years Years
(In thousands)

Term IOAN . . o oottt e e $47,500 $ 6,250 $33,750 $7.,500 $—
Promissory notes . ............. i 5,127 3,565 1,562 — —
Capital [eases . . .....vt vt e 626 329 297 — —
Operating 1eases . . . ...t 21,032 8,464 12,501 67 —
Medicare liabilities . ............... .. ... 10,551 10,551 — — —

$84,790 $29,159 $48,110 $7.567 $—

Medicare Liabilities: Prior to the implementation of PPS on October 1, 2000, we recorded Medicare revenue
at the lower of actual costs that considered the per visit cost limit or a per beneficiary cost limit on an individual
provider basis. Under the previous Medicare cost-based reimbursement system, ultimate reimbursement under
the Medicare program was determined upon final settlement of the annual cost reports. As of December 31,
2005, we estimate an aggregate payable to Medicare of $10.5 million for these cost reports for periods prior to
October 1, 2000 that have not been settled, all of which is reflected as a current liability. The corresponding
amount at December 31, 2004 was $9.3 million and the increase is solely related to liabilities assumed under
certain 2005 acquisitions. Included in our Medicare payable is a $3.1 million obligation of a subsidiary that is
being liquidated under bankruptcy. We continue to evaluate whether we will have any responsibility for the
payment of the $3.1 million if the debt of the subsidiary is discharged in bankruptcy, but have been unable to
arrive at a definitive determination.

NPF: In November 2002, we elected to terminate our asset financing facility with NPF VI. The decision to
terminate the facility was made in response to the failure of NPF VI to honor our request to remit $3.3 million in
funds being held on our behalf in accordance with the terms of the facility. At that date, we determined that an
amount of approximately $7.1 million was being held on behalf of us by NPF VI and, in response, engaged in
correspondence with representatives of NPF VI in an effort to have these funds returned. On November 2, 2002,
NPF VI declared bankruptcy and accordingly, we elected to reserve the amount of $7.1 million in the fourth
quarter of fiscal 2002. We are taking legal and other action to recover the funds that have not been released to us.
As of December 31, 2005, we had incurred total legal fees related to this matter of approximately $2.3 million,
and we may incur substantial additional legal expenses in the future in connection with this matter. There can be
no assurance that we will ultimately be successful in our efforts.

Inflation

We believe that inflation has not impaired, and will not impair, our results of operations.
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ITEM 7A.QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We do not engage in derivatives or other financial instruments for trading, speculative or hedging purposes,
though we may do so from time to time if such instruments are available to us on acceptable terms and prevailing
market conditions are accommodating. We have been subject to some interest rate risk on our senior secured
borrowings and could be subject to interest rate risk on any future floating rate financing.

Our primary interest rate risk exposures relate to (i) the interest rate on long-term borrowings; (ii) our ability
to refinance our debt at maturity at market rates; and (iii) the impact of interest rate movements on our ability to
meet interest expense requirements and financial covenants under its debt instruments.

Our variable rate debt consists of borrowings made under our $75.0 million credit agreement that consists of
a $25.0 million aggregate principal revolving loan commitment, of which $0 was outstanding as of December 31,
2005, and a $50.0 million term loan commitment, of which $47.5 million was outstanding as of December 31,
2005. The revolving loan and the term loan bear interest at a floating rate equal to the London Interbank Offered
Rate (“LIBOR”) plus 2.25% per year and the revolving loan also bears an unused commitment fee of 0.5%. For
2005, the weighted average interest rate under our outstanding debt was 6.15%.

A one percent increase (decrease) in the variable interest rate would result in a $0.3 million increase
(decrease) in the related interest expense on an average annual basis based upon borrowings outstanding at
December 31, 2005

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Our financial statements are listed under Item 15(a) of this annual report and are filed as part of this report
on the pages indicated.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A.CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We have established disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to our
Company, including our consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to the officers who certify our financial
reports and to other members of senior management and the Board of Directors.

In connection with the preparation of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, as of December 31, 2005, we
conducted an evaluation under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our
principal executive and principal financial officers, of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures,
as such term is defined under Rule 13a-15(e) promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the
“Exchange Act”).

Based on this evaluation, our principal executive and principal financial officers concluded that our
disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the end of the period covered by this annual report.
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Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over our financial
reporting, as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) of the Exchange Act. Under the supervision and with the
participation of our management, including our principal executive and principal financial officers, we conducted
an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the framework in
Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission. As permitted by the Exchange Act, the scope of the evaluation excluded our 2005 acquisitions as
listed in Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. Our 2005 acquisitions comprised 22.2% of total net
service revenue, 23.6% of our operating expenses and 13.0% of our operating income for the year ended
December 31, 2005. Based on our evaluation under the framework in Internal Control—Integrated Framework,

our management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31,
2005.

Our internal control system is designed to provide reasonable assurance to our management and Board of
Directors regarding the preparation and fair presentation of published financial statements. All internal control
systems, no matter how well designed, have inherent limitations. Therefore, even those systems determined to be
effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and presentation.

Our management’s assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2005 has been audited by KPMG LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated
in their report, which is included herein.

Changes in Internal Controls

There have been no changes in our internal control procedures over financial reporting that have occurred
during the fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2005 that have materially affected, or are likely to materially affect,
our internal control over financial reporting.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm—Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Amedisys, Inc.:

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Annual Report
on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting, that Amedisys, Inc. maintained effective internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).
Amedisys, Inc.’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting
and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our
audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s
assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such
other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the
company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that Amedisys, Inc. maintained effective internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on criteria established
in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (COSO). Also, in our opinion, Amedisys, Inc. maintained, in all material respects,
effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on criteria established in
Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO).

Amedisys, Inc. excluded from its assessment of the effectiveness of Amedisys Inc.’s internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, the Company’s 2005 acquisitions as listed in Note 2 to the
consolidated financial statements. The Company’s acquisitions comprised 22.2% of total net service revenue,
23.6% of total operating expenses (combination of cost of service revenue and total general and administrative
expenses) and 13.0% of total operating income for the year ended December 31, 2005. Our audit of internal
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control over financial reporting of Amedisys, Inc. also excluded an evaluation of the internal control over
financial reporting of the Company’s 2005 acquisitions as listed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the consolidated balance sheets of Amedisys, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2005 and
2004, and the related consolidated income statements, statements of stockholders’ equity, and statements of cash
flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2005, and our report dated March 14,
2006 expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements.

Baton Rouge, Louisiana
March 14, 2006

42



PART III

Certain information required by Part III is omitted from this Report is incorporated herein by reference to
our definitive Proxy Statement under Regulation 14A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Proxy
Statement”) for our 2006 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held June 8, 2006. We anticipate that we will file
our Proxy Statement no later than 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this Report.

ITEM 10. EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The following table presents information with respect to our executive officers:

Name Age  Capacity

William F. Borne 48  Chief Executive Officer

Larry R. Graham 40  President and Chief Operating Officer

Gregory H. Browne 53  Chief Financial Officer

Alice A. Schwartz 39  Chief Information Officer

Jeffrey D. Jeter 34 Chief Compliance Officer/ Senior Vice President

William F. Borne founded the Company in 1982 and has been Chief Executive Officer and a director since
then.

Larry R. Graham was named President in August 2004. He became Chief Operating Officer in January 1999
and continues to serve in that capacity.

Gregory H. Browne was appointed Chief Financial Officer in May 2002. He provided consulting services
from March 2002 until his appointment as Chief Financial Officer. From May 2001 to December 2001,
Mr. Browne had been Chief Financial Officer for Cards Etc., a software company, and from July 1996 to
February 2001 he was Chief Executive Officer of PeopleWorks, Inc., a provider of outsourced human resources,
payroll and related services.

Alice A. Schwartz became Chief Information Officer in September 2004 and also served as a Senior Vice
President of Clinical Operations from 2003 to 2004. She joined the Company in 1998 where she served in
various leadership roles, including Administrator and Regional Director of Clinical Services.

Jeffrey D. Jeter joined the Company in April 2001 as Vice President of Compliance/Corporate Counsel. In
March 2004, he was appointed Senior Vice President of Compliance. Prior to joining the Company he served as
an Assistant Attorney General for the Louisiana Department of Justice from 1996 where he prosecuted health
care fraud and nursing home abuse.

Code of Ethics

We have adopted a code of ethics that applies to our President and Chief Executive Officer (principal
executive officer) and Chief Financial Officer (principal financial/accounting officer). This code of ethics, which
is entitled Standards of Business, is posted at our website, www.amedisys.com. We intend to satisfy the disclosure
requirement under Item 10 of Form 8-K regarding an amendment to, or waiver from, a provision of this code of
ethics by posting such information on our website, at the address, and location previously specified.

Our Board of Directors has determined that Jake L. Netterville, Chairman of the Audit Committee, meets
the definition of “Audit Committee Financial Expert” within the meaning of that term as defined by the SEC, and
that he is otherwise independent within the meaning of applicable rules of the NASDAQ National Market
System.
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ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The section of our Proxy Statement entitled “Executive Compensation” is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The section of our Proxy Statement entitled “Stock Ownership of Directors and Officers and Stock
Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners” is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

The section of our Proxy Statement entitled “Certain Transactions” is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The section of our Proxy Statement entitled “Accounting Fees and Services” is incorporated herein by
reference.
PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

a. Financial Statements

Listed in the Index to Consolidated Financial Statements provided in response to Item 8 hereof (see page
F-1 for Index).

b. Financial Statement schedule
Listed in the Index to Financial Statements provide in response to Item 8 hereof (see page F-1 for Index).

All other schedules for which provision is made in the applicable accounting regulation of the Securities and
Exchange Commission are not required under the related instructions or are inapplicable and therefore have been
omitted.

c. Reports on Form 8-K

On March 1, 2006, we filed a Current Report on Form 8-K containing an announcement that we began
making presentations at investor conferences and provided our presentation slides.

On February 28, 2006, we filed a Current Report on Form 8-K containing a transcript of our conference call
for the twelve-month period ended December 31, 2005.

On February 28, 2006, we filed a Current Report on Form 8-K containing an announcement of our earnings
for the year ended December 31, 2005.

On February 13, 2006, we filed a Current Report on Form 8-K containing an announcement that we began
making presentations at investor conferences and provided our presentation slides.

On February 8, 2006, we filed a Current Report on Form 8-K containing a press release updating our 2006
guidance.

On January 6, 2006, we filed a Current Report on Form 8-K containing a press release announcing the
expansion of home health presence in Okalahoma and the completion of our acquisition of a therapy services
company.

On November 7, 2005, we filed a Current Report on Form 8-K containing an announcement that we began
making presentations at investor conferences and provided our presentation slides.
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On November 3, 2005, we filed a Current Report on Form 8-K containing a transcript of our conference call
for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2005.

On November 1, 2005, we filed a Current Report on Form 8-K containing an announcement of our earnings
for the three and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2005.

b. Exhibits.
Exhibit
Number Description of Document
2.1 Stock Purchase Agreement dated as of June 30, 2005, by and among Amedisys Holding, L.L.C.,

2.2

3.1

3.2

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6.1

4.6.2

4.6.3

Amedisys, Inc., HMR Acquisition, Inc. and the Stockholders and Option Holders set forth on the
Stockholder Signature Page and Option Holder Signature Page attached thereto (previously filed as
Exhibit 2.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed July 12, 2005)

Asset Purchase Agreement between Amedisys SC, L.L.C. and Winyah Health Care Group, LLC,
Winyah Home Health Care-Midlands, Inc., Winyah Home Health Care of the Lowcountry, LLC,
Winyah Home Health Care of the Grand Strand, LLC, and Winyah Home Health Care, Inc.
(previously filed as Exhibit 2.1 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31,
2005)

Composite Certificate of Incorporation (previously filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2002)

Composite By-Laws (previously filed as Exhibit 3.2 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
period ended December 31, 2004)

Common Stock Specimen (previously filed as an exhibit to the Annual Report on Form 10-KSB for
the year ended December 31, 1994)

Shareholder Rights Agreement (previously filed as Exhibit 4 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed
June 16, 2000, and as Exhibit 4 to the Registration Statement on Form 8-A12G filed June 16, 2000)

Forms of Warrants issued by Amedisys, Inc. to Raymond James & Associates, Inc. and Jefferies &
Company, Inc. (previously filed as exhibits to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed December 10,
2003)

Registration Rights Agreement dated as of April 23, 2002 between Amedisys, Inc. and the investors
listed on Schedule I thereto (previously filed as Exhibit 4.4 to the Registration Statement on
Form S-3 filed May 23, 2002)

Registration Rights Agreement dated as of December 1997 between the person whose name and
address appears on the signature page thereto and Amedisys, Inc. (previously filed as Exhibit 10.5 to
the Registration Statement on Form S-3 filed March 11, 1998)

Credit Agreement with Wachovia Bank, National Association, as Administrative Agent, and General
Electric Capital Corporation, as Syndication Agent, dated as of July 11, 2005 (previously filed as
Exhibit 4.1 to the Quarterly Report for the period ended June 30, 3005)

Amendment No. 1 to Credit Agreement with Wachovia Bank, National Association, as
Administrative Agent, and General Electric Capital Corporation, as Syndication Agent, dated as of
August 31, 2005 (filed herewith)

Amendment No. 2 to Credit Agreement with Wachovia Bank, National Association, as
Administrative Agent, and General Electric Capital Corporation, as Syndication Agent, dated as of
February 16, 2006 (filed herewith)
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Exhibit
Number

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6.1

10.6.2

10.6.3

10.7.1

10.7.2

10.7.3

10.8.1

10.8.2

10.9

10.10

21.1
23.1
31.1

31.2

32.1
322

Description of Document

Settlement Agreement between the Office of Inspector General of the Department of Health and
Human Services and Amedisys Specialized Medical Services and Amedisys, Inc. (previously filed as
Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2003)
Corporate Integrity Agreement between the Office of Inspector General of the Department of Health
and Human Services and Amedisys Specialized Medical Services and Amedisys, Inc. (previously
filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2003)
Composite Amended and Restated Amedisys, Inc. 1998 Stock Option Plan, as amended
(Encompassing Plan amendments dated June 10, 2004, and the full text of the 1998 Amedisys, Inc.
Amended and Restated Stock Option Plan) (filed herewith)

Composite Director’s Stock Option Plan, as amended (Encompassing Plan amendments dated

June 10, 2004, and the full text of the Directors Stock Option Plan) (filed herewith)

Employment Agreement between Amedisys, Inc. and William F. Borne (previously filed as Exhibit
10.8 to the Quarterly Report for the period ended March 31, 2005)

Employment Agreement between Amedisys, Inc. and Larry Graham (previously filed as Exhibit 10.9
to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2000)

Amendment to Employment Agreement between Amedisys, Inc. and Larry Graham (previously filed
as Exhibit 10.10 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2000)

Second Amendment to Employment Agreement between Amedisys, Inc. and Larry Graham
(previously filed as Exhibit 10.9.3 to the Registration Statement on Form S-3 filed August 18, 2004)
Employment Agreement between Amedisys Inc. and Gregory H. Browne (previously filed as
Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2002)

Amendment to Employment Agreement between Amedisys Inc. and Gregory H. Browne (previously
filed as Exhibit 10.10.2 to the Registration Statement on Form S-3 filed August 18, 2004)
Supplemental Employment Agreement between Amedisys, Inc. and Gregory H. Browne (filed
herewith)

Agreement to Purchase Real Estate between Amedisys, Inc. and Sherwood Investment Partners, LLC
(previously filed as Exhibit 10.1.1 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended March
31, 2005)

Act of Cash Sale of Real Estate between Amedisys, Inc. and Sherwood Investment Partners, LLC
(previously filed as Exhibit 10.1.2 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended March
31, 2005)

Modification Agreement between CareSouth Home Health Services, Inc. and Amedisys, Inc.
(previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended
September 30, 2001)

Software License Agreement between CareSouth Home Health Services, Inc. and Amedisys, Inc.
(previously filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended
September 30, 2001)

List of Subsidiaries (filed herewith)

Consent of KPMG LLP (filed herewith)

Certification under Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) of William F. Borne, Chief Executive Officer (filed
herewith)

Certification under Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) of Gregory H. Browne, Chief Financial Officer (filed
herewith)

Certification under 18 U.S.C §1350 of William F. Borne, Chief Executive Officer (filed herewith)

Certification under Section 18 U.S.C §1350 of Gregory H. Browne, Chief Financial Officer (filed
herewith)
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the
Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on
March 9, 2006.

Amedisys, Inc.

By: /s/  WILLIAM F. BORNE

William F. Borne,
Chief Executive Officer and
Chairman of the Board

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed on behalf
of the registrant and in the capacities and on the date indicated:

Signature % %
/s/  WILLIAM F. BORNE Chief Executive Officer and Chairman March 9, 2006
William F. Borne of the Board
/s/  GREGORY H. BROWNE Chief Financial Officer, Principal March 9, 2006
Gregory H. Browne Financial and Accounting Officer
/s/  JAKE L. NETTERVILLE Director March 9, 2006

Jake L. Netterville

/s/  DAvID R. PITTS Director March 9, 2006
David R. Pitts

/s/  PETER F. RICCHIUTI Director March 9, 2006
Peter F. Ricchiuti

/s/ RONALD A. LABORDE Director March 9, 2006
Ronald A. Laborde

/s/  DONALD WASHBURN Director March 9, 2006
Donald Washburn
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Amedisys, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Amedisys, Inc. and subsidiaries as of
December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the related consolidated income statements, statements of stockholders’
equity, and statements of cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2005.
These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility
is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of Amedisys, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the results of
their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2005, in
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the effectiveness of Amedisys, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2005, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), and our report dated March 14, 2006 expressed
an unqualified opinion on management’s assessment of, and the effective operation of, internal control over
financial reporting.

Baton Rouge, Louisiana
March 14, 2006

49



AMEDISYS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
As of December 31, 2005 and 2004
(Dollar amounts in thousands, except per share data)

ASSETS

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents . .. ........ ... e
Short-term INVESTMENTS . . . ... ...ttt e e e
Patient accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $12,387 and

$3,751 at December 31, 2005 and 2004 . . ... ...
Prepaid eXpenses . .. ...t
Other CUITENE @SSELS . . . .ot ittt ettt e et e et e et e e e e e

Total CUITENt ASSELS . . .\ oottt et e et e et e e e e e
Property and equipment, NEt . .. ....... ...ttt
GoodWill ...
Intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization at December 31, 2005 of $3,108 and
$1,177 at December 31,2004 . ... oot
Other ASSCLS . .\ ittt

Total ASSELS . .ottt

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable .. ...
ACCTUEA BXPEIISES .« v vttt ettt ettt et e e e e e e e e
Obligations due Medicare ... ... ...ttt
Current portion of long term obligations . .............o it
Current portion of deferred income taxes . ........ ...,

Total current Habilities ... ... ... . . .
Long-term Obligations . . . ... ...ttt ettt e e
Deferred iNCOmMEe taXes . . ..ottt e et
Other long-term liabilities . . ... ... ..

Total HabilitieS . ... ... e
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $.001 par value, 5,000,000 shares authorized; None issued or
OULSTANAING . . o .ot
Common stock, $.001 par value, 30,000,000 shares authorized; 15,881,691 and
15,310,547 shares issued and 15,877,524 and 15,306,380 shares outstanding at
December 31, 2005 and December 31, 2004, respectively .. ........ .. ...
Additional paid-in capital . ......... ..
Treasury stock at cost, 4,167 shares of common stock held at December 31, 2005 and
2004 .
Unearned COMPENSALION . ..o\ v vttt ettt e e e et e e e e et
Retained earnings . .. ... ...ttt

Total stockholders” eqUILY . . .. ..ottt e e e e
Total liabilities and stockholders” equity ................ .. it ..

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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As of December 31,
2005 2004

$ 17,231 $ 57,679
— 32,000

68,139 24,478
2,693 1,356
4,277 3,377

92,340 118,890
27,389 10,003
197,002 62,537

11,447 4,447
11,819 3,856

$339,997 $199,733

$ 29922 $§ 6,081
45,165 22,503
10,551 9,327
10,144 2,112

4,173 1,353

99,955 41,976
43,063 1,709
3,556 6,749
824 826

147,398 51,260

16 15
146,684 132,032

(25) (25)
(628) —
46,552 16,451

192,599 148,473

$339,997 $199,733




AMEDISYS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENTS
For the Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003
(Dollar amounts in thousands, except per share data)

2005 2004 2003
NEL SEIVICE TEVENUE . . v v v v e et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e $381,558 $227,089 $142,473
Cost of service revenue (excluding amortization and depreciation) ......... 163,032 96,078 58,554
GroSS MATZIN .ottt et e e e e e e e e 218,526 131,011 83,919
General and administrative expenses:
Salaries and benefits . .. ... ... 93,485 56,916 41,252
Other . .. 74,939 40,717 28,329
Total general and administrative €Xpenses . ..................coeueun... 168,424 97,633 69,581
OPperating iNCOIME . . .« . vttt ettt et e e e et 50,102 33,378 14,338
Other income (expense):
INterest iNCOME . . . o o oo e e e e e e 1,464 550 91
INEEIEeSt EXPEISE . . v vttt ettt e e (2,932) (510) (1,293)
Miscellaneous, Net . . ... ..ottt e e 106 59) 491
Total other eXpense, Net . .. ... ...ttt (1,362) (19) (711)
Income before inCome taxes . . ... oottt 48,740 33,359 13,627
Income tax eXPense . .. ... ..ottt (18,638) (12,855) (5,220)
NELINCOME . . . v vttt e e e e e e e e e e e e e i $ 30,102 $ 20,504 $ 8,407
Net income per share:
BaSIC . o v ottt $ 193 $ 157 $ 0.86
Diluted . ... 1.88 1.51 0.83
Weighted average shares outstanding:
BasiC . .ot 15,606 13,057 9,808
Diluted . ... 15,970 13,543 10,074

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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AMEDISYS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
For the Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003
(In thousands, except common stock shares)

Additional Retained Total
M Paidin Treasury Unearned Earnings Stockholders’
Shares Amount Capital Stock Compensation (Deficit) Equity

Balance, December 31,2002 .............. 9,163,809 $ 9 $ 29439 $(25 $— $(12,460) $ 16,963
Issuance of stock for Employee Stock

PurchasePlan . ....................... 131,247 — 582 — — — 582
Issuance of stock in connection with 401(k)

plan. ... 222,354 1 1,328 — — — 1,329
Exercise of stock options . ................ 160,757 — 675 —_ —_ — 675
Tax benefit from stock option exercises ... .. — — 426 — — — 426
Exerciseof warrants . .................... 150,965 — 462 —_ —_ — 462
Issuance of options in conjunction with

ACqUISItIONS .. ..ot 163,132 — 1,099 —_ —_ — 1,099
Issuance of stock options as compensation . . . 15,882  — 102 — — — 102
Issuance of stock options related to private

placement, net of offering costs of $171 ... 1,900,000 2 21,352 — — — 21,354
Netincome ........covviiinnnn... —_ — — —_ —_ 8,407 8,407
Balance, December 31,2003 .............. 11,908,146 12 55,465 (25) — (4,053) 51,399
Issuance of stock for Employee Stock

PurchasePlan ........................ 54,219 — 823 — — — 823
Issuance of stock in connection with 401 (k)

plan...... 55,085 — 1,290 — — — 1,290
Exercise of stock options . ................ 390,828 — 1,843 — — — 1,843
Issuance of stock options as compensation . . . 1,700 — 31 — — — 31
Tax benefit from stock option exercises .. ... — — 2,433 — — — 2,433
Issuance of stock options in connection with

public offering, net of offering costs of

$4473 2,610,000 3 67,422 — — — 67,425
Exercise of warrants . .................... 266,343 — 2,068 — — — 2,068
Issuance of options in conjunction with

ACqUISItIONS .. ..o v 24,226 — 657 — — — 657
Netincome . ..........cviiiinno. .. — — — — — 20,504 20,504
Balance, December 31,2004 .............. 15,310,547 15 132,032 (25) — 16,451 148,473
Issuance of stock for Employee Stock

PurchasePlan . ....................... 53,022 — 1,472 — — — 1,472
Issuance of stock in connection with 401 (k)

plan.... .. 100,135 1 3,370 — — — 3,371
Exercise of stock options . ................ 331,928 — 4,026 — — — 4,026
Issuance of stock options as compensation . . . 384 — 13 — — — 13
Tax benefit from stock option exercises .. ... — — 3,308 — — — 3,308
Other offering costs ..................... — — 21) — — (1) (22)
Issuance of options in conjunction with

acquisitions ... 50,744 — 1,500 — — — 1,500
Issuance of restricted stock ............... 30,764 — 984 — — — 984
Unearned compensation . . ................ — — — — (628) — (628)
Netincome ...........coiiiiinnnnn... — — — — — 30,102 30,102
Balance, December 31,2005 .............. 15,877,524  $ 16 $146,684  $(25) $(628) $46,552  $192,599

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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AMEDISYS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003

(In thousands)

2005 2004 2003
Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
NELINCOME .. vttt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e $ 30,102 $20,504 $ 8,407
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization . ... ... . ... ...ttt e 6,973 4,126 3,072
Provision forbad debts . . ... ... . 5,093 3,055 2,239
Deferred iNCOME tAXES . . . ..ottt et e e e e e e 7,425 6,996 4,620
Tax benefit from StOCK OPON EXEICISES . . . . . vttt ettt ettt e e e e et e e e e 3,308 2,433 426
Write off Of INVENLOTY . . . . ..o e e 1,063 — —
Compensation expense due to issuance of stock and stock options .. .......... ... ... 369 31 102
Loss on disposals of property and equipment . ... ..... ... ... ... 15 — —
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of impact of acquisitions:
Increase in patient accounts receivable .. ... ... ... (34,616) (12,348) (3,321)
Increase in inventory and other CUITENt @SSELS . . ... ...ttt ttt ettt ettt et (2,012)  (1,134) (170)
Increase in Other @SSELS . . . ... vttt ettt et e e e e e e e e (1,892)  (4,357) (414)
Increase in accounts payable ... ... ... ... 20,135 3,341 845
(Decrease) increase in amounts due to Medicare . .. ........ ...ttt (3,243) (20) 2,832
Increase in acCrued EXPENSES . . . .. vt vttt ettt et e e e e e e 10,820 7,084 3,425
Net cash provided by operating activities ... ................iiiunntatta e 43,540 29,711 22,063
Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment . ...............oiiii e 209 102 234
Proceeds from sales and maturities of short-term investments . .............. . ...t iiiniuninnnnn.. 32,000 —_ —_
Purchases of short-term invVestments . ... ... .. ... ...ttt et et et — (32,000) —
Acquisition Of BUSINESSES, NEL . . .. ottt ettt et e e e et e e e e e (144,517) (29,822) (6,772)
Purchases of property and eqUipment .. ............. .. ... (20,393)  (5,231) (1,789)
Net cash used in INVeSNZ aCHVIEES . . . . .o\ o vttt et ettt et e e e e et (132,701) (66,951) (8,327)
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Proceeds from issuance of long-termdebt ... ... ... .. ... 50,000 872 1,242
Proceeds from revolving line of credit, net .. ... .. ... ... 20,000 —_ —_
Proceeds from issuance of stock to employee stock purchase plan ............ ... ... ... ... ... .. 1,472 823 582
Proceeds from issuance of stock upon exercise of stock options and warrants . ......................... 4,027 3911 1,137
Proceeds from equity offering, net of COStS ... ... ... o e — 67,422 —
Principal payments of long-term debt .. ... ... ... ... (2,500) — —
DEDE ISSUANCE COSES . .+ v v o ettt et et et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e (1,749) — —
Principal payments of revolving line of credit . ....... ... . (20,000) — —
Payments on notes payable and capital leases ......... ... ... 2,516) (6,951) (6,910)
Proceeds from private placement of Stock, net . .. ... ... . —_ —_ 21,352
Decrease in Medicare liabilities . ... ... ... .. . — — (6,332)
Other inCreases (AECTEASES) . .. v vttt ittt e et et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 21 (387) 386
Net cash provided by financing activities ... ........ ... ittt 48,713 65,690 11,457
Net (Decrease) Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents .. ...... ... .. .. . . i (40,448) 28,450 25,193
Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Year .......... ... .. .. i 57,679 29,229 4,036
Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year .......... ... ... .. .. $ 17,231 $ 57,679 $29,229
Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Information:
Cash paid fOr INterest . . . ... ...ttt e e e e e e e e e $ 1687 $ 353 $ 1,166
Cash paid for Income Taxes . . . . ..ottt 7,101 $ 2,730 149
Supplemental Disclosures of Non Cash Financing and Investing Activities:
Stock issued for 401(K) Plan . .. ... .. .. $ 3370 $ 1,290 $ 1,328
Stock issued for acqUISTLONS . . ... ...t e 1,500 657 1,099
Notes payable issued for acqUISIHONS . ... ... .ottt 4,100 1,315 2,000

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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AMEDISYS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2005

1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Organization and Nature of Operations

Amedisys, Inc., a Delaware corporation, is a multi-state provider of home health care and hospice services.
At December 31, 2005, the Company operated 208 Medicare-certified home health agencies and 13 Medicare-
certified hospice agencies in 16 states primarily located in the southern and southeastern United States. The
Company operates as one segment.

The Company derived 93% of its net service revenue from Medicare for each of the years ended
December 31, 2005 and 2004 and 91% of its net service revenue from Medicare for the year ended December 31,
2003.

Primarily as a result of the Company’s rapid growth through acquisition, operating results may not be
readily comparable for the years that are presented.

Use of Estimates

The accounting and reporting policies of the Company conform with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles. In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Company is required to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes.
Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Principles of Consolidation

The Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned
subsidiaries. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in these consolidated
financial statements. Business combinations accounted for as purchases are included in the Consolidated
Financial Statements from the respective dates of acquisition.

Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications have been made to prior year balances to conform to current year presentation.

Revenue Recognition

The Company earns revenues through its home health care and hospice agencies by providing a variety of
services, as described below, in the patient’s residence. As noted above, the Company is dependent on
reimbursement from Medicare for a significant portion of its revenues.
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Medicare Revenue Recognition

On October 1, 2000, Medicare began paying providers of home health care at fixed, predetermined rates for
services and supplies bundled into 60-day episodes of home health care. An episode of home health care spans a
60-day period, starting with the first day a billable visit is furnished to a Medicare beneficiary and ending 60 days
later. If a patient is still in treatment on the 60th day a new episode begins on the 61st day, regardless of whether
a billable visit is rendered on that day, and ends 60 days later. The first day of a consecutive episode, therefore, is
not necessarily the new episode’s first billable visit. A base episode payment is established by the Medicare
Program through federal legislation for all episodes of care ended on or after the applicable time periods detailed
below:

Base episode

Period payment (1)
October 1, 2002 through September 30,2003 ........ ... ... ... .. ...... $2.159
October 1, 2003 through March 31,2004 ......... ... .. .. .. .. .. ...... 2,231
April 1, 2004 through December 31,2004 . ......... ... .. .. ... ..., 2,213
January 1, 2005 through December 31,2006 .............. .. .. .. ... .... 2,264

(1) The actual episode payment rates, as presented in the table vary, depending on the home health resource
groups (HHRGs) to which Medicare patients are assigned and the per episode payment is typically reduced
or increased by such factors as the patient’s clinical, functional, and services utilization characteristics.

Under the Prospective Payment System (“PPS”) for Medicare reimbursement, net revenues are recorded
based on a reimbursement rate that varies based on the severity of the patient’s condition, service needs and other
factors. Net revenues are recorded as services are rendered to patients over the 60-day episode period. At the end
of each month, a portion of the Company’s revenue is estimated for episodes in progress.

Medicare reimbursement, on an episodic basis, is subject to adjustment if there are significant changes in the
patient’s condition during the treatment period or if the patient is discharged but readmitted to another agency
within the same 60-day episodic period. Revenue recognition under the Medicare reimbursement program is
based on certain variables including, but not limited, to: (i) changes in the base episode payments established by
the Medicare Program; (ii) adjustments to the base episode payments for partial episodes and for other factors,
such as case mix, geographic wages, low utilization and intervening events; and, (iii) recoveries of
overpayments. Adjustments to revenue result from differences between estimated and actual reimbursement
amounts, an inability to obtain appropriate billing documentation or authorizations acceptable to the payor and
other reasons unrelated to credit risk.

Revenue recognition for episodes in progress is estimated based upon historical trends. The Company
continuously compares the estimated Medicare reimbursement amounts recorded to the actual Medicare
reimbursement received. Historically, any difference between estimated amounts recorded and actual amounts
received from Medicare has been immaterial. Management believes based on information available and its
judgment that changes to one or more of the factors that impact the accounting estimate, which are reasonably
likely to occur from period to period, will not materially impact either its reported financial results, its liquidity
or its future financial results.

The main impact would be current legislation impacting our reimbursement rates. The Company is currently
unaware of any such proposals.

Deferred revenue of approximately $26.9 million and $14.9 million relating to the Medicare PPS program
was included as a reduction to the Company’s accounts receivable in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of
December 31, 2005 and December 31, 2004, respectively, since only a nominal amount of deferred revenue
represents cash collected in advance of providing services.
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Hospice Revenue Recognition

Hospice is generally billed to Medicare weekly for discharged patients and monthly for ongoing care. Each
hospice provider is subject to payment caps for inpatient services, and the cap is based on inpatient days which
cannot exceed 20% of all Medicare hospice days.

Overall Medicare reimbursement is also subject to a cap amount calculated by the Medicare fiscal
intermediary at the end of each hospice cap period. On a monthly and quarterly basis, the Company estimates its
potential cap exposure using information available for both inpatient day limits as well as per beneficiary cap
amounts. The total cap amount for each provider is calculated by multiplying the number of beneficiaries
electing hospice care during the period by a statutory amount that is indexed for inflation. The per beneficiary
cap amount was $19,778 and $19,636 for the twelve month periods ending October 31, 2005 and 2004,
respectively. Any amounts received in excess of the per beneficiary cap must be refunded to Medicare within
fifteen days.

The Company has settled all years through October 31, 2004 without exceeding any of the cap limits and
believes that, based upon its calculations and historical experience, that is has not exceeded any of the cap limits
and will have no amounts due the fiscal intermediary for the cap period ending October 31, 2005, which is
expected to be settled in the second quarter of 2006.

Management believes that changes to one or more of the factors that impact the accounting estimate for
hospice revenue, which are reasonably likely to occur from period to period, will not materially impact either its
reported financial results, its liquidity or its future financial results.

Medicaid Revenue Recognition

Medicaid, a program jointly funded by federal, state, and local governmental health care programs, is
designed to pay for certain health care and medical services provided to low income individuals without regard to
age. Revenue is recognized ratably over the period in which services are provided.

Private Insurance Companies and Private Payor Revenue Recognition

The Company has entered into agreements with third party payors that provide payments for services
rendered at amounts different from established rates. Gross revenue is recorded on an accrual basis based upon
the date of service at amounts equal to established rates or estimated reimbursement rates, as applicable.
Allowances and contractual adjustments are recorded for the difference between the established rates and the
amounts estimated to be payable by third parties and are deducted from gross revenue to determine net service
revenue. Net service revenue is the estimated net amounts realizable from patients, third party payors and others
for services rendered, including estimated retroactive adjustments under reimbursement agreements. Revenue is
recorded as services are rendered and is based upon discounts from established rates. Less than one percent of net
revenues is self-pay.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents include certificates of deposit and all highly liquid debt instruments with maturities of
three months or less when purchased. The Company reclassified its December 31, 2004 holdings in auction rate
securities from cash equivalents to short-term investments, based on receiving further interpretative guidance on
the underlying characteristics of such instruments, which resulted in a decrease of cash and cash equivalents and
an increase of short-term investments of $32.0 million, respectively. The change in classification had no impact
on the Company’s previously reported current assets, net income, cash flows from operating activities, or
changes in stockholders’ equity for any period.

Collectibility of Accounts Receivable

In the year ended December 31, 2005, the Company’s accounts receivable increased, net of the allowance
for doubtful accounts, to $68.1 million from $24.5 million at December 31, 2004. This increase, which also
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resulted in an increase to our days revenue outstanding, was due to the increases in net service revenue primarily
as a result of both internal growth and acquisitions and to delays in billing associated with our acquisitions,
particularly with respect to our hospice acquisitions.

As aresult of the significant acquisitions in the latter half of 2005, the Company’s net revenues increased to
$231.1 million from $122.8 million for the period July 1 to December 31 for the years ended 2005 and 2004,
respectively, which also accounts for the accounts receivable growth.

The Company has experienced an increase in days revenue outstanding that primarily related to conversion
issues surrounding its Housecall acquisition including conforming billing processes and procedures. In addition,
the Company experienced delays in having the change of ownership from our Spectracare acquisition recognized
by Medicare which has resulted in delays of its ability to receive reimbursement for services provided. Finally,
the Company’s hospice reimbursement, which is now a larger portion of its outstanding accounts receivable, is
generally subject to slower cash realization in comparison to its home health agencies.

The following schedule details the Company’s accounts receivable by payor class (dollars in thousands):

Current 31-60 61-90 91-120  Over 120 Total

December 31, 2005

Medicare (1) . ... $10,112 $17,894 $11,541 $5,581 $11,608 $ 56,736
Medicaid .. .......... .. 1,528 1,467 1,468 746 2,433 7,642
Private ......... ... ... . 3,537 1,284 1,222 1,090 9,015 16,148
Total ... $15,177 $20,645 $14,231 $7,417 $23,056 80,526
Allowance for doubtful accounts ............ (12,387)
Net accounts receivable ................... $ 68,139
Days revenue outstanding (2) .............. 62.3 Days
December 31, 2004

Medicare (1) . ... $ 940 $ 7317 $ 7456 $3219 $ 2,578 $ 21,510
Medicaid .. ........... ... ... 345 166 152 177 722 1,562
Private .......... ... .. i 1,243 700 543 320 2,351 5,157
Total ... $ 2,528 $ 8,183 $ 8,151 $3,716 $ 5,651 28,229
Allowance for doubtful accounts ............ 3,751)
Net accounts receivable . .................. $ 24478
Days revenue outstanding (2) .............. 40.3 Days

(1) There was $5.1 million and $2.5 million pending approval of the Change of Ownership by the Center for
Medicare Services (“CMS”) as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The Company believes all
amounts to be collectible.

(2) Due to the Company’s significant acquisitions and its internal growth, the calculation for days revenue
outstanding is derived by dividing the ending gross accounts receivables at December 31, 2005 and 2004 by
the average daily net patient revenues for the three-month periods ended December 31, 2005 and 2004,
respectively.

The process for estimating the ultimate collectibility of accounts receivable involves judgment, with the
greatest subjectivity relating to non-Medicare accounts receivable. The Company currently records an allowance
for uncollectible accounts on a percentage of earned revenue basis unless a specific issue is noted, at which time
an adjustment to the allowance may be recorded. The percentage of revenue that the Company reserves is
significantly higher for Medicaid, private insurance and self-pay patients than for Medicare and is based upon
historical collection experience.

The collection process begins with a concerted effort to ensure that billing is accurate. The Company
derived approximately 93% of its net service revenue from the Medicare system for each of the years ended
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December 31, 2005 and 2004 with a 99% cash collection realization on Medicare receivables. The Company’s
pre-billing process includes an electronic Medicare claim review referred to as a scrubber to improve the quality
of filed claims data in an effort to reduce the volume of collection effort on these accounts. Non-Medicare
accounts are billed based upon payor requirements and include multiple third party payors. The Company
routinely perform pre-billing reviews to improve the quality of filed claims and has installed multiple
checkpoints when claims are not processed timely. For 2005, self-pay revenue represented less than 2% of our
non-Medicare revenue and approximately .01% of our total revenue and is considered immaterial. For non-
Medicare third party payors and for self-pay, if payment has not been received within prescribed periods,
collection personnel contact payors to determine why payment has not been made and claims are resubmitted if
necessary. Collections personnel also bill patients for any co-payments and make a good faith effort to collect
these amounts. There are a very small number of contracts that require a patient co-payment. If a claim has been
denied, an appeal is filed with the payor. If, through individual review of accounts, it is determined that all efforts
have been exhausted a write-off is generated. The Company has historically elected not to litigate uncollected
self-pay amounts but may do so in the future. The Company has authorizations required to initiate and post these
write offs to its system. Accounts are written off against the allowance only when all collection efforts have been
exhausted and such determination may take up to 48 months.

Inventory

During the prior years and quarter ended March 31, 2005, the Company recorded inventory for medical
supplies utilized in the treatment and care of home health patients. Such inventory is stated at the lower of cost
(first-in, first-out method) or market. The Company expensed its medical supplies as incurred during the quarter,
but adjusted its inventory carrying values to periodic physical inventory counts. During the quarter ended
June 30, 2005, the Company changed its accounting policy for its medical supplies to reflect the expensing of all
medical supply purchases as incurred without valuing an inventory of medical supplies on hand at the end of a
reporting period. As a result of this change in the Company’s accounting policy, the Company recorded $1.1
million of Cost of Revenue expense, or $0.6 million after-tax, for the write-off of its medical supplies inventory
in 2005.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment is stated at cost and depreciated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful
lives of the assets as follows:

Years
Buildings ... ..o 39
Leasehold improvements . ... ........... ittt 5
Equipment and furniture . .......... ... 5to7
Vehicles .. ... 5
Computer SOFtWATE . . .. ..ot e e 3-5

Depreciation expense, including amortization of assets related to capital leases for the years ended
December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 was $5.0 million, $3.0 million and $3.1 million, respectively.

Capital leases, primarily consisting of software, computer equipment, and phone systems, are included in
property and equipment. Capital leases are recorded at the present value of the future rentals at lease inception
and are amortized over the shorter of the applicable lease term or the useful life of the equipment.

Long-Lived Assets

The Company assesses the impairment of long-lived assets and goodwill in accordance with the provisions
of SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, and No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or
Disposal of Long-Lived Assets. SFAS No. 144 requires that long-lived assets and certain identifiable intangibles
be reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an
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asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the
carrying amount of an asset to future undiscounted net cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If such
assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured by the amount by which the
carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets. Assets to be disposed of are reported at the
lower of the carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell. SFAS No. 142 requires annual tests for impairment
of goodwill and intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives and interim tests when an event has occurred
that more likely than not has reduced the fair value of such assets.

Deferred Financing Costs

Deferred financing costs include costs incurred in connection with the issuance of the Company’s long-term
debt. These costs are amortized over the terms of the related debt. Accumulated amortization was approximately
$0.8 million and $0.1 million at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Segments

The Company and its subsidiaries have been operated and are evaluated by management as a single
operating segment in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 131, Disclosures about Segments of an
Enterprise and Related Information .

New Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued FASB Statement No. 123
(revised 2004) (“SFAS 123R”), Share-Based Payment, which is a revision of FASB Statement No. 123,
Accounting for Stock Based Compensation. SFAS 123R supersedes Accounting Principles Bulletin (“APB”)
No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees and amends FASB Statement No. 95, Statement of Cash
Flows. The Company is required to adopt Statement 123R on January 1, 2006 using the modified prospective
method. Upon adoption, two transition methods are available. Under the modified-prospective method,
companies will be required to apply the provisions of SFAS 123R to all share-based payments that are granted,
modified or settled after the date of adoption. Under the modified-retrospective transition method, companies
may restate prior periods by recognizing compensation cost in the amounts previously reported in the pro-forma
footnote disclosures required by SFAS 123. New awards and unvested awards would be accounted for in the
same manner as the modified-prospective method. The Company plans to reflect the adoption of SFAS 123R in
the interim consolidated financial statements for the first quarter of 2006 using the modified prospective method
of application. Based upon the Company’s initial analysis, the Company does not believe that the adoption of this
pronouncement will have a material impact on its future operating results.

Net Income Per Common Share

Earnings per common share is based on the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the
period. The Company utilizes the treasury stock method in its calculation. The following table sets forth shares
used in the computation of basic and diluted net income per common share (in thousands):

Year ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003
Weighted average number of shares outstanding—for basic net income per share ... 15,606 13,057 9,808
Effect of dilutive securities:
StOCK OPLIONS . . o .ttt et e 333 387 218
Restricted Stock ... ... 8 — —
WaAITANtS .. ... 23 99 48
Adjusted weighted average shares—for diluted net income per share ............. 15,970 13,543 10,074

There were approximately 29,000, 0 and 71,000 potentially dilutive securities that were anti-dilutive for the
years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
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Stock-Based Compensation

The Company has two stock option plans, the Amedisys, Inc. 1998 Stock Option Plan and the Amedisys,
Inc. Directors Stock Option Plan (the “Plans”) as described in Note 8. The Company accounts for its stock-based
compensation in accordance with Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to
Employees” (“APB 257). Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation” (“SFAS 123”), and SFAS 148 “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation—Transition and
Disclosure” permit the continued use of the intrinsic value-based method prescribed by APB 25, but require
additional disclosures, including pro-forma calculations of earnings and net earnings per share as if the fair value
method of accounting prescribed by SFAS 123 had been applied. The following table illustrates the effect on net
income and earnings per share if the Company had recognized compensation expense for the Plans using the fair-
value recognition method in SFAS 123 (Dollar amounts in thousands, except per share amounts):

Year ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003

Net income
ASTEPOITEd . . .\t $ 30,102 $ 20,504 $ 8,407
Add: Stock based employee compensation expense included

in reported net income, netof taxes .................. 227 16 63
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation

determined under fair value based method for all awards,

net of iINCOME taXxes .. ... vvintn e (4,544) (1,899) (591)
Proformanetincome ..............uuiiinn... $ 25,785 $ 18,621 $ 7,879
Basic earnings per share:
ASTEPOTTEd . .\ vt $ 193 % 1.57 $ 0.86
Proforma ............ ... ... . . .. $ 1.65 $ 143 $ 0.80
Diluted earnings per share:
ASTEPOTTEd . .\ v $ 1.88 $ .51 $ 0.83
Proforma ............c.coiiiiiiiii $ 161 $ 138 $ 0.78
Weighted average fair value of options granted during the

VEAL + o et e e e e e e e e $ 1336 $ 1221 $ 5.40
Black-Scholes option pricing model assumptions:
Risk free interestrate ................c.ouiniiian.n.. 3.53-5.16% 3.53-5.16% 3.55-5.16%
Expected life (years) ..., 5-10 5-10 10
Volatility .. ... 41.19-105.71% 42.88-105.71% 58.85-110.35%

Expected annual dividend yield ....................... — — —

The Company will begin recognizing stock option expense in 2006 based on the fair value of the award on
the date granted. This is further discussed under the discussion of SFAS 123R in New Accounting
Pronouncements above.

Advertising Costs

The Company expenses all advertising costs as incurred. Advertising expense for the fiscal years ended
December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 were $3.8 million, $2.1 million, $1.0 million, respectively.

2. ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSITIONS
Acquisitions:

Each of the following acquisitions was completed in order to pursue the Company’s strategy of achieving
market presence in the southern and southeastern United States by expanding its service base and enhancing its
position in certain geographic areas as a leading provider of home health nursing services. The purchase price of
each acquisition was determined based on the Company’s analysis of comparable acquisitions and expected cash
flows. Goodwill generated from the acquisitions was recognized given the expected contributions of each

60



acquisition to the overall corporate strategy and is fully tax deductible. For acquisitions with a purchase price in
excess of $10.0 million, the Company employs an independent valuation firm. Each of the acquisitions
completed was accounted for as a purchase and are included in the Company’s financial statements from the
respective acquisition date.

Summary of 2005 Acquisitions

In November 2005, the Company acquired certain assets and certain liabilities of a single home health
agency in Lexington, North Carolina for $2.2 million in cash. In connection with the acquisition, the Company
recorded substantially the entire purchase price as goodwill ($1.9 million) and other intangibles ($0.3 million) in
the fourth quarter of 2005.

In August 2005, the Company acquired certain assets and certain liabilities of SpectraCare Home Health
Services, Inc. (“SpectraCare”), a home health provider with nine agencies in Ohio, Indiana and the CON states of
Kentucky and Tennessee, for $13 million in cash. As a part of the purchase agreement, $2.0 million of the total
purchase price was placed in escrow for a period up to two years and $750,000 of the total purchase price was
contingent upon the achievement of certain milestones. As of December 31, 2005, the Company had asserted no
claims against the escrow and none of the milestones had been achieved. The Company recorded substantially all
of the purchase price as goodwill ($12.0 million) and other intangibles ($1.5 million).

In August 2005, the Company acquired certain assets and certain liabilities of NCARE, Inc., a home health
provider with two agencies in Newport News and Chesapeake Virginia, for $1.5 million in cash and the issuance
of a $0.7 million note payable to the seller. The Company recorded substantially all of the purchase price as
goodwill ($2.0 million) and other intangibles ($0.2 million) in the third quarter of 2005.

In July 2005, the Company acquired the stock of HMR Acquisition, Inc., the parent holding company of
Housecall Medical Resources, Inc. (“Housecall”), a privately-held provider of home care services with 57 home
health agencies and nine hospice agencies in the states of Tennessee, Florida, Kentucky, Indiana and Virginia for
a total purchase price of approximately $106.8 million, of which $11.0 million was placed in escrow. The
Company has notified the previous owners of approximately $1.1 million in claims related to potential Medicare
liabilities that it may pursue against escrowed funds, but no definitive settlement has been reached. The
acquisition was completed on July 11, 2005, and the Company incurred approximately $1.8 million in closing
costs associated with the acquisition. The aggregate purchase price was allocated to the assets acquired and
liabilities assumed based upon a preliminary estimate of their fair values as determined by a valuation performed
by an independent national firm. The Company anticipates that a valuation will be finalized during the first
quarter of 2006. The excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the net identifiable tangible and intangible
assets was allocated to goodwill. The Company’s goodwill as recognized is the excess of purchase price over the
fair value of the identifiable net tangible and intangible assets acquired at the date of acquisition. The Company
believes that the acquisition provides a market presence complementary to existing geographic markets for our
home health business as well as establishing a meaningful entry into the hospice business with an assembled
work force which is included as a component of goodwill. The following table summarizes the estimated fair
values of the Housecall assets acquired and liabilities assumed in July 2005. The allocation of the purchase price
is subject to refinement based upon finalization of the valuation.

Accounts receivable, NEt .. ... ... $ 14,137
Property and equipment .. .......... ... 1,674
Goodwill . .. 96,579
Intangible assets . ... ...t 3,526
Deferred taxes .. ... 10,139
Other ASSEES . ot ittt 6,455
Current Habilities .. ... ..t e e (19,742)
Long-term obligations ... ........... ottt (4,209)
$108,559
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The following table contains pro forma consolidated income statement information as if the Housecall
transaction occurred January 1, 2004 (Dollar amounts in thousands except per share data):

2005 2004
NEt SEIVICE TEVENUE . . . o oottt e et e et $435,164  $330,431
Operating iNCOME . . ..o vttt ettt et et 53,125 34,841
NEtINCOME ...ttt e e 28,584 12,493
Basic earnings pershare ............ ... .. . i 1.83 0.96
Diluted earnings pershare . ............. .. oo, 1.79 0.92

The pro forma information presented above is presented for illustrative purposes only and may not be
indicative of the results of operations that would have actually occurred if the transaction described had occurred
as presented. In addition, future results may vary significantly from the results reflected in such information.

In June 2005, the Company acquired certain assets and certain liabilities of two Tennessee-based home
health agencies from Saint Thomas Health Services for $3.0 million in cash and the issuance of a $0.5 million
note payable to the seller. The Company recorded substantially the entire purchase price as goodwill ($2.8
million) and other intangibles ($0.6 million) in the second quarter of 2005.

In May 2005, the Company entered into an agreement to purchase certain assets and certain liabilities of a
single home health agency in Collins, Mississippi from Covington County Hospital for $1.0 million in cash. The
Company recorded substantially all of the purchase price as goodwill ($0.8 million) and other intangible assets
($0.2 million) in the second quarter of 2005.

In March 2005, the Company acquired certain assets and certain liabilities of a single home health agency
from the North Arundel Hospital Association in Maryland for $3.0 million in cash and the issuance of a $0.9
million note payable to the seller. In connection with the acquisition, the Company recorded substantially all of
the purchase price as goodwill ($3.5 million) and other intangibles ($0.4 million) in the first quarter of 2005.

In February 2005, the Company purchased certain assets and certain liabilities of 10 home health agencies
from several affiliated companies operating as Winyah Health Care Group in South Carolina for $13.0 million in
cash, 50,744 shares of Amedisys restricted stock valued at $1.5 million, and the issuance of a $2.0 million note
payable to the seller. In connection with the acquisition, the Company recorded substantially all of the purchase
price as goodwill ($14.0 million) and other intangibles ($2.2 million) in the first quarter of 2005.

Acquisitions in 2004

In December 2004 the Company, through its wholly owned subsidiary, Amedisys Home Health Inc. of
North Carolina acquired a single home health agency in Winston-Salem, North Carolina from In Home Care for
approximately $1 million in cash. Substantially all of the purchase price was recorded as goodwill ($0.7 million)
and other intangibles ($0.2 million in the fourth quarter of 2004.

In October 2004, the Company, through its wholly owned subsidiaries Amedisys Home Health, Inc. of
South Carolina and Amedisys Georgia, L.L..C., acquired two home health agencies from Winyah Health Care
Group for approximately $3.5 million in cash. The agencies are located in Augusta, Georgia and Clinton, South
Carolina. In connection with the acquisition, the Company recorded substantially all of the purchase price as
goodwill ($2.8 million) and other intangibles ($0.6 million) in the fourth quarter of 2004.

In September 2004, the Company, through its wholly owned subsidiary Amedisys Home Health, Inc. of
Virginia, acquired a home health agency with three locations in Richmond, Virginia, from Freedom Home Health
(“Freedom”) for $6.6 million. Of the $6.6 million purchase price, $4.6 million was paid in cash; the Company
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issued a $1.3 million note payable and issued $0.7 million of Amedisys stock. In connection with the acquisition,
the Company recorded substantially the entire purchase price as goodwill ($5.9 million) and other intangibles
($0.6 million) in the third quarter of 2004.

In June 2004, the Company, through its wholly owned subsidiary Amedisys Mississippi, L.L.C., acquired a
single home health agency in Vicksburg, Mississippi, from River Region Health System (“River Region”) for
$1.65 million in cash. In connection with the acquisition, the Company recorded substantially the entire purchase
price as goodwill ($1.4 million) and other intangibles ($0.2 million) in the second quarter of 2004.

In April 2004, the Company, through its wholly owned subsidiary Amedisys Oklahoma, L.L.C., acquired
certain assets and liabilities of Hillcrest Medical Center (“Hillcrest”) associated with its home health care
operations in Tulsa, Oklahoma, for which the Company paid $375,000 cash at closing with a deferred payment of
$75,000 made on June 25, 2004. In connection with this acquisition, the Company recorded substantially the
entire purchase price as goodwill ($413,000) and other intangibles ($27,000) in the second quarter of 2004.

In January 2004, the Company entered into an agreement to purchase certain assets and certain liabilities of
11 home health agencies and two hospice agencies (the “Acquired Entities”) that operated as departments of
individual hospitals (the “Sellers”’) owned by Tenet Healthcare Corporation. Subsequent to January 5, 2004, the
Company and the Sellers agreed to exclude one of the home health agencies from the Acquired Entities. The
Acquired Entities are Professional Home Health, Brookwood Home Care Services, Memorial Home Care,
Spalding Regional Home Health, Tenet Home Care of Palm Beach, Tenet Home Care of Broward County, Tenet
Home Care of Miami-Dade, First Community Home Care, Cypress-Fairbanks Home Health, St. Francis Home
Health and Hospice, and Brookwood Health Services, Inc. The Company had no material relationship with the
Sellers or any of their affiliates prior to this transaction.

The transaction closed in three stages. Control over the first four agencies was transferred effective March 1,
2004. The second group was transferred effective April 1, 2004, with the final transfer effective May 1, 2004.
The purchase price of approximately $19.1 million was comprised of $14.2 million in cash at initial closing, with
the balance paid in two equal installments on April 1, 2004 and May 1, 2004. Total transaction costs capitalized
as part of the purchase price of $0.5 million.

Tangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed are immaterial to the purchase price. The Company has
allocated approximately $18.9 million of the purchase price to goodwill ($16.7 million) and other intangibles
($2.2 million). The following table contains pro forma consolidated income statement information as if the
transaction occurred January 1, 2003 (Dollar amounts in thousands except per share data):

2004 2003
NEt SEIVICE TEVENUE . . . . oottt et e e e e e e e et et e e e $231,826  $169,189
Operating INCOME . . ..ottt ettt ettt e e e e e e 33,482 19,584
NEtINCOME . . ..ot e e e e 21,208 11,659
Basic earnings pershare ......... ... ... .. i i 1.61 1.19
Diluted earnings pershare . ...........c.. i 1.54 1.16

The pro forma information presented above is presented for illustrative purposes only and may not be
indicative of the results of operations that would have actually occurred if the transaction described had occurred
as presented. In addition, future results may vary significantly from the results reflected in such information.
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3. GOODWILL, OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND OTHER ASSETS:
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

The following table summarizes the activity related to goodwill and other intangible assets for the years

ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003.

Acquired
Certificates Name of = Non-Compete
Goodwill of Need Business  Agreements (1)

Balances at December 31,2002 . ...t $ 25582 $ — $ — $ —
Additions . . ... .o 9,866 — — —
AMOrtization . . ...t — — — —
Balances at December 31,2003 . ........................ 35,448 — — —
Additions . . ... 27,089 2,525 200 2,899
AmOrtization . ......... . — — — (1,177)
Balances at December 31,2004 . ........................ 62,537 2,525 200 1,722
AddItions . . ... oot 134,465 4,625 1,111 3,195
AMOrtiZation . .. ...\ttt e — — — (1,931)
Balances at December 31,2005 .. ...t $197,002  $7,150 $1,311 $ 2,986

(1) The weighted-average amortization period of non-compete agreements is 2.7 years.

The estimated aggregate amortization expense for each of the three succeeding years is as follows:
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4. DETAILS OF CERTAIN BALANCE SHEET ACCOUNTS

Additional information regarding certain balance sheet accounts is presented below:

Property and equipment:
Leasehold improvements . ................oiuiuiinininanenan..
Equipment and furniture . . ......... .. ...
Computer SOftWAre . ... ..ottt e
COoNStruction in PrOZIESS . . . vt vttt e ettt et e e e

Less: accumulated depreciation . ............. .. .. ...,

Accrued expenses:
Payroll and payroll taxes .......... ...
Insurance . . ...
INCOME tAXES . .. oottt
Legal and other settlements ............... .. . ... ...
Other . ...

Current portion of long-term obligations:
Long-term debt . ... ... . .
Capital [8ases . ... ..ottt

5. LONG-TERM DEBT:

Long-term debt, including capital lease obligations, consisted of the following:

Senior secured credit facility ............ .. .. .
Promissory nOtes . . .. ...ttt
Capital 1eases .. ..... ...t

December 31,

2005 2004

(In thousands)

$ 568 § 322

29,740 16,813

8,843 5,550
5,286 —

44437 22,685
(17,048)  (12,682)

$ 27,3890  § 10,003

$23262 $11914

10,953 4,663
— 271
1,517 1,833
9,433 3,822

$ 45,165  $ 22,503

$ 9841 $ 1,689
303 423

$10,144 § 2,112

2005 2004

$ 47500 $ —
5,127 3,069
580 752

53,207 3,821
(10,144)  (2,112)

$ 43,063 $ 1,709

Effective July 11, 2005, the Company entered into a financing arrangement for a five year Senior Secured
Credit Facility (“senior credit facility””). The senior credit facility is comprised of a Term Loan of $50 million,
fully drawn at closing, and a Revolving Credit Facility (“Revolver”) of up to $25 million, of which $20 million
was drawn at closing and subsequently repaid in 2005. The Company’s obligations under the senior credit facility
are collateralized by its existing and after-acquired personal and real property. The senior credit facility matures
in June 2010 and bears interest, at an amount, which depends on the Company’s overall Leverage Ratio, as
defined in the Agreement. The interest rate on the outstanding portion of the Term Loan and Revolver is LIBOR
plus 2.25% and the Company is obligated to a commitment fee of 0.5% on the unused portion of the Revolver.
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During 2005, the Company’s average interest rate on its senior credit facility was 6.15%, and at December 31,
2005, the Company’s interest rate was 6.80% on its outstanding balance. The senior credit facility contains
financial covenants including: (i) a maximum capital expenditures limit with certain exclusions for expenditures
related to its new corporate headquarters, (ii) a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio, and (iii) a maximum
leverage ratio limit. Compliance with the financial covenants is measured quarterly. All of the financial
covenants are predetermined and adjust over the term of the senior credit facility. All of the financial covenants
are measured with results from the most recent 12-month period then ended, together with pro forma amounts for
announced acquisitions. As of December 31, 2005, the Company was in compliance with all of the financial
covenants of the senior credit facility.

In conjunction with an acquisition, the Company may elect to issue a promissory note for a portion of the
purchase price. The notes that were outstanding as of December 31, 2005 were generally issued for three-year
periods, range in amount between $0.5 million and $2.0 million and bear interest in a range of 6% to 8.25%. In
certain instances, the notes are paid periodically and in other instances, at maturity. The Company issued $4.1
million in promissory notes during 2005 related to the acquisitions. As of December 31, 2005, the Company had
$5.1 million in outstanding promissory notes.

The Company has acquired certain equipment under capital leases for which the related liabilities have been
recorded at the present value of future minimum lease payments due under the leases.

Maturities of debt as of December 31, 2005 are as follows (amounts in thousands):

Senior Promissory Capital
credit facility notes leases Total

2000 ... $ 6,250 $3,565 $329  $10,144
2007 8,750 1,368 176 10,294
2008 11,250 194 96 11,540
2000 13,750 — 25 13,775
2010 L 7,500 — — 7,500
Total .. 47,500 5,127 626 53,253
Less amounts representing interest . ......................... — — 46 46
Long-term obligations and present value of future lease

PAYIMENES . . .\ o et ettt e e e e ettt e e e e $47,500 $5,127 $580 $53,207

6. INCOME TAXES:

The Company utilizes the asset and liability approach to measuring deferred tax assets and liabilities based
on temporary differences existing at each balance sheet date using currently enacted tax rates in accordance with
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109 (“SFAS 109”), Accounting for Income Taxes. Deferred tax
assets are reduced by a valuation allowance when, in the opinion of management, it is more likely than not that
some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are adjusted
for the effects of changes in tax laws and rates on the date of enactment.
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The total provision for income taxes consists of the following for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004

and 2003 (Dollar amounts in thousands):

2005 2004 2003
Current income tax expense:
Federal .. ... ... . $ 9,032 $4874 $ 65
State and local .. ... 2,181 985 103
11,213 5,859 168
Deferred income tax expense:
Federal .. ... ... . . 5,977 6,443 4,653
State and local .. ........ . 1,448 553 399
7,425 6,996 5,052
INCOME tAX EXPENSE . o v vttt et et et e et e e e e e e et et $18,638 $12,855 $5,220

Net deferred tax liabilities consist of the following components as of December 31, 2005 and 2004 (Dollar

amounts in thousands):

2005 2004

Current portion of deferred tax assets (liabilities):
NOL carry forward, expiring beginning in 2010 ......................... $ 1441 $ 352
Allowance for doubtful accounts ............ ... ... 4,833 1,378
Self-INSUTanCe TESEIVES . . . v vttt ettt e e e e e et e e — 4
Prepaid eXpenses . . . ..ot (432) —
Deferred revenue . ............ i e (11,879) (2,618)
Other . .o 1,864 (469)
Current portion of deferred tax assets (liabilities) ........................ (4,173) (1,353)
Noncurrent portion of deferred tax assets (liabilities):
Amortization of intangible assets .. ........... ... .. (6,203) (4,735)
Property and equipment . ... ..... ... (2,646)  (2,245)
Losses of consolidated subsidiaries not consolidated for tax purposes, expiring

beginning in 2010 .. ... . 144 144
Other . . 3,645 87
Capital 10SS CaITyover .. ... .. . 9,183 —
NOL carry forward, expiring beginning in 2010 ......... ... ... ... ... .... 26,394 641
Less: valuation allowance . . .......... .. . i (34,073) (641)
Noncurrent portion of deferred tax assets (liabilities) ..................... (3,556) (6,749)
Net deferred tax liabilities ... ........ ...t $ (7,729) $(8,102)

The provision for income taxes differs from the amount computed by applying the statutory federal income

tax rate to net income before taxes.

The sources of the tax effects of the differences are as follows:

2005
Income taxes computed on federal statutory rate . . ................. ..., 35.0%
State income taxes and other, net of federal benefit ........................... 4.8
Valuation alloWance . ... ...... ... .ttt (0.7)
Tax Credit ... ..o (1.5)
Nondeductible expenses and other,net .............. ... ... .. 0.6
Total ..o 38.2%

2004

35.0%
2.5

1.0
38.5%

2003

35.0%
2.0

1.0
38.0%



On July 1, 2005, the Company acquired the stock of Housecall, as discussed in Note 2. The financial
statements reflect the acquisition of Housecall under the purchase method of accounting. The Company recorded
an additional net deferred tax asset of approximately $10.1 million related to the acquisition.

As of December 31, 2005, the Company had a federal net operating loss carry forward of $61.5 million and
a capital loss carry forward of $23.3 million, both of which may be available to offset future taxable income. The
use of the net operating losses acquired in the Housecall acquisition may be limited under Internal Revenue Code
section 382 in the future. If not used, the net operating losses will expire between 2010 and 2025 and the capital
loss carry forward will expire in 2010.

The Company also has state net operating loss carry forwards of approximately $62.2 million.

Valuation allowances have been established against the deferred tax assets to the extent it has been
determined realization of these deferred tax assets is not likely. Deferred tax assets related to the Housecall
acquisition have been established through purchase accounting. Any future changes in these determinations could
result in either a decrease or increase in the provision for income taxes or goodwill to the extent the change in
valuation allowance is attributable to a change in realizability of deferred tax assets existing and acquired under
purchase accounting.

The valuation allowance increased $33.4 million from the prior year, composed of an increase of $33.8
million related to the Housecall acquisition which was accounted for through purchase accounting, and the
release of $0.4 million due to a change in estimate related to utilization of state net operating losses.

The Company received a current year benefit related to federal income tax credits of approximately $0.7
million as a result of Federal tax relief legislation enacted as a result of Hurricanes Katrina, Rita and Wilma. This
amount has been reflected as a reduction to our estimated income tax expense in 2005.

7. LIQUIDITY

As of December 31, 2005, the Company had $17.2 million in cash and cash equivalents and $53.2 million in
indebtedness related to its senior credit facility and promissory notes that the Company incurred primarily as a
result of its acquisitions. The Company had full availability of its $25.0 million revolver loan and was in
compliance with all of the covenants of its senior credit facility at December 31, 2005.

As of December 31, 2005, the Company had $0.1 million in outstanding letters of credit, related to its
workers’ compensation insurance. In February 2006, the Company issued a letter of credit amounting to $2.5
million related to its 2006 workers’ compensation policy year.

In January, 2006, the Company acquired, in two separate transactions, seven home health agencies and a
therapy staffing agency for a total of $5.2 million that included a $0.5 million deposit paid in November 2005,
$3.35 million in cash and $1.35 million in three-year promissory notes.

In July 2005, the Company completed the acquisition of Housecall and financed a portion of the purchase
price through the issuance of a $75 million senior credit facility, consisting of a $50 million five-year term loan
and availability of up to $25 million in a three-year revolver. The Company fully utilized its term loan along with
$20 million of the revolver to fund the Housecall acquisition and to pay in full and terminate an existing $15
million credit facility. Subsequently, through working capital, the Company fully satisfied its outstanding $20
million obligation under its revolver. As of December 31, 2005, the Company owed $47.5 million under its term
loan, had availability under its revolver of $25 million and was in compliance with all of its covenants under the
credit facility. In February 2006, the Company amended its credit facility to allow for $5.0 million in letters of
credit in addition to its $25.0 million revolver.
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In 2005, the Company purchased land and a building in Baton Rouge, Louisiana for $5.3 million that will be
used to consolidate its corporate offices. The estimated cost in 2006 for the refurbishment is $15 million with a
November 2006 anticipated completion date. Including the land and building, the Company incurred $20.4
million in capital expenditures in 2005 as compared to $5.2 million in 2004.

As a result of Hurricanes Katrina, Rita and Wilma, the United States Congress passed two tax acts during
2005 intended to provide relief to those businesses affected by the hurricanes. Included is a provision that
provides for the deferral of all federal income and payroll tax filings and the extension of payment deadlines until
February 28, 2006. As of December 31, 2005, the Company owed approximately $1.2 million in state income
taxes and $18.8 million in payroll taxes that the Company elected to defer until such time as it was due on
February 28, 2006 and has reflected this amount as a current liability in its Consolidated Balance Sheets as of
December 31, 2005.

Based on operating forecasts, the Company believes that it will have sufficient cash to fund its operations,
debt service and capital requirements over the next twelve months. However, its liquidity is dependent upon a
number of factors influencing forecasts of earnings and operating cash flows. These factors include patient
growth, attaining expected results from acquisitions, certain assumptions of its reimbursement by Medicare and
its ability to manage its operations based upon certain staffing formulas. Further the Company has certain other
contingencies and reserves, including litigation reserves, recorded as liabilities in its accompanying Consolidated
Balance Sheets that the Company may not be required to liquidate in cash during 2006. However, in the event
that all liabilities become due within twelve months, the Company may be required to limit its acquisition
activities, utilize its revolving credit facility, seek additional financing and/or sell operations on terms
unfavorable to the Company.

8. CAPITAL STOCK:

The Company is authorized by its Articles of Incorporation to issue 30 million shares of common stock,
$0.001 par value and 5 million shares of preferred stock, $0.001 par value, of which 15,877,524 shares of
common stock and O shares of preferred stock are issued and outstanding at December 31, 2005. The Board of
Directors is authorized to fix the dividend rights and terms, conversion and voting rights, redemption rights and
other privileges and restrictions applicable to the preferred stock.

Stock Options and Warrants

The Company’s Statutory Stock Option Plan (the “Plan”) provides incentive stock options to key
employees. The Plan is administered by the Compensation Committee that determines, within the provisions of
the Plan, those eligible employees to whom, and the times at which, options shall be granted. Each option granted
under the Plan is exercisable for one share of common stock, unless adjusted in accordance with the provisions of
the Plan. Options may be granted for a number of shares not to exceed, in the aggregate, approximately
2.1 million shares of common stock at an option price per share of no less than the greater of (a) 100% of the fair
value of a share of common stock on the date the option is granted or (b) the aggregate par value of the shares of
common stock on the date the option is granted. If an incentive stock option is granted to any owner of 10% or
more of the total combined voting power of the Company and its subsidiaries, the option price is to be at least
110% of the fair value of a share of common stock on the date the option is granted. Each option vests ratably
over an 18 month to three year period, with the exception of those issued under contractual arrangements that
specify otherwise, and may be exercised during a period as determined by the Compensation Committee or as
otherwise approved by the Compensation Committee, not to exceed ten years from the date such option is
granted.

The Company’s Directors’ Stock Option Plan (the “Directors’ Plan”) provides stock options to directors.
The Directors’ Plan is administered by the Board of Directors in accordance with the provisions of the Directors’

Plan. Each option granted under the Directors’ Plan is exercisable for one share of common stock, unless
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adjusted in accordance with the provisions of the Directors’ Plan. Options may be granted for a number of shares
not to exceed, in the aggregate, 0.4 million shares of common stock. The option price is to be the fair value,
which is the closing price of a share of common stock on the last preceding business day prior to the date as to
which fair value is being determined, or on the next preceding business day on which such common stock is
traded, if no shares of common stock were traded on such date. Each option vests ratably over an eighteen month
to three year period and may be exercised during a period not to exceed ten years from the date such option is
granted.

The following summarizes stock option activity and related information:

Year ended December 31,
2005 2004 2003

Weighted Weighted Weighted

Average Average Average

Exercise Exercise Exercise
Shares Price Shares Price Shares Price
Outstanding at beginning of year .......... 899,990 $12.46 918,686 $ 541 900,693  $5.12
Granted, at market value ................. 525,054 31.21 383,098 21.97 208,000 5.34
Exercised (1) « .o ovree e, (331,928) 12.13  (375,827) 492 (175,7757) 3.84
Cancelled, forfeited or expired ............ (44,841) 20.82 (25,967) 14.97 (14,250) 6.56
Outstanding atend of year ............... 1,048,275 $21.57 899,990 $12.46 918,686  $5.41
Exercisable atend of year ................ 723,093 $19.43 525636 $ 9.02 687,857 $5.07

Weighted average fair value of options

granted during theyear ................ $13.36 $12.21 $5.40

Of the 325,182 options outstanding but not exercisable at December 31, 2005, 157,550 become exercisable
in 2006, 114,787 in 2007 and 52,845 in 2008.

(1) At the end of 2003, an option holder elected to exercise 15,000 options. The shares related to this exercise
were issued in 2004.

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at December 31, 2005:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted Weighted Weighted
Average Average Average
Number Remaining Exercise Number Exercise

Range of Exercise Prices Outstanding Contractual Life Price Exercisable Price
$6.20 ... 11,693 1.99 $ 6.20 11,693  $ 6.20
$3.00-6.06 ... ... 67,365 3.34 3.00 67,365 3.00
$350-5.13 ... 24,000 4.66 5.13 24,000 5.13
$4.25-720 oo 46,000 5.40 6.29 46,000 6.29
$6.95-9.95 ... 43,635 6.48 9.87 43,635 9.87
$4.70-5.65 ... 99,675 7.20 5.50 69,352 5.54
$15.05-30.23 .. 319,052 8.35 2246 182,711 23.29
$29.18-41.96 .. ... 436,855 9.17 31.54 278,337 29.79

Non-vested Stock

During 2005, the Company issued 30,764 shares of non-vested stock with vesting terms ranging from one to
four years. All shares were outstanding as of December 31, 2005.
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Warrants

At December 31, 2005, the Company had 38,000 warrants outstanding with an exercise price of $14.40 per
share. The warrants were issued in connection with a November 2003 private placement.

The following table depicts warrant activity:

Shares
Warrants  Exercise Price  Purchased
Outstanding warrants at December 31,2003 ........... ... ... ....... 344,720
Exercised 2004 . . ... e (306,720) $5.00-14.92 266,343
Outstanding warrants at December 31,2004 ......................... 38,000
Exercised 2005 . ... — — —
Outstanding warrants at December 31,2005 ............ ... .. ........ 38,000

Employee Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP)

The Company has a plan whereby eligible employees may purchase the Company’s common stock at 85%
of the lower of the market price at the time of grant or the time of purchase. There are 1.0 million shares reserved
for this plan. As of December 31, 2005, there were 120,183 shares available for future issuance. The Company
issued 50,875 shares of common stock in 2005, including 8,905 shares of common stock that were funded in
2005 and issued subsequently in 2006 and 11,051 that were funded in 2004 and issued in 2005.

Shares

Employee Stock Purchase Plan Period Issued Price

2003 and Prior . . ... 782,524  $ 3.64
January 1, 2004 to March 31,2004 . . ... 15,445 12.75
April 1,2004 to June 30, 2004 . ... ... 9,977 22.23
July 1, 2004 to September 30,2004 .. ... .. 9,944 25.29
October 1, 2004 to December 31,2004 .. ... .. . 11,052 26.38
January 1, 2005 to March 31,2005 ... ... . i 11,608 25.71
April 1, 2005 to June 30,2005 . ... ... 12,934 24.59
July 1, 2005 to September 30,2005 .. ... .. 11,946 32.05
October 1, 2005 to December 31,2005 . ....... .. . 14,387 33.15

879,817

9. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES:

As aresult of Hurricanes Katrina, Rita and Wilma, the United States Congress passed two tax acts during
2005 intended to provide relief to those businesses affected by the hurricanes. Included is a provision that
provides for the deferral of all federal income and payroll tax filing and the extension of payment deadlines until
February 28, 2006. As of December 31, 2005, the Company owed approximately $1.2 million in state income
taxes and $18.8 million in payroll taxes that it has elected to defer until such time as it was due on February 28,
2006, and the Company has reflected the amounts as a current liability in its Consolidated Balance Sheets as of
December 31, 2005.

Legal Proceedings

From time to time, the Company and its subsidiaries are defendants in lawsuits arising in the ordinary
course of the Company’s business. Management believes that the resolution of these matters will not have a
material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

Alliance Home Health, Inc. (“‘Alliance”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company (which was acquired
in 1998 and ceased operations in 1999), filed for Chapter 7 Federal bankruptcy protection with the United States
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Bankruptcy Court in the Northern District of Oklahoma in September 2000. A trustee was appointed for Alliance
in 2001. The accompanying consolidated financial statements continue to include the net liabilities of Alliance of
$4.2 million until the contingencies associated with the liabilities are resolved.

Legislation

The Company’s home health care business is regulated by federal, state and local authorities. Regulations
and policies frequently change, and the Company monitors changes through trade and governmental publications
and associations. The Company’s home health care subsidiaries are certified by Centers for Medicare &
Medicaid Services (“CMS”) and are therefore eligible to receive reimbursement for services through the
Medicare system. As a provider under the Medicare and Medicaid systems, the Company is subject to the various
state and federal anti-fraud and abuse laws, each of which contains various sanctions, including but not limited to
exclusion from further participation in government health care programs.

Various federal and state laws impose criminal and civil penalties for submitting false or fraudulent claims
for Medicare, Medicaid or other health care reimbursements. Given the breadth of applicable statutes,
government enforcement actions for the submission of false and fraudulent claims may be predicated on any
number of alleged schemes. Violations of the anti-fraud and abuse laws can result in the imposition of substantial
civil and criminal penalties and, potentially, exclusion from furnishing services under any federal health care
program. The Company believes that it bills for its services under all state and federal health care programs
accurately, although the conditions of participation and associated rules governing coverage of, and
reimbursements for, the Company’s services are complex. There can be no assurance that these rules will be
interpreted in a manner consistent with the Company’s billing practices.

In addition, the Company is also subject to several major laws related to marketing and business
development activities—specifically and the health care programs’ anti-kickback statute and the Stark self-
referral law.

In 1999, the Company discovered questionable conduct involving the former owner of one of its agencies,
which occurred between 1994 and 1997. The Company conducted an initial audit (using an independent auditor)
and voluntarily disclosed the irregularities to the Department of Health and Human Services’ Office of the
Inspector General (“OIG”). Thereafter, the government examined the disclosed activities; and during the second
quarter of 2002 the Company conducted a further audit of relevant claims that was initiated at the request of the
OIG, which was completed during the third quarter of 2002. In February 2003, the OIG offered a settlement that
included penalties not previously anticipated by the Company, as the Company self reported the matter. On
August 8, 2003, the Company signed both a Settlement Agreement and a Corporate Integrity Agreement with the
OIG and Department of Justice. The Settlement Agreement provides for payment of a financial settlement in
three equal annual payments of $386,000, with the first payment made on the date of execution, the second
payment made on August 6, 2004, and the final payment made on August 1, 2005. This agreement also obligates
the Company to amend previously filed cost reports to deduct costs incurred by the Company for audit and
investigation of this matter, which the Company has completed. The Corporate Integrity Agreement, which is
binding for a three-year period, requires that the Company maintain its existing Compliance Program and
provides for enhanced training requirements, annual claims audits of the subject agency by an independent
reviewer, and regular reporting to the OIG. This agreement provides for stipulated penalties in the event of
non-compliance by the Company, including the possibility of exclusion from the Medicare program. The
Company believes that these obligations will not materially affect the Company’s operations, or financial
performance, over the period of the agreement. Management believes the Company is in compliance with the
Corporate Integrity Agreement at December 31, 2005.

Operating Leases

The Company and its subsidiaries have leased office space at various locations under non-cancelable
agreements that expire between 2006 and 2010, and require various minimum annual rentals. The Company’s
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typical operating leases are for lease terms of three to five years and may include, in addition to base rental
amounts, certain landlord pass-thru costs for the Company’s pro-rata share of the lessor’s real estate taxes,
utilities and common area maintenance costs. Some of the Company’s operating leases contain escalation
clauses, in which annual minimum base rentals increase over the term of the lease.

Total minimum rental commitments at December 31, 2005 are as follows (amounts in thousands):

Year ended December 31,

2000 ... $ 8,404
2007 6,062
2008 . 4,120
2000 . 2,319
2000 L 67
Total .o $21,032

Rent expense for non-cancelable operating leases was $11.6 million, $5.0 million, and $3.7 million, for the
years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively.

Guarantees

As of December 31, 2005, the Company had issued guarantees totaling $3.2 million related to office leases
of subsidiaries. Approximately $0.1 million of this amount is related to guarantees on locations that have been
sold which the Company has the right to recover amounts under the sale agreement from the buyer, if payments
are requested. The Company has not received any requests to make payments under these guarantees.
Approximately $0.1 million is related to locations that have been closed and the landlords have obtained
judgments against the Company for unpaid rent. The Company has reserved substantially all of these amounts in
its reserves at December 31, 2005.

Insurance

The Company is obligated for certain costs under various insurance programs, including workers’
compensation, employee health and welfare and professional liability, and while the Company maintains various
insurance programs to cover these risks, it is self-insured for a substantial portion of its potential claims. The
Company recognizes its obligations associated with these costs in the period in which a claim is incurred,
including with respect to both reported claims, and claims incurred but not reported, up to specified deductible
limits. These costs have generally been estimated based on independent actuarial analysis and historical data of
its claims experience.

The Company’s worker compensation plan has a $250,000 deductible per claim, and the Company has
elected to either fund its carrier with a letter of credit or a deposit for the purpose of guaranteeing the payment of
claims. The Company’s deposits may be depleting or non-depleting. A depleting deposit allows the carrier to
draw upon the funds in order to pay the claims. Where the Company has provided a non-depleting deposit, the
carrier invoices the Company each month for reimbursement of claims that it has have paid. For carriers funded
by a letter of credit and carriers where the deposit is deemed not sufficient to satisfy the Company’s total
estimated obligation, the Company records an accrued liability for the portion of the estimated obligation that
exceeds the amount of cash held by the carrier. As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, deposits on hand at the
carriers net of claims already paid was $9.0 million and $3.4 million, respectively and outstanding letters of
credit that totaled $0.1 million and $0.2 million, respectively. At December 31, 2005 and 2004, the Company’s
accrual for estimated liabilities was $8.4 million and $2.7 million.

The Company is self-insured for health claims up to certain policy limits. Claims in excess of $125,000 per
incident are insured by third party reinsurers. The Company had accrued a liability of approximately $2.5 million
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and $1.9 million as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively, for both outstanding and incurred but not
reported claims based on historical experience.

In the case of potential liability with respect to professional liability, employment and other matters where
litigation may be involved, or where no insurance coverage is available, the Company’s policy is to use advice
from both internal and external counsel as to the likelihood and amount of any potential cost. Such estimates, and
the resulting reserves, are reviewed and updated on a quarterly basis. The Company maintained reserves for all
legal claims including an amount for professional liability claims incurred but not yet reported of $1.5 million
and $1.8 million at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Employment Contracts

The Company has commitments related to employment contracts with a number of its senior executives.
Such contracts generally commit the Company to pay bonuses upon the attainment of certain operating goals and
severance benefits under certain circumstances.

Other

The Company is subject to various other types of claims and disputes arising in the ordinary course of its
business. While the resolution of such issues is not presently determinable, management believes that the
ultimate resolution of such matters will not have a significant effect on the Company’s financial position, results
of operations, or cash flows.

10. 401(k) BENEFIT PLAN:

The Company maintains a plan qualified under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code for all
employees the first month after hire date and who have reached 21 years of age. Under the plan, eligible
employees may elect to defer a portion of their compensation, subject to Internal Revenue Service limits. The
Company may make matching contributions equal to a discretionary percentage of the employee’s salary
deductions. Such contributions were made in the form of common stock of the Company, valued based upon the
fair value of the stock as of the end of each calendar quarter end. The Company contributed approximately $3.4
million, $1.3 million and $1.3 million for each of plans years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003,
respectively.

11. AMOUNTS DUE TO AND DUE FROM MEDICARE:

Prior to the implementation of the Prospective Payment System (“PPS”) on October 1, 2000, the Company
recorded Medicare revenue at the lower of actual costs, the per visit cost limit or a per beneficiary cost limit on
an individual provider basis. Under this previous Medicare cost-based reimbursement system, ultimate
reimbursement under the Medicare program was determined upon review of annual cost reports by the fiscal
intermediary as appointed by the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (“CMS”).

As of December 31, 2005, the Company estimates an aggregate payable to Medicare of $10.5 million, all of
which is reflected as a current liability in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheet. The Company does not
expect to fully liquidate in cash the entire $10.5 million due Medicare in 2006 but may be obligated to do so if
mandated by Medicare. The $10.5 million payable to Medicare is comprised of $9.5 million of cost report
reserves and $1.0 million of PPS related reserves as more fully described below.

Cost Report Reserves

The recorded $10.5 million includes a $3.1 million obligation of a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company
that is currently in bankruptcy, and it is not clear whether the Company will have any responsibility for that
amount if the debt of the subsidiary is discharged in bankruptcy.
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Also included in the balance is $6.4 million that reflects the Company’s estimate of amounts likely to be
assessed by Medicare as overpayments in respect of prior years when Medicare audits of the Company’s cost
reports through October 2000 are completed. At the time when these audits are completed and final assessments
are issued, the Company may apply to Medicare for repayment over a thirty-six month period, although there is
no assurance that such applications will be agreed to, if sought. These amounts relate to the Medicare payment
system in effect until October 2000, under which Medicare provided periodic interim payments to the Company,
subject to audit of cost reports submitted by the Company and repayment of any overpayments by Medicare to
the Company. The fiscal intermediary, acting on behalf of Medicare, has not yet issued finalized audits with
respect to 1999 and 2000 and is entitled to reopen settled cost reports for up to three years after issuing final
assessments.

In October 2002 the Company received notice from the intermediary that the fiscal 1997 Amedisys cost
reports were being re-opened. In response to this notification from the intermediary, the Company established a
liability of $1.0 million for amounts that are probable to be assessed during the re-opening of the 1997 cost
reports, due to different interpretations of reimbursement regulations between the intermediary and the Company.
The increase in liability resulted in a decrease to revenue in the fourth quarter of 2002. The intermediary has yet
to complete the audit on these cost reports.

During the third and fourth quarters of 2003, the Company received cash settlements of $2.1 million from
Medicare related to the settlements of the fiscal 1999 cost reports. This receivable was netted against the amounts
due to Medicare on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet in the current-portion of Medicare liabilities.
Therefore, receipts of these settlements had no statement of operations impact.

During the second quarter of 2003, the Company recognized $0.4 million as a decrease to revenue to offset
settlements received in excess of amounts previously recorded.

During the third quarter of 2005, the Company paid cash settlements of $0.7 million for Medicare related
settlements of the fiscal 2000 cost reports. The Company also decreased its reserves by $1.1 million for Medicare
related settlements of the fiscal 1997 cost reports based on a settlement methodology as confirmed by the fiscal
intermediary. The Company recognized an increase in net revenues of $1.1 million as a result of this adjustment.

In the third quarter of 2005, the Company, through acquisition, assumed $3.4 million for Medicare liabilities
related to the fiscal years of 1999 and 2000. Based upon correspondence received from the intermediary in the
fourth quarter of 2005, the Company increased the liability by $1.1 million to a total of $4.5 million.

The following table summarizes the cost report activity included in the amounts due to/from Medicare
related to Cost Reports (amounts in thousands):

Cost report
reserves

Amounts recorded at December 31,2002 .. ...... ... . .. $12,847
Cash payments made in settlement of Medicare claims .................... (8,507)
To change estimated amounts owed to Medicare ......................... 402
Settlements received .. ... 2,101
Amounts recorded at December 31,2003 . ....... ... ... .. . ... . 6,843
Settlements received .. ... ...ttt 29
Amounts recorded at December 31,2004 .. ... .. . .. 6,872
Cash payments made in settlement of Medicare claims .................... (733)
Assumed estimated liabilities of acquired companies .. .................... 4,468
To change estimated amounts owed to Medicare ......................... (1,100)
Amounts recorded at December 31,2005 .. ...... ... ... . . $ 9,507




Medicare PPS Reserves

The remaining balance of $1.0 million is related to notice from CMS that it intended to make certain
recoveries of amounts overpaid to providers for the periods dating from the implementation of PPS on October 1,
2000 through particular dates in 2003 and 2004. The first of these amounts related to partial episode payments
(“PEPs”) whereby a patient was readmitted to home health care prior to the expiry of 60 days from the previous
admission date at another home health agency. In such instances, reimbursement for the first agency is reduced.
CMS advised the industry that CMS had implemented changes to its computer system such that these instances
would be adjusted at the time of claim submission on an ongoing basis, and that recovery for prior overpayments
would commence in the summer of 2003 and extend over a two-year period. Medicare completed its recoveries
of PEPs on September 30, 2005. The Company increased its Medicare revenue in the fourth quarter of 2005 in
the amount of $0.4 million for reserves in excess of monies recouped by Medicare. Secondly, CMS advised the
industry that it would seek recovery of overpayments that were made for patients who had, within 14 days of
such admission, been discharged from inpatient facilities, including hospitals, rehabilitation and skilled nursing
units. The Company continues to evaluate this liability and has estimated a reserve in the amount of
approximately $1.0 million was appropriate as of December 31, 2005. These reserves are included in the current
portion of Medicare liabilities.

The following table summarizes the PPS activity included in the amounts due to/from Medicare (Dollar
amounts in thousands):

Amounts recorded at December 31,2003 . ........ .. ... ... $2.504
Cash payments made to Medicare ..............c.. i, (S
Amounts recorded at December 31,2004 ... ... ... ... 2,453
Cash payments made to Medicare .............. .. ..., (535)
Net reducCtion N FESEIVES . . . oot vttt e et e e et e et e i e (874)
Amounts recorded at December 31,2005 .. ....... .. . .. $1,044

12. VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS:

The following table summarizes the activity and ending balances in the allowance for doubtful accounts
(Dollar amounts in thousands)

Balance at  Acquired Balance

beginning through Costs and at end of
Year ended December 31, of Year acquisition expenses  Deductions year
2005 $3,751 $4,220 $5,093 $ (677) $12,387
2004 . 3,008 — 3,055 (2,312) 3,751
2003 1,865 — 2,239 (1,096) 3,008
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13. UNAUDITED SUMMARIZED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION:

The following is a summary of the unaudited quarterly results of operations. See accompanying
accountants’ review report on unaudited information included in this filing (Dollar amounts in thousands, except
per share data):

Net Income
Net per Share

Revenue Income Basic  Diluted

2005:
ISt Quarter ... ... e $ 70,437 $ 7,110 $0.46 $0.45
2nd QUATLET . . . .o 80,061 7,930 0.51 0.50
Brd QUATLET . . ..o 112,166 7,761 049 048
Ath QUATET . . .ottt e 118,894 7,301 045 0.45
$381,558 $30,102 $1.93 $1.88

2004
ISt QUAItEr . ..ottt $ 47,339 $ 4,222 $0.35 $0.34
2nd QUATTET .« . . ottt 56,897 4960 040 0.39
Brd QUATLET . .ottt e 58,494 5,187 041 0.40
Ath QUATET . . vttt e e e e 64,359 6,135 0.39 0.39

$227,089 $20,504 $1.57 $1.51

Because of the method used in calculating per share data, the quarterly per share data may not necessarily
total to the per share data as computed for the entire year.

14. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS:

Effective January 1, 2006, previously passed legislation provided for a 2.8% increase to the Medicare per
episode reimbursement rate. In February 2006, the United States Congress passed a bill freezing home health
payment rates for 2006. The freeze will be effective for one year. The freeze was ratified when the President of the
United States signed the bill into law. The freeze did not impact the 5% additional reimbursement for patients in
designated rural areas for episodes commencing on or after January 1, 2006. The Company has determined that the
revision to the bill resulted in a $0.8 million reduction of revenues and a $0.5 million reduction in net income for the
year ended December 31, 2005. The Company’s income statement for the year ended December 31, 2005 reflects
the impact of this reduction.

On January 5, 2006, the Company acquired certain assets of seven home health agencies in central
Oklahoma for a total purchase price of $2.7 million that included $2.1 million in cash and a three-year
promissory note of $0.6 million. On January 5, 2006, the Company also acquired an Oklahoma based therapy
staffing agency for a total purchase price of $2.5 million that included $1.75 million in cash and a three-year
promissory note of $0.75 million. These agencies are not included in the results of the Company’s 2005
operations or in the number of acquisitions that the Company acquired in 2005.

In February 2006, the Company amended its senior credit facility to allow for up to $5.0 million in letters of

credit in addition to the $25.0 million revolver. In February 2006, the Company issued a letter of credit
amounting to $2.5 million related to its 2006 workers’ compensation policy year.
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ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) Documents to be filed with Form 10-K:

(1) Financial Statements

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm . .......... ... ... ... .. .. .... 49
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2005 and 2004 .. ....... ... . ............. 50
Consolidated Income Statements for the Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003 ... .. 51
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders” Equity for the Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2004,
and 2003 .. e 52
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and
20003 e 53
Notes to Financial Statements as of December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003 ... ................. 54
(2) Exhibits.
Exhibit
Number Description of Document
2.1 Stock Purchase Agreement dated as of June 30, 2005, by and among Amedisys Holding, L.L.C.,

2.2

3.1

3.2

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6.

Amedisys, Inc., HMR Acquisition, Inc. and the Stockholders and Option Holders set forth on the
Stockholder Signature Page and Option Holder Signature Page attached thereto (previously filed as
Exhibit 2.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed July 12, 2005)

Asset Purchase Agreement between Amedisys SC, L.L.C. and Winyah Health Care Group, LLC,
Winyah Home Health Care-Midlands, Inc., Winyah Home Health Care of the Lowcountry, LLC,
Winyah Home Health Care of the Grand Strand, LLC, and Winyah Home Health Care, Inc.

(previously filed as Exhibit 2.1 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31,

2005)

Composite Certificate of Incorporation (previously filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2002)

Composite By-Laws (previously filed as Exhibit 3.2 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
period ended December 31, 2004)

Common Stock Specimen (previously filed as an exhibit to the Annual Report on Form 10-KSB for
the year ended December 31, 1994)

Shareholder Rights Agreement (previously filed as Exhibit 4 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed

June 16, 2000, and as Exhibit 4 to the Registration Statement on Form 8-A12G filed June 16, 2000)

Forms of Warrants issued by Amedisys, Inc. to Raymond James & Associates, Inc. and Jefferies &
Company, Inc. (previously filed as exhibits to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed December 10,
2003)

Registration Rights Agreement dated as of April 23, 2002 between Amedisys, Inc. and the investors
listed on Schedule I thereto (previously filed as Exhibit 4.4 to the Registration Statement on Form
S-3 filed May 23, 2002)

Registration Rights Agreement dated as of December 1997 between the person whose name and

address appears on the signature page thereto and Amedisys, Inc. (previously filed as Exhibit 10.5 to

the Registration Statement on Form S-3 filed March 11, 1998)

1 Credit Agreement with Wachovia Bank, National Association, as Administrative Agent, and General

Electric Capital Corporation, as Syndication Agent, dated as of July 11, 2005 (previously filed as
Exhibit 4.1 to the Quarterly Report for the period ended June 30, 3005)

4.6.2 Amendment No. 1 to Credit Agreement with Wachovia Bank, National Association, as

Administrative Agent, and General Electric Capital Corporation, as Syndication Agent, dated as of
August 31, 2005 (filed herewith)



4.6.3

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6.1

10.6.2

10.6.3

10.7.1

10.7.2

10.7.3

10.8.1

10.8.2

10.9

10.10

21.1
23.1
31.1

Amendment No. 2 to Credit Agreement with Wachovia Bank, National Association, as
Administrative Agent, and General Electric Capital Corporation, as Syndication Agent, dated as of
February 16, 2006 (filed herewith)

Settlement Agreement between the Office of Inspector General of the Department of Health and
Human Services and Amedisys Specialized Medical Services and Amedisys, Inc. (previously filed as
Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2003)

Corporate Integrity Agreement between the Office of Inspector General of the Department of Health
and Human Services and Amedisys Specialized Medical Services and Amedisys, Inc. (previously
filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2003)

Composite Amended and Restated Amedisys, Inc. 1998 Stock Option Plan, as amended
(Encompassing Plan amendments dated June 10, 2004, and the full text of the 1998 Amedisys, Inc.
Amended and Restated Stock Option Plan) (filed herewith)

Composite Director’s Stock Option Plan, as amended (Encompassing Plan amendments dated
June 10, 2004, and the full text of the Directors Stock Option Plan) (filed herewith)

Employment Agreement between Amedisys, Inc. and William F. Borne (previously filed as Exhibit
10.8 to the Quarterly Report for the period ended March 31, 2005)

Employment Agreement between Amedisys, Inc. and Larry Graham (previously filed as Exhibit 10.9
to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2000)

Amendment to Employment Agreement between Amedisys, Inc. and Larry Graham (previously filed
as Exhibit 10.10 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2000)

Second Amendment to Employment Agreement between Amedisys, Inc. and Larry Graham
(previously filed as Exhibit 10.9.3 to the Registration Statement on Form S-3 filed August 18, 2004)

Employment Agreement between Amedisys Inc. and Gregory H. Browne (previously filed as
Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2002)

Amendment to Employment Agreement between Amedisys Inc. and Gregory H. Browne (previously
filed as Exhibit 10.10.2 to the Registration Statement on Form S-3 filed August 18, 2004)

Supplemental Employment Agreement between Amedisys, Inc. and Gregory H. Browne (filed
herewith)

Agreement to Purchase Real Estate between Amedisys, Inc. and Sherwood Investment Partners, LLC
(previously filed as Exhibit 10.1.1 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended March
31, 2005)

Act of Cash Sale of Real Estate between Amedisys, Inc. and Sherwood Investment Partners, LLC
(previously filed as Exhibit 10.1.2 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended March
31, 2005)

Modification Agreement between CareSouth Home Health Services, Inc. and Amedisys, Inc.
(previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended
September 30, 2001)

Software License Agreement between CareSouth Home Health Services, Inc. and Amedisys, Inc.
(previously filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended
September 30, 2001)

List of Subsidiaries (filed herewith)
Consent of KPMG LLP (filed herewith)

Certification under Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) of William F. Borne, Chief Executive Officer (filed
herewith)



31.2 Certification under Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) of Gregory H. Browne, Chief Financial Officer (filed
herewith)

32.1 Certification under 18 U.S.C §1350 of William F. Borne, Chief Executive Officer (filed herewith)

322 Certification under Section 18 U.S.C §1350 of Gregory H. Browne, Chief Financial Officer (filed
herewith)
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ForwarD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Investors are cautioned that certain statements
contained in this document, as well as some
statements by the Company in periodic press
releases and some oral statements of Company
officials during presentations about the Company,
are “forward-looking” statements within the
meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform
Act of 1995 (the “Act”). Forward-looking
statements include statements which are predictive
in nature, which depend upon or refer to future

events or conditions, which include words such as

»ua » s

anticipates,” “intends,

»ua

»u

expects, plans,

“believes,” “estimates,” or similar expressions.

In addition, any statements concerning future
financial performance (including future revenues,
earnings, or growth rates), ongoing business
strategies or prospects, and possible future
Company actions, which may be provided by
management are also forward-looking statements
as defined by the Act. Forward-looking statements
are based on current expectations and projections
about future events and are subject to risks,
uncertainties, and assumptions about the Company,
economic and market factors, and the industry in
which the Company does business, among other
things. These statements are not guaranties of
future performance, and the Company has no

specific intention to update these statements.

Actual events and results may differ materially
from those expressed or forecasted in forward-
looking statements due to a number of factors. The
principal important risk factors that could cause
the Company’s actual performance and future
events and actions to differ materially from such
forward-looking statements, include, but are not
limited to, changes in Medicare/Medicaid payment
amounts for covered services, changes in services
covered by Medicare/Medicaid, changes in Federal
income tax laws, and changes in general economic
and market factors that affect the prices of securities
or the industry in which Amedisys

and its affiliates do business.

*Mr. Browne has announced his intention to resign
from the Company. He will remain CFO until his
successor is named.
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